UNIVERSITY OF TROMSØ UIT



FACULTY OF HEALTH SCIENCES DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL BIOLOGY

UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL OF NORTH NORWAY



DEPARTMENT OF MICROBIOLOGY AND INFECTION CONTROL REFERENCE CENTRE FOR DETECTION OF ANTIMICROBIAL RESISTANCE

Identification, molecular epidemiology, and

antibiotic resistance characterization of

Acinetobacter spp. clinical isolates



Nabil Karah

A dissertation for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor

June 2011



Acknowledgments

The work presented in this thesis has been carried out between January 2009 and September 2011 at the Reference Centre for Detection of Antimicrobial Resistance (K-res), Department of Microbiology and Infection Control, University Hospital of North Norway (UNN); and the Research Group for Host–Microbe Interactions, Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Tromsø (UIT), Tromsø, Norway.

I would like to express my deep and truthful acknowledgment to my main supervisor Ørjan Samuelsen. His understanding and encouraging supervision played a major role in the success of every experiment of my PhD project. Dear Ørjan, I am certainly very thankful for your indispensible contribution in all the four manuscripts. I am also very grateful to your comments, suggestions, and corrections on the present thesis.

I am sincerely grateful to my co-supervisor Arnfinn Sundsfjord for his important contribution not only in my MSc study and my PhD study but also in my entire career as a "Medical Microbiologist". I would also thank you Arnfinn for your nonstop support during my stay in Tromsø at a personal level.

My sincere thanks are due to co-supervisors Kristin Hegstad and Gunnar Skov Simonsen for the valuable advice, productive comments, and friendly support.

I would like to thank co-authors Christian G. Giske and Robert Smyth from Sweden and all the members of the Norwegian Study Group of *Acinetobacter* for excellent collaboration.

I wish to give my warmest thanks to all those who have helped throughout my work in the Department of Microbiology and Infection Control at UNN and Department of Medical Biology at UIT. Dear Bjørg, Bettina and Elizabeth, I will always be proud to be your spoilled friend.

I would certainly not forget to thank my dear flat mates GGG Kostas (and Kamilla), Sondre, and Anne and my high-quality ⁽ⁱ⁾ friends Paolo, Lisa, Irina, Sara, Tracy, Tom, Conny, Joe (n), and many others for making my stay in Tromsø full with joy and fun,,,,,,,, and good food.

Last but definitely not least, I owe my loving thanks to my parents (Abo Khalil and Aum Khalil, I love you so much), my brother Khalil and his wife Mirella, my brother Hani, and my dear cousin Ritta for their devoted love, intensive care, and unlimited support. I would like to use this opportunity to tell my dearest niece Jowel and nephew Abboudi that I will always love you a lot and more than I love your father.

Nabil Karah Tromsø, June 2011

Contents

List of papers	5
Abbreviations	6
1. Introduction	7
1.1. The genus Acinetobacter	7
1.2. Acinetobacter species	7
1.3. Species identification	13
1.3.1. Partial <i>rpoB</i> sequence analysis	14
1.4. Clinical significance	15
1.5. Skin, mucus membranes, and gastrointestinal tract colonization	16
1.6. Species distribution in clinical isolates	20
1.7. Antibiotic resistance	28
1.7.1. Intrinsic resistance	29
1.7.2. Resistance to ß-lactams	29
1.7.3. Resistance to aminoglycosides	36
1.7.4. Resistance to quinolones	36
1.7.5. Role of ISAba elements	37
1.8. Epidemiology of A. baumannii	40
1.8.1. Molecular strain typing methods	40
1.8.2. Epidemiological terminology	42
1.8.3. Proposed nomenclature	44
1.8.4. MLST-based global population of A. baumannii	45
1.8.4.1. International clone CC92 ^B /CC2 ^P	46
1.8.4.2. International clone CC109 ^B /CC1 ^P	46
1.8.4.3. South and North American clone CC131 ^B	47
1.8.4.4. International clone CC187 ^B /CC3 ^P	48
1.8.4.5. International clone CC104 ^B /CC15 ^P	48
1.8.4.6. Other clones	49
1.8.4.7. Non-clonal STs and CCs	50
2. Aims of the study	53

3. Material	54
4. Main results	55
5. Discussion	57
5.1. Species distribution in blood culture isolates from Norway	57
5.2. Predominance of CC92 ^B /CC2 ^P /international clone II	59
5.3. Class 1 integrons in A. baumannii	62
5.4. MALDI-TOF MS for precise Acinetobacter species identification	66
6. Concluding remarks	68
7. References	69
Supplementary material	83

List of papers

Paper I

Karah, N., B. Haldorsen, K. Hegstad, G. S. Simonsen, A. Sundsfjord, Ø. Samuelsen, and the Norwegian Study Group on *Acinetobacter*. 2011. Species identification and molecular characterization of *Acinetobacter* spp. blood culture isolates from Norway. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. **66**:738-744.

Paper II

Karah, N., B. Haldorsen, N. O. Hermansen, Y. Tveten, E. Ragnhildstveit, D. H. Skutlaberg, S. Tofteland, A. Sundsfjord, and Ø. Samuelsen. 2011. Emergence of OXA carbapenemase- and 16S rRNA methylase-producing international clones of *Acinetobacter baumannii* in Norway. J. Med. Microbiol. **60**:515-521.

Paper III

Karah, N., C. G. Giske, A. Sundsfjord, and Ø. Samuelsen. 2011. A diversity of OXAcarbapenemases and class 1 integrons among carbapenem-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii* clinical isolates from Sweden belonging to different international clonal lineages. Submitted to Microbial Drug Resistance.

Paper IV

Karah, N., R. Smyth, B. Haldorsen, G. S. Simonsen, A. Sundsfjord, and Ø. Samuelsen. 2011. Performance of VITEK 2, BD Phoenix, and MALDI-TOF MS systems for species identification of *Acinetobacter* blood culture isolates. Manuscript ready for submission.

Abbreviations

G	Guanine
С	Cytosine
BJ	Bouvet and Jeanjean
TU	Tjernberg and Ursing
spp.	Species (plural)
16S rDNA	16S ribosomal DNA
16S-23S rDNA	16S-23S ribosomal DNA (intergenic spacer region)
Вр	Base pair
MDR	Multidrug-resistance/multidrug-resistant
Trp	Tryptophan
Lys	Lysine
Gly	Glycine
Val	Valine
Cys	Cysteine
Ser	Serine
Leu	Leucine
Ala	Alanine
Pro	Proline
Glu	Glutamic Acid
Phe	Phenylalanine

1. Introduction

1.1. The genus Acinetobacter

The Subcommittee on the "Taxonomy of *Moraxella* and Allied Bacteria" reached an agreement on the definition of the genus *Acinetobacter* in 1971 [1]. The genus *Acinetobacter* was initially classified in the family *Neisseriaceae* [1]. However, it has soon after been re-sorted into the family *Moraxellaceae* and the following taxonomic lineage: Cellular organisms; Bacteria; Proteobacteria; Gamma-proteobacteria; *Pseudomonadales; Moraxellaceae; Acinetobacter* (www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Taxonomy) [1, 2]. The genus *Acinetobacter* can presently be defined as Gram-negative, strictly aerobic, non-fermenting, non-fastidious, non-motile, catalase-positive, and oxidase-negative coccobacillary bacteria with a DNA G and C content of 39% to 47% [1, 2]. Nonetheless, Gram staining of *Acinetobacter* can be variable and the morphologic characteristics may change depending on the growth phase [1].

1.2. Acinetobacter species

At least 33 species within the *Acinetobacter* genus have so far been identified, including 24 named species and 9 currently described as genomic species (gen. sp.) given that no phenotypic properties have been found to differentiate them from other species (Table 1) [3-21]. Several significant steps in the history of identifying novel *Acinetobacter* species have been achieved [3-21]. In 1986, twelve *Acinetobacter* genomic species within the *Acinetobacter* genus were identified by DNA-DNA hybridization [3]. Six of these DNA groups could be differentiated by phenotypic properties and were given the following formal species names: *A. calcoaceticus* (*Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 1), *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 4), *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 2), *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 5), *Acinetobacter* johnsonii (*Acinetobacter junii* (*Acinetobacter lwoffii* (*Acinetobacter gen.* sp. 8). The

study reported an uncertain genotypic and phenotypic differentiation of *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 9 from *A. lwoffii*.

In 1988, one novel species was identified by DNA-DNA hybridization [4]. The new species was phenotypically distinguished from other *Acinetobacter* species and was named *Acinetobacter radioresistens*. Five novel genomic species (*Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 13BJ, *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 14BJ, *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 15 BJ, *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 16, and *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 17) were subsequently identified by DNA-DNA hybridization [5]. Biochemically, the novel DNA groups could not be separated unambiguously and therefore were not named. Simultaneously, three novel genomic species (*Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 13TU, *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 14TU, and *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 15TU) were identified by DNA-DNA hybridization [6]. The study also reclassified *A. radioresistens* and *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 12 as one species.

In 1991, *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 13BJ and *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 14TU were found to represent one species [7]. The study also showed that strains belonging to *A. calcoaceticus*, *A. baumannii*, *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 3 and *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 13TU were so similar phenotypically that it was impossible to identify them to the species level by the use of biochemical tests. This similarity was in accordance with the observations that these four groups were genotypically more closely related to each other than to other DNA groups [6]. Accordingly, these four species were suggested to be grouped as the *A. calcoaceticus-A. baumannii* complex [7]. Then in 1993, two novel genomic species (*Acinetobacter* gen. sp. "between 1 and 3" and *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. "close to 13TU") were identified [8]. The two new species were included within the *A. calcoaceticus-A. baumannii* complex [9, 10]. *A. venetianus* has recently been re-described and the name has accordingly been vaidated [11].

In 2001 and 2003, Nemec *et al.* identified three novel species (*Acinetobacter schindleri*, *Acinetobacter ursingii*, and *Acinetobacter parvus*) [12, 13]. Concurrently, seven novel species were identified (*Acinetobacter baylyi*, *Acinetobacter bouvetii*, *Acinetobacter*)

towneri, Acinetobacter tandoii, Acinetobacter grimontii, Acinetobacter tjernbergiae, and Acinetobacter gerneri) [14]. However, A. grimontii was later re-classified within the A. *junii* species [15]. One novel species was identified and named as Acinetobacter septicus in 2008 although it was soon after re-classified within the A. ursingii species [16, 17].

Three novel species (*Acinetobacter soli*, *Acinetobacter beijerinckii*, and *Acinetobacter gyllenbergii*) were also identified in 2008 and 2009 by two different research groups [18, 19]. Furthermore, *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 10, *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 11, *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 3, and *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. 13TU have recently been named *Acinetobacter berezinae*, *Acinetobacter guillouiae*, *Acinetobacter pittii*, and *Acinetobacter nosocomialis*, respectively, given that they can phenotypically be differentiated from other species within the genus *Acinetobacter* [20, 21].

Acinetobacter species ^a	Type and reference strain ^b	<i>rpoB</i> GenBank accession no. ^c	References
Acinetobacter calcoaceticus	$B46^{T} = CIP 81.8^{T} = ATCC 23055^{T} = DSM 30006^{T} = LMG$	DO207474 = EF611388	[3, 16, 19, 20, 22]
(Acinetobacter gen. sp. 1)	1046^{T} = CCUG 12804 ^T = NCCB 22016 ^T = NIPH 2245 ^T =	= EU477149	
	RUH 2201 ^T		
Acinetobacter baumannii (Acinetobacter	CIP 70.34^{T} = ATCC 19606^{T} = DSM 30007^{T} = LMG 1041^{T}	DQ207471 = EF611384	[3, 16, 19, 20, 22]
gen. sp. 2)	= CCUG 19096 ^T $=$ NCCB 85021 ^T $=$ NIPH 501 ^T $=$ RUH	= EU477108	
	3023 ^T		
Acinetobacter pittii (Acinetobacter gen.	CIP 70.29 = ATCC 19004 = LMG 1035 = NIPH 519 = RUH	EU477114	[3, 19-21]
sp. 3)	2206		
Acinetobacter haemolyticus	$B40^{T} = CIP \ 64.3^{T} = ATCC \ 17906^{T} = DSM \ 6962^{T} = LMG$	DQ207484 = EU477109	[3, 16, 19, 20, 22]
(Acinetobacter gen. sp. 4)	$996^{T} = CCUG 888^{T} = NCCB 85026^{T} = NIPH 510^{T} = LUH$	= EF611391	
	$9705^{\rm T} = \rm CCM \ 2358^{\rm T}$		
Acinetobacter junii (Acinetobacter gen.	$B10^{T} = CIP \ 64.5^{T} = ATCC \ 17908^{T} = DSM \ 6964^{T} = LMG$	DQ207486 = EU477110	[3, 14-16, 19, 20, 22]
sp. 5 and Acinetobacter grimontii)	$998^{T} = CCUG \ 889^{T} = RUH \ 2228^{T} = NIPH \ 551^{T} = CCM$	$= EF611394^{d}$	
	2376 ^T		
Acinetobacter gen. sp. 6	CIP A165 = ATCC 17979 = LMG 1026 = CCUG 26492 =	DQ207480 = EU477115	[3, 19, 20, 22]
	NIPH $520 = RUH 2867$		
Acinetobacter johnsonii (Acinetobacter	$B8^{1} = CIP \ 64.6^{1} = ATCC \ 17909^{1} = DSM \ 6963^{1} = LMG$	DQ207485 = EU477113	[3, 19, 20, 22]
gen. sp. 7)	$999^{1} = CCUG \ 19095^{1} = NIPH \ 518^{1} = RUH \ 2231^{1}$		
Acinetobacter lwoffii (Acinetobacter gen.	CIP 64.10 ¹ = ATCC 15309 ¹ = DSM 2403 ¹ = LMG 1029 ¹ =	EU477111 = EF611395	[3, 16, 19, 20]
sp. 8 and Acinetobacter gen. sp. 9)	CCUG $12805^{1} = NCCB 83025^{1} = NIPH 512^{1} = CCM 5581^{1}$	= DQ060363 ^e	
	$= \text{RUH } 2219^{1}$		
Acinetobacter berezinae (Acinetobacter	$CIP \ 70.12^{1} = ATCC \ 17924^{1} = LMG \ 1003^{1} = CCUG \ 26493^{1}$	DQ207475 = EU477116	[3, 19, 20, 22]
gen. sp. 10)	= NCCB 82031 ¹ = NIPH 521 ¹ = RUH 2224 ¹		
Acinetobacter guillouiae (Acinetobacter	$B94^{T} = CIP \ 63.46^{T} = ATCC \ 11171^{T} = DSM \ 590^{T} = LMG$	DQ207476 = EU477117	[3, 19, 20, 22]
gen. sp. 11)	$988^{\circ} = CCUG 2491^{\circ} = NCIB 8250^{\circ} = NIPH 522^{\circ}$		
Acinetobacter radioresistens	$FQ-1^{T} = IAM \ 13186^{T} = CIP \ 103788^{T} = ATCC \ 43998^{T} =$	DQ207489 = EU477112	[3, 4, 6, 16, 19, 20,
(Acinetobacter gen. sp. 12)	$DSM 6976^{\circ} = LMG 10613^{\circ} = CCUG 56440^{\circ} = NIPH 513^{\circ}$	= EF611400	22]
	$= RUH 2865^{\circ} = CCM 3588^{\circ}$		[2 5 (10 00]
Acinetobacter gen. sp. 13BJ	CIP 64.2 = ATCC $T/905 = LMG 995 = CCUG 887 = NIPH$	DQ20'/4'/8 = EU4'/7149	[3, 5, 6, 19, 20]
(Acinetobacter gen. sp. 141U)	1860 = RUH 2218 = LUH 9/04	TH 1771 17	[6 10 00]
Acinetobacter gen. sp. 14BJ	Bouvet $513 = CCUG 14816 = NIPH 2112 = LUH 1726$	EU4//14/	[5, 19, 20]
Acinetobacter gen. sp. 15BJ	SEIP $23.78 = CCUG 26494 = NIPH 1866 = LUH 1729$	EU47/133	[5, 19, 20]

Table 1. Type and reference strains for currently identified Acinetobacter spp. and their corresponding rpoB GenBank accession numbers

A cinetobacter species ^a	Type and reference strain ^b	rpoB GenBank	References
Activitiobucier species	Type and reference strain	accession no. ^c	References
Acinetobacter gen. sp. 16	CIP 70.18 = ATCC 17988 = LMG 1031 = CCUG 996 =	DQ207477 = EU477135	[5, 19, 20, 22]
	NIPH 1872		
Acinetobacter gen. sp. 17	Bouvet 942 = SEIP Ac87.314 = CCUG 34437 = NIPH 1867	EU477134	[5, 19, 20]
	= LUH 1736		
Acinetobacter nosocomialis	CIP $70.11 = \text{ATCC} \ 17903 = \text{DSM} \ 30010 = \text{LMG} \ 993 =$	EU477118	[6, 19-21]
(Acinetobacter gen. sp. 13TU)	CCUG 26488 = NIPH 523 = RUH 2210		
Acinetobacter gen. sp. 15TU	M 151a = CCUG 26390 = NIPH 546 = LUH 1090	EU477119	[1, 6, 19, 20]
Acinetobacter gen. sp. 'between 1 and 3'	Gerner-Smidt 10095 = CCUG 34786 =NIPH 817 = LUH	EU477122	[8, 19, 20]
			FO 10 001
Acinetobacter gen. sp. 'close to 13TU'	Gerner-Smidt 10090 = CCUG $34/85$ =NIPH $9/3$ = LUH	EU47/126	[8, 19, 20]
	14/2 PAC 1 ^T - ATCC 21012 ^T - LMC 10082 ^T - COUC 455(1 ^T -	EI1477126	[10, 10, 20]
Acinetodacier venetianus	RAG-1 = ATCC 31012 = LMG 19082 = CCUG 45501 =	EU4//130	[10, 19, 20]
A sin atabaatan unsingii (Asin atabaatan	NIPH 1925 – LUH 5904 CID 107286 ^T – ATCC DAA 617 ^T – DSM 16027 ^T – LMC	DO221220 = EE611406	[12 16 17 10 20
Acineiobacier ursingii (Acineiobacier	CIP 10/280 - ATCC BAA-01/ - DSM 1005/ - LMG 10575T - NICCP 100021T - CCUC 45550T - NIDH 127T -	DQ231239 - EF011400 - EU477105	$\begin{bmatrix} 12, & 10, & 17, & 19, & 20, \\ 221 \end{bmatrix}$
septicus)	$19575 - \text{NCCB} 100021 - \text{CCUC} 45559 - \text{NIPH} 157 - 1111 2702^{\text{T}}$	- E04//103	22]
A singtohastar schindlari	CIP $107287^{T} = ATCC BAA 618^{T} = DSM 16038^{T} = IMG$	DO207490 = EU477128	[12 16 10 20 22]
Activetobacter schimateri	$19576^{T} = NICCB \ 100022^{T} = CCUG \ 45560^{T} = NIPH \ 1034^{T} =$	= EE611402	[12, 10, 19, 20, 22]
	LUH 5832 ^T	LI 011402	
Acinetobacter parvus	CIP 108168T =DSM 16617T = LMG $21765T$ = CCUG	DO207488 = EU477107	[13 16 19 20 22]
	48800T = NIPH 384T = LUH 4616T	= EF611399	[10, 10, 19, 20, 22]
Acinetobacter baylvif	NIPH $2312 = ADP1$	EU477155 = CR543861	[19 20 23]
Acinetobacter bouvetii	$4B02^{T} = CIP \ 107468^{T} = DSM \ 14964^{T} = CCUG \ 50766^{T} =$	DO207473 = EU477150	[14, 16, 19, 20, 22]
	NIPH $2281^{T} = CCM 7196^{T}$	= EF611387	
Acinetobacter towneri	$AB1110^{T} = CIP 107472^{T} = DSM 14962^{T} = CCUG 50769^{T} =$	DQ207493 = EU477154	[14, 16, 19, 20, 22]
	NIPH $2286^{T} = CCM 7201^{T}$	= EF611405	
Acinetobacter tandoii	$4N13^{T} = CIP \ 107469^{T} = DSM \ 14970^{T} = CCUG \ 56317^{T} =$	DQ207491 = EU477152	[14, 16, 19, 20, 22]
	NIPH $2284^{T} = CCM 7199^{T}$	= EF611403	
Acinetobacter tjernbergiae	$7N16^{T} = CIP \ 107465^{T} = DSM \ 14971^{T} = CCUG \ 50768^{T} =$	DQ207492 = EU477153	[14, 16, 19, 20, 22]
v .	NIPH $2285^{T} = CCM 7200^{T}$	= EF611404	
Acinetobacter gerneri	$9A01^{T} = CIP \ 107464^{T} = DSM \ 14967^{T} = CCUG \ 56316^{T} =$	DQ207482 = EU477151	[14, 16, 19, 20, 22]
-	NIPH $2282^{T} = CCM 7197^{T}$	= EF611389	-
Acinetobacter soli	$B1^{T} = CCUG 59023^{T} = KCTC 22184^{T} = JCM 15062^{T}$	Not determined	[18]

Table 1. Type and reference strains for currently identified *Acinetobacter* spp. and their corresponding *rpoB* GenBank accession numbers (cont.)

Acinetobacter species ^a	Type and reference strain ^b	<i>rpoB</i> GenBank accession no. ^c	References
Acinetobacter beijerinckii	CCUG 51249^{T} = NIPH 838^{T} = LUH 4759^{T}	EU477124	[19, 20]
Acinetobacter gyllenbergii	$CCUG 51248^{T} = NIPH 2150^{T} = RUH 422^{T}$	EU477148	[19, 20]

Table 1. Type and reference strains for currently identified Acinetobacter spp. and their corresponding rpoB GenBank accession numbers (cont.)

^agen. sp., genomic species; commonly accepted names are presented in bald; other putative names are presented in parenthesis.

^bCIP, Collection de l'Institut Pasteur (France); ATCC, American Type Culture Collection (the United States of America); DSM, Deutsche Sammlung von Mikroorganismen (Germany); LMG, Laboratorium voor Microbiologie Gent (Belgium); CCUG, Culture Collection, University of Gothenburg (Sweden); NCCB, The Netherlands Culture Collection of Bacteria (The Netherlands); NIPH, National Institute of Public Health (Czech Republic); LUH and RUH, collection of Leiden University Medical Center (The Netherlands); CCM, Czech Collection of Microorganisms (Czech Republic); IAM, collection of Institute of Applied Microbiology, University of Tokyo (Japan); SEIP, collection of Service des Enterobacteries de l'Institut Pasteur (France); KCTC, Korean Collection for Type Cultures (Korea); JCM, Japan Collection of Microorganisms (Japan); ^T, type strain.

^cNucleotide similarity was compared only for zone 1 (between positions 2916 and 3267) of the *rpoB* gene.

^dIncorrectly deposited under the name A. johnsonii DSM 6964 (GenBank accession no. EF611394).

^eDifferent from DQ207487 of A. lwoffii CIP 64.10^{T} .

^f*rpoB of A. baylyi* type strain $B2^{T} = CIP \ 107474^{T} = DSM \ 14961^{T} = LMG \ 24678^{T} = CCUG \ 50765^{T}$; GenBank accession nos. DQ207472 and EF611386 were found to carry sequences that may have resulted from intragenic recombination events [23].

1.3. Species identification

Identification of *Acinetobacter* isolates to the species level has been problematic [24]. Phenotypic schemes are generally insufficient [1, 7, 24]. Furthermore, phenotypic identification by commercial colorimetric systems has been associated with poor accuracy [24, 25]. For instance, one study conducted in 2009 reported an incorrect speciation of 75% of the isolates using the VITEK 2 GNI identification system [25]. On the other hand, molecular identification of *Acinetobacter* species by DNA-DNA hybridisation most likely represents the reference standard method for precise identification [1, 3]. However, this method is not appropriate for practical work in routine clinical laboratories since it is time-consuming, labour-intensive, and not widely available [1].

Other genotypic methods have, therefore, been proposed for fast and yet accurate identification of *Acinetobacter* species either by whole-genome fingerprinting or by restriction enzyme or sequence analysis of a particular gene/genetic region (Table 2) [24]. Alternatively, protein fingerprinting using a matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time-of-flight (MALDI-TOF) mass spectrometer has been found to represent a promising molecular method for rapid identification of *Acinetobacter* species with high-throughput capability [26]. The study showed that the MALDI-TOF Mass Spectrometry system was able to separate a total of 552 well-characterized *Acinetobacter* strains into distinct clusters representing 15 different species [26].

Detection of the $bla_{OXA-51-like}$ gene intrinsic to *A. baumannii* and detection of an internal 208-bp fragment from the *16S-23S rDNA* intergenic spacer region specific of *A. baumannii* represent two PCR-based molecular methods recommended for rapid sorting of *A. baumannii* isolates [27, 28]. Similarly, detection of the $bla_{OXA-134-like}$ gene intrinsic to *A. lwoffii* could be a putative method for rapid sorting of isolates belonging to this particular species [29].

- 4	Mathad	Defenses
	Method	Reference
1.	Whole-genome DNA-DNA hybridisation	[3]
2.	Whole-genome fingerprinting	
	Amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP)	[30]
3.	Restriction enzyme analysis of a particular gene/genetic region	
	16S rDNA (ARDRA) ^a	[31]
	16S-23S rDNA intergenic spacer region	[32]
	recA	[33]
4.	Sequence analysis of a particular gene/genetic region	
	16S rDNA	[34]
	16S-23S rDNA intergenic spacer region	[35]
	gyrB	[36]
	recA	[37]
	rpoB	[22]
5.	Analysis of amplicon base composition of several genes (loci)	
	Multilocus PCR followed by electrospray ionization mass spectrometry	[38]
	(PCR/ESI-MS)	
6.	Sequence analysis of several genes (loci)	
	Multilocus sequence typing (MLST)	[39]
7.	Whole-protein fingerprinting	_
	Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time-of-flight (MALDI-TOF)	[26]
	mass spectrometry	
а.		

Table 2. Molecular methods for Acinetobacter species identification

^aAmplified ribosomal DNA restriction analysis

1.3.1. Partial *rpoB* sequence analysis

The degree of polymorphism of housekeeping protein-encoding genes, such as the *recA*, *gyrB*, and *rpoB* genes, has been found higher than that of the non-protein-encoding *16S rDNA* gene [22]. Accordingly, sequence analysis of these genes provides a method with a better level of resolution for the identification and taxonomic classification of various bacterial species. Sequence analysis of four zones of the RNA polymerase β -subunit (*rpoB*) gene and its flanking spacers has been proposed as a useful molecular method for identification of *Acinetobacter* species (Figure 1) [22].

Sequence analysis of the highly discriminative zone 1, spanning 352 bp between positions 2901 and 3250 on the *rpoB* gene, has in particular been found to represent a reliable and rapid identification method for *Acinetobacter* species [22]. The method, named partial *rpoB* gene sequence analysis, has later on been validated on both a collection of *Acinetobacter* reference strains and a collection of *Acinetobacter* clinical

isolates [40]. All the clinical isolates were separated into distinct *Acinetobacter* species with sequence similarities of \geq 97.4% with their respective type strains [40]. Recent studies on the delineation of novel *Acinetobacter* species have exploited the sequence analysis of a slightly modified *rpoB* zone 1, spanning 352 bp between positions 2916 and 3267 [19, 20].



Figure 1. Graphical representation of range site variability in rpoB gene and spacer sequences of *Acinetobacter* species in the present study using SVARAP software. The x axis indicates the positions of nucleotides, and the y axis indicates the percent variabilities for 50 nucleotides. Primers that amplified spacers *rplL-rpoB* and *rpoB-rpoC* and hypervariable partial sequences of *rpoB* bordered by conserved regions are shown (reproduced from reference [22] with permission from American Society for Microbiology).

1.4. Clinical significance

Although cases of community-acquired infections caused by *Acinetobacter* spp. have been reported, the primary pathogenic role of these bacteria is undoubtedly to cause hospital-acquired infections, mainly among patients at intensive care units (ICU) [1]. *Acinetobacter* spp. have been implicated in ventilator-associated pneumonia, catheterrelated blood stream infections, urinary tract infections, cerebrospinal-shunt-related meningitis, and wound infections [1]. The risk factors that predispose individuals to get infected with *Acinetobacter* spp. include: (i) patients with major trauma, particularly burns, and patients after major surgeries, (ii) previous antimicrobial therapy, (iii) prolonged hospital and ICU stay, and (iv) utilization of mechanical ventilators, drainage tubes, and indwelling catheters [24]. Of important note, the human skin and respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts represent important and common sites of colonization by *Acinetobacter* spp. [41]. Accordingly, careful clinical judgment is required to differentiate between infection and colonization cases [42].

1.5. Skin, mucus membranes, and gastrointestinal tract colonization

Acinetobacter species are apparently the only group of Gram-negative bacteria that may be natural residents of human skin [43]. The human skin can thus be a natural reservoir and a probable source of infections of various Acinetobacter species [43, 44]. A study from Germany reported high carriage rates of Acinetobacter spp. on human skin and mucus membranes among inpatients (~75%) and control non-hospitalized persons (~43%) (Table 3) [43]. The most frequently isolated species in that study were A. lwoffii (47%) and A. johnsonii (21%). Unpredictably, the clinically important A. baumannii and A. nosocomialis species (0.5% and 1%, respectively) were not found to be common human skin colonizers [43].

Another study from Europe similarly reported high carriage rates of *Acinetobacter* spp. on human skin of healthy humans (~44%) along with the predominance of *A. lwoffii* (Table 3) [44]. On the other hand, a study conducted in Hong Kong showed that the skin and mucus membranes carriage rates of *A. pittii* (32%), *A. nosocomialis* (14%), and *A. baumanni* (4%) in different groups of patients and healthy subjects were noticeably higher than those reported from Europe (Table 3) [45]. Interestingly, *A. baumannii* isolates recovered from the hands of individuals in the community were distinct from those recovered from patients in two hospitals in New York, the United States of America (USA), indicating that hospitals rather than the community represent a reservoir for nosocomially pathogenic *A. baumannii* [46].

A study conducted in 2005 investigated the carriage rate of *Acinetobacter* spp. in faecal specimens from non-hospitalized individuals from The Netherlands (Table 3) [47]. The study reported a carriage rate of ~25% (31/126 specimens). The predominant species was *A. johnsonii* (17.5%), followed by *A. guillouiae* (4%) whereas only one sample (0.8%) yielded an *A. baumannii* isolate. Accordingly, the human intestine was found not to constitute an important community reservoir of the clinically important *A. baumannii* species [47]. The colonization rate of multidrug resistant *A. baumannii* in faecal samples from hospitalized patients in an intensive care unit in Spain was 41% compared with only $\leq 1\%$ in faecal samples from non-hospitalized individuals from the United Kingdom (UK) and The Netherlands [47, 48]. The Spanish study suggested that the multidrug resistant *A. baumannii* fecal colonization was mainly acquired during ICU hospitalizations [48]. Interestingly, a recent study showed that 6 of 7 patients with *A. baumannii* bloodstream infections were colonized in the gastrointestinal tract with genetically similar strains preceding their bacteremia [49].

Description of the <i>Acinetobacter</i> spp. collection	Distribution of Acinetobacter spp.	Method of identification ^a	Comments	Reference
138 Acinetobacter skin and mucous membrane culture isolates obtained between 1993 and 1994 from 30 patients (107 isolates) and 17 healthy controls	A. lwoffii (n=61) A. johnsonii (n=27) A. radioresistens (n=19) A. pittii (n=12) A. junii (n=8)	ARDRA	The <i>Acinetobacter</i> skin and mucous membrane carriage rates were 75% (30/40) among inpatients and 43% (17/40) among control non-hospitalized persons.	[43]
(31 isolates) in Germany.	A. nosocomialis (n=2) A. baumannii (n=1) A. berezinae (n=1) Acinetobacter gen. sp. 15TU (n=1) Unclassified (n=6)		Twenty patients and 6 controls were colonized with two or more different <i>Acinetobacter</i> species at different body sites.	
			One patient was colonized by 5 different <i>Acinetobacter</i> species at different body sites. In addition, 12 patients and 2 controls were colonized with two or more different <i>Acinetobacter</i> species at a same given body site.	
112 Acinetobacter skin culture isolates obtained from 85 healthy volunteers from the United	A. lwoffii (n=68) Acinetobacter gen.sp. 15BJ (n=14) A. radioresistens (n=9)	ARDRA	The <i>Acinetobacter</i> skin carriage rate was ~44% (85/192) in healthy humans.	[44]
Kingdom.	A. pittii (n=4) A. haemolyticus/A. johnsonii (n=2) A. junii/Acinetobacter gen. sp. 17 (n=1) A. baumannii (n=1)		17 volunteers were colonised with two different <i>Acinetobacter</i> species $(n=8)$ or with two different strains of one <i>Acinetobacter</i> species $(n=9)$.	
	Unclassified (n=4)		Only 2 volunteers were colonised with the same <i>Acinetobacter</i> strain indicating a very low rate of cross-transmission between healthy subjects working in the same environment.	

Table 3. Distribution of Acinetobacter species on the human skin, mucus membranes, and gastrointestinal tract

Description of the <i>Acinetobacter</i> spp. collection	Distribution of Acinetobacter spp.	Method of identification ^a	Comments	Reference
349 Acinetobacter skin and mucous	A. pittii (n=100)	ARDRA	The Acinetobacter skin and mucous	[45]
membrane culture isolates obtained	A. nosocomialis (n=60)		membrane carriage rates were 62% (49/79)	
between January 1997 and March	A. baumannii (n=39)		among inpatients, 30% (62/210) among	
1998 from 49 patients, 62 nurses,	Acinetobacter gen. sp. 17 (n=23)		nurses (healthy hospital subjects), and 47%	
and 90 new nurses and medical	A. johnsonii (n=10)		(90/192) among new nurses and medical	
students from Hong Kong.	A. radioresistens (n=10)		students (healthy subjects from the	
	A. lwoffii (n=7)		community).	
	Acinetobacter gen. sp. 15TU (n=8)			
	Acinetobacter gen. sp. 15BJ (n=8)		50% of the subjects who were positive at	
	A. calcoaceticus (n=6)		more than one site had different	
	<i>A. berezinae</i> (<i>n</i> =3)		Acinetobacter species.	
	Acinetobacter gen. sp. 16 (n=2)			
	A. junii (n=1)		68% of the subjects who were positive at	
	A. guillouiae (n=2)		more than one site with the same	
	Acinetobacter gen. sp. 13BJ (n=1)		Acinetobacter species showed that the	
	Acinetobacter gen. sp. 14BJ (n=1)		isolates belonged to different strains.	
	Unclassified (<i>n</i> =67)			
35 Acinetobacter isolates obtained	A. johnsonii (n=22)	ARDRA	The Acinetobacter carriage rate in faecal	[47]
from faecal samples of non-	<i>A. guillouiae (n=5)</i>		samples of non-hospitalized humans was	
hospitalized humans from The	A. junii (n=2)		~24.6% (31/126).	
Netherlands.	A. ursingii (n=2)			
	A. baumannii (n=1)			
	A. pittii (n=1)			
	A. lwoffii (n=1)			
2	<i>A. berezinae</i> (<i>n</i> =1)			

Table 3. Distribution of Acinetobacter species on the human skin, mucus membranes, and gastrointestinal tract (cont.)

^aARDRA, amplified 16S rDNA restriction analysis.

1.6. Species distribution in clinical isolates

In one of the first studies on the distribution of *Acinetobacter* species among human clinical isolates, *A. pittii* was predominant among *Acinetobacter* clinical isolates from Sweden [6]. Later on, species identification of 23 clinical isolates of the *A. calcoaceticus- A. baumannii* complex from Denmark showed somewhat equivalent distribution between *A. pittii* (8 isolates), *A. nosocomialis* (6 isolates), and *A. baumannii* (5 isolates) [8]. A study from Germany reported *A. baumannii* as the clinically predominant *Acinetobacter* species [50]. However, it is important to mention that identification of the strains at the species level in that study was done phenotypically.

Similarly, the majority of *Acinetobacter* isolates from patients in Belgium and The Netherlands were also found to belong to the *A. baumannii* species [42, 51]. Later on, many studies on the distribution of *Acinetobacter* species in clinical isolates have demonstrated the predominance of *A. baumannii* (Table 4) [40, 52-57]. However, studies from The Netherlands, Hong Kong, and Ireland have reported *A. pittii* as the most commonly detected species while studies from Korea and UK have shown high rates of occurrence of *A. nosocomialis* and *A. lwoffii*, respectively (Table 4) [25, 45, 58-60]. On the other hand, nosocomial infections caused by other *Acinetobacter* species, such as *A. johnsonii*, *A. junii*, *A. parvus*, *A. radioresistens*, *A. schindleri* and *A. ursingii* etc, have generally been less common and mainly represented as individual case reports. Clinial isolates from species other than the *A. calcoaceticus-A. baumannii* complex were mostly obtained in blood cultures and involved in catheter-related bloodstream infections and/or endocarditis [59, 61]. A review of the majority of the studies investigating the species distribution of *Acinetobacter* spp. in clinical isolates is presented in Table 4.

Acinetobacter spp. collection	Distribution of Acinetobacter spp.	Method of identification ^b	Comments	Reference
85 Acinetobacter isolates obtained	A. baumannii (n=21)	DNA-DNA	A. calcoaceticus isolates were all	[3]
from different sources.	A. johnsonii (n=12)	hybridization	obtained from soil samples. It was not	
	A. haemolyticus (n=10)		possible to undoubtedly separate A.	
	A. lwoffii (n =9)		lwoffii and Acinetobacter gen. sp. 9 into	
	A. pittii (n=4)		two species. Three of the unclassified	
	A. junii (n=4)		isolates were described as "close to	
	<i>A. berezinae</i> (<i>n</i> =4)		genospecies 1 to 3".	
	A. calcoaceticus (n=3)			
	<i>A. guillouiae (n=3)</i>			
	Acinetobacter gen. sp. 6 (n=2)			
	A. radioresistens $(n=2)$			
	Unclassified (<i>n</i> =11)			
181 Acinetobacter isolates obtained	A. baumannii (n=100)	Phenotypic scheme	A. calcoaceticus isolates were all	[3]
from different sources.	A. $lwoffii$ (n =25)		obtained from soil samples. A.	
	A. haemolyticus (n=13)		calcoaceticus, A. baumannii, and A. pittii	
	A. junii (n=13)		were phenotypically close to each other	
	A. pittii $(n=11)$		and far separated from all other species.	
	A. johnsonii (n=11)		A. baumannii and A. pittii were	
	A. calcoaceticus (n=5)		differentiated from each other only by	
	Acinetobacter gen. sp. 6 $(n=1)$		growth at 44°C. Phenotypic tests were	
	A. guillouiae (n=1)		not able to differentiate Acinetobacter	
	A. radioresistens $(n = 1)$		gen. sp. 9 from A. lwoffu.	[6]
2/ proteolytic <i>Acinetobacter</i> clinical	Acinetobacter gen. sp. 13BJ (n=9)	DNA-DNA	The five novel species (Acinetobacter	[5]
isolates differing phenotypically	Acinetobacter gen. sp. 16 $(n=4)$	nybridization	gen. sp. 13BJ, Acinetobacter gen. sp.	
from the 12 previously described	Acinetobacter gen. sp. 14BJ $(n=3)$		14BJ, Acinetobacter gen. sp. 15BJ,	
Acinetobacter species.	Acinetobacter gen. sp. 15BJ $(n=2)$		Acinetobacter gen. sp. 16, and	
	Acinetobacter gen. sp. $1 / (n=2)$		Acinetobacter gen. sp. 1/) could not be	
	Unclassified $(n=/)$		separated unambiguously by biochemical	
			tests from other species.	

Table 4. Distribution of Acinetobacter species in human clinical isolates^a

Acinetobacter spp. collection	Distribution of Acinetobacter spp.	Method of identification ^b	Comments	Reference
23 clinical isolates phenotypically identified to the <i>A. calcoaceticus-A. baumannii</i> complex obtained from Denmark.	A. pittii (n=8) A. nosocomialis (n=6) A. baumannii (n=5) Acinetobacter gen. sp. "close to 13TU" (n=2) Acinetobacter gen. sp. "between 1 and 3" (n=2)	DNA-DNA hybridization	-	[8]
420 <i>Acinetobacter</i> clinical isolates obtained from 12 hospitals in Germany.	A. baumannii $(n=275)$ A. pittii $(n=50)$ A. johnsonii $(n=26)$ A. jwoffii $(n=21)$ A. junii $(n=11)$ A. haemolyticus $(n=8)$ A. berezinae $(n=7)$ A. guillouiae $(n=4)$ A. radioresistens $(n=2)$ Acinetobacter gen. sp. 6 $(n=1)$ Unclassified $(n=15)$	Phenotypic scheme of Bouvet and Grimont	Acinetobacter spp. were the second most common Gram-negative bacteria isolated from blood cultures accounting for 8.12% of all positive blood cultures, after <i>E. coli</i> (8.53%) and outnumbering <i>Pseudomonas</i> spp. (7.59%).	[50]
237 Acinetobacter clinical isolates obtained during 1990-1991 from different sources from patients hospitalized at one hospital in Belgium.	A. baumannii (n=128) A. lwoffii (n=18) A. haemolyticus (n=14) A. pittii (n=7) A. johnsonii (n=6) A. calcoaceticus (n=3) Acinetobacter gen. sp. 6 (n=2) A. junii (n=1) Unclassified (n=58)	Phenotypic scheme adapted from the scheme described by Bouvet and Grimont	Acinetobacter spp. accounted for $\leq 1\%$ of positive cultures obtained from skin, respiratory tracts, and urinary tracts.	[51]
58 <i>Acinetobacter</i> clinical isolates collected during 1984 and 1985 from 43 patients in four intensive care units and six patients in other wards of a tertiary care hospital in The Netherlands.	A. baumannii (n=49) A. pittii (n=8) A. calcoaceticus (n=1)	SDS-PAGE	-	[42]

Table 4. Distribution of *Acinetobacter* species in human clinical isolates^a (cont.)

Acinetobacter spp. collection	Distribution of <i>Acinetobacter</i> spp.	Method of identification ^b	Comments	Reference
52 blood culture isolates of <i>Acinetobacter</i> species other than <i>A. baumannii</i> obtained between July 1990 and December 1991 at one institute in Germany.	A. johnsonii (n=14) A. pittii (n=12) A. lwoffii (n=10) A. junii (n=4) A. berezinae (n=4) A. radioresistens (n=4) A. haemolyticus (n=3) Acinetobacter gen. sp. 6 (n=1) Unclassified (n=3)	Phenotypic scheme adapted from the scheme described by Bouvet and Grimont	Acinetobacter spp. accounted for 8.1% of the positive blood cultures. A. baumannii accounted for 57% of these cultures while Acinetobacter species other than A. baumannii accounted for 43% of them.	[52]
38 Acinetobacter isolates including: 29 clinical isolates obtained during 1989/1990 from 21 patients, 6 environmental isolates also obtained during 1989/1990, and 3 clinical isolates obtained in 1998 from 3 patients. All the isolates were obtained from a Neonatal Intensive Care Unit at one university hospital in The Netherlands.	A. pittii (n=29) A. baumannii (n=3) Acinetobacter gen.sp. 13BJ (n=3) A. junii (n=1) Unclassified (n=2)	DNA-DNA hybridization	The isolation rate of <i>Acinetobacter</i> was 8/126 (6.7%) among the environmental samples.	[58]
91 <i>Acinetobacter</i> blood culture isolates obtained between January 1997 and March 1998 from 79 patients at one hospital in Hong Kong.	A. pittii ($n=37$) A. baumannii ($n=18$) A. nosocomialis ($n=14$) Acinetobacter gen. sp. 17 ($n=3$) A. berezinae ($n=2$) A. lwoffii ($n=1$) Unclassified ($n=16$)	ARDRA	-	[45]
129 Acinetobacter blood culture isolates obtained between 1995 and 1998 at 24 hospitals from the United States of America.	A. baumannii (n=111) A. pittii (n=11) A. radioresistens (n=4) A. junii (n=2) A. guillouiae (n=1)	Phenotypic scheme adapted from the scheme described by Bouvet and Grimont	Acinetobacter spp. accounted for 1.5% of all nosocomial bloodstream infections. Intra-hospital clonal spread of a single strain occurred in 5 hospitals.	[53]
244 <i>Acinetobacter</i> clinical isolates obtained in November 2000 from 28 hospitals in Spain.	A. baumannii (n=226) A. pittii (n=15) Unclassified (n=3)	ARDRA	7/15 of <i>A. pittii</i> isolates grew at 44°C. Identification of these isolates was confirmed by <i>16S rDNA</i> sequencing.	[54]

Table 4. Distribution of *Acinetobacter* species in human clinical isolates^a (cont.)

Table 4. Distribution of Acinetobacter	species ir	n human clinica	l isolates ^a	(cont.)
---	------------	-----------------	-------------------------	---------

	species in numuri crimetal isolates (cont.)			
75 Acinetobacter clinical isolates	A. baumannii (n=73)	PCR/ESI-MS	The A. pittii and A. johnsonii two isolates	[55]
obtained between 2003 and 2005	A. pittii $(n=1)$		contained <i>bla</i> _{OXA-51-like} genes which could	
from 75 patients at one medical	A. johnsonii (n=1)		imply uncertain species identification.	
center in the United States of				
America.				
232 non-duplicate consecutive	A. baumannii (n=142)	ARDRA	Resistance rates to most antimicrobial	[56]
Acinetobacter isolates obtained	A. nosocomialis (n=60)		agents were higher in A. baumannii than	
between November 2004 and	A. pittii (n=14)		other Acinetobacter species, except for	
November 2005 from different	<i>A. berezinae (n</i> =4)		the resistance rate for imipenem which	
sources (sputum, urine, wound,	A. junii (n=2)		was higher in A. nosocomialis than other	
blood, and throat) at two hospitals in	A. johnsonii (n=1)		Acinetobacter species, including A.	
Korea.	Acinetobacter gen. sp. 14BJ (n=1)		baumannii.	
	Unclassified (<i>n</i> =8)			
50 Acinetobacter clinical isolates	A. baumannii (n=40)	ARDRA	-	[57]
obtained between 2004 and 2005 at a	A. nosocomialis $(n=9)$			
university hospital in Korea and	Acinetobacter gen. sp. "close to 13TU"			
identified by the VITEK GNI card as	(<i>n</i> =5)			
belonging to the ACB complex.	A. pittii (n=4)			
99 Acinetobacter clinical isolates	A. baumannii (n=52)	Partial sequence	Isolates of <i>Acinetobacter</i> gen. sp.	[40]
obtained between February 2001 and	A. pittii $(n=27)$	analysis of <i>rpoB</i>	'between 1 and 3' closely clustered with	
March 2005 from different sources	A haemolyticus $(n=10)$	······································	those of A calcoaceticus	
(blood, bone, soft tissue, CSF etc.)	A. schindleri $(n=5)$			
from four public hospitals in	A. $lwoffii 9 (n=4)$		Isolates of <i>Acinetobacter</i> gen. sp. 'close	
Marseille France	A nosocomialis $(n=1)$		to 13TU' closely clustered with those of	
			Acinetobacter gen sn 13TU	
107 clinical isolates of A.	A. baumannii (n=87)	ARDRA	66 of the <i>A. baumannii</i> isolates belonged	[62]
calcoaceticus-A baumannii complex	A <i>nittii</i> $(n=15)$		to two major PEGE clonal types $> 90\%$	
obtained in 2005-06 from a Public	A nosocomialis $(n=3)$		of the <i>A baumannii</i> isolates were	
Teaching Hospital in Houston	Unclassified $(n=2)$		multidrug resistant compared to 15% of	
Texas the United States of America			the non- <i>A haumannii</i> isolates	
ready, the Officer States of Afficient.			the non 11. Outilitatina isolates.	

Acinetobacter spp. collection	Distribution of <i>Acinetobacter</i> spp.	Method of identification ^b	Comments	Reference
63 non-duplicate <i>Acinetobacter</i> clinical isolates collected from April through November 2007 at ICUs in	A. baumannii (n=44) A. pittii (n=9) A. posocomialis (n=6)	Partial sequence analysis of <i>rpoB</i> ,	Nineteen <i>A. baumannii</i> isolates belonged to ST22 and a single PFGE clone.	[63]
Korea.	A. junnii $(n=1)$ A. berezinae $(n=1)$	based multiplex PCR		
	A. baumannii-like species (n=2)	B		50.63
114 Acinetobacter clinical isolates	A. pittii $(n=45)$	Partial sequence	The study demonstrated the poor	[25]
October 2007 at one hospital in	A. baumannii $(n=23)$ A. johnsonii $(n=12)$	analysis of rpob	<i>Acinetobacter</i> species by the VITEK-2	
Dublin, Ireland.	A. ursingii (n=8)		GNI identification system, with 75% of	
,	A. lwoffii (n=7)		isolates erroneously speciated.	
	A. calcoaceticus (n=5)			
	A. guillouiae $(n=4)$			
	A. nosocomialis $(n=2)$			
	A. herezinge $(n=1)$			
	A. haemolvticus (n=1)			
	A. schindleri (n=1)			
	A. tjernbergiae (n=1)			
96 Acinetobacter clinical isolates	A. baumannii $(n = 59)$	Partial sequence	A. nosocomialis and A. pittii were more	[61]
obtained from 10 university hospitals	A. nosocomialis (n=19)	analysis of <i>rpoB</i>	frequently isolated from patients with	
in Korea between November 2006	A. pittii $(n=7)$	and gyrB-based	UTIs whereas A. junii was isolated	
and August 2007. The isolates according to $(n=60)$ or	A. $junil(n=5)$	multiplex PCR	exclusively from patients with	
urinary tract infections $(n=36)$	A. culcoucelleus $(n-2)$ Acinetobacter gen sp. 16 $(n=2)$		isolates belonged to one sequence type	
	A. herenziae $(n=1)$		(ST22).	
	A. baylyi $(n=1)$		X- 7.	

Table 4. Distribution of *Acinetobacter* species in human clinical isolates^a (cont.)

Acinetobacter spp. collection	Distribution of <i>Acinetobacter</i> spp.	Method of identification ^b	Comments	Reference	
359 Acinetobacter clinical isolates from 331 patients collected between 1999 and 2006 at the Leiden University Medical Centre, The Netherlands.	A. baumannii (n=129) A. pittii (n=93) A. lwoffii (n=38) A. ursingii (n=15) A. johnsonii (n=13) A. junii (n=12) A. nosocomialis (n=9) A. calcoaceticus (n=6) A. beijerinckii (n=5) A. berezinae (n=4) A. guillouiae (n=4) A. radioresistens (n=4) Acinetobacter gen. sp. 15TU (n=3) A. haemolyticus (n=3) Acinetobacter gen. sp. 14BJ (n=3) A. gyllenbergii (n=2) Acinetobacter gen. sp. "close to 13TU" (n=1) Acinetobacter gen. sp. "between 1 and 3" (n=1) A. parvus (n=1) Acinetobacter gen. sp. 16 (n=1) Unclassified (n=12)	AFLP	Profile similarity cut-off levels of 50%, 80%, and 90% were used for species, clone, and strain/cluster identification, respectively. <i>A. baumannii</i> and <i>A. pittii</i> were most frequently isolated from sputum and wound samples whereas <i>A.</i> <i>lwoffii</i> was mainly isolated from blood samples or intravascular lines. A large cluster of <i>A. baumannii</i> (involving 31 patients) and 16 small clusters of various species (involving in total 39 patients) were observed.	[64]	
547 Acinetobacter clinical isolates	A. baumannii $(n=388)$	ATB 32 GN system	-	[60]	
obtained in 2008 from 19 different	A. nosocomialis (n=82)	and sequence			
hospitals in six provinces of Korea.	A. pittii (n=62)	analysis of 16S–23S			
	A. berenziae (n=13)	rDNA intergenic			
	Acinetobacter gen. sp. 13BJ (n=2)	spacer region			

Table 4. Distribution of *Acinetobacter* species in human clinical isolates^a (cont.)

Acinetobacter spp. collection	Distribution of Acinetobacter spp.	Met identi	hod of fication ^b	Comments	Reference
690 Acinetobacter clinical isolates	A. baumannii $(n = 538)$	Partial	sequence	A. baylyi and A guillouiae clustered too	[59]
obtained during 2008/2009 from 135	A. $lwoffii$ (n =61)	analysis	of <i>rpoB</i>	closely to be distinguished from one	
hospitals in the United Kingdom.	A. ursingii (n =28)			another. Three isolates did not cluster	
	<i>A. pittii</i> (<i>n</i> =12)			closely enough with any of the described	
	A. johnsonii (n=11)			species. For all three, the closest	
	A. parvus (n=9)			currently described species was A.	
	Acinetobacter gen. sp. 13BJ (n=6)			towneri.	
	A. radioresistens $(n = 4)$				
	A. baylyi/A guillouiae (n=3)				
	A. calcoaceticus (n=3)				
	A. nosocomialis (n=2)				
	A. haemolyticus (n=2)				
	A. junii (n=2)				
	A. beijerinckii (n=1)				
	<i>A. berenziae</i> (<i>n</i> =1)				
	A. gyllenbergii (n=1)				
	A. schindleri (n=1)				
	Acinetobacter gen. sp. 15TU (n=1)				
	Acinetobacter gen. sp. 16 (n=1)				
	Unclassified (<i>n</i> =3)				

Table 4. Distribution of Acinetobacter species in human clinical isolates^a (cont.)

^aSome studies included both clinical and environmental samples. ^bARDRA, amplified *16S rDNA* restriction analysis; SDS-PAGE, cell envelope protein sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis; PCR/ESI-MS, polymerase chain reaction/electrospray ionization mass spectrometry; AFLP, Amplified fragment length polymorphism.

1.7. Antibiotic resistance

Treatment of *Acinetobacter* infections has conventionally involved the use of β -lactams, aminoglycosides, and quinolones [1]. However, the increased use of these antibiotics has resulted in a widespread emergence of antibiotic resistant strains [1]. Carbapenems, a class of β -lactams with a broad-spectrum of antibacterial activity, have then widely been used as the mainstay for treatment of infections caused by such antibiotic resistant strains [24]. Unsurprisingly, *Acinetobacter* strains resistant to carbapenems have also rapidly emerged worldwide [24]. Different levels and patterns of antimicrobial susceptibilities have been found among different *Acinetobacter* species with several studies reporting a higher occurrence of multidrug resistance in *A. baumannii* compared with the non-*A. baumannii* species [59, 64, 65]. Furthermore, intra-species diversity of antimicrobial susceptibilities has also been reported with specific genotypes in the *A. baumannii* population demonstrating higher resistance rates to antimicrobial agents compared with other *A. baumannii* genotypes [61].

It is important to mention that incorrect or uncertain species identification has probably resulted in an inaccurately-reported occurrence of some resistance genes in specific *Acinetobacter* species. A study conducted in 1992 reported the characterization of an AmpC cephalosporinase produced by *A. calcoaceticus* strain CCM 5593 [66]. However, strain CCM 5593 actually belongs to *A. baumannii* according to the LMG catalogue provided by the Laboratory of Microbiology at University of Gent in Belgium (http://bccm.belspo.be/db/lmg_search_form.php). A study from USA reported the occurrence of *bla*_{TEM}, *bla*_{SHV}, and *bla*_{ADC} genes in an *A. pittii* isolate (AG073) and an *A. johnsonii* isolate (AJ075) [55]. However, the two isolates were found to contain the *A. baumannii*-intrinsic *bla*_{OXA-51-like} gene which could probably imply uncertain species identification [28].

IMP-4 was reported to occur in an *A. junii* isolate [67]. However, the study used VITEK GNI card and API 20NE for species identification and these systems have repeatedly been associated with incorrect species identification of *Acinetobacter* isolates [24].

 bla_{ADC} might similarly be present in the chromosome of *A. lwoffii* although the species identification of the isolates was uncertain [68]. Furthermore, a recent review reported the occurrence of $bla_{CTX-M-43}$ in *A. baumannii* although the original article referred to the isolates as *Acinetobacter* spp. [2, 69].

1.7.1. Intrinsic resistance

Intrinsic resistance is defined as the inherent (not acquired) resistance against an antimicrobial drug which is a characteristic of all or almost all representatives of the species (http://www.eucast.org/expert rules/). The antimicrobial activity of the drug is accordingly insufficient and the drug is clinically inadequate (http://www.eucast.org/expert rules/). Consequently, antimicrobial susceptibility testing against the drug is unnecessary (http://www.eucast.org/expert rules/). In this regard, A. baumannii and A. calcoaceticus are intrinsically resistant to ampicillin, amoxicillinclavulanate, cefazolin, cefotaxime, ceftriaxone, ertapenem, trimethoprim, and fosfomycin according to the expert rules in antimicrobial susceptibility testing of the European committee on antimicrobial susceptibility testing (EUCAST) (http://www.eucast.org/expert rules/). Due to the activity of sulbactam, A. baumannii does have intrinsic resistance against ampicillin-sulbactam not (http://www.eucast.org/expert rules/).

1.7.2. Resistance to ß-lactams

Resistance to β -lactams in *Acinetobacter* involves: (i) the production of β -lactamases, (ii) alterations in the affinity to penicillin-binding proteins, (iii) decreased permeability of the outer membrane due to changes in the structure or number of porin proteins, and (iv) increased activity of efflux pumps (Figure 2) [70, 71].



Figure 2. Mechanisms of β -lactam resistance. *Acinetobacter*, like other gram-negative bacteria, has an outer membrane and a cytoplasmic membrane, between which (the periplasmic space) β -lactamases (carbapenemases, AmpC β -lactamases, and extended-spectrum β -lactamases) reside. Penicillin-binding proteins (PBPs), located at the level of the cytoplasmic membrane, constitute the final targets of β -lactam antibiotics. To bind to these targets, antibiotics must traverse the outer membrane through porin channels (outer-membrane proteins) into the periplasmic space. Once in the periplasmic space, β -lactam antibiotics bind to PBPs or are actively expelled from the bacterial structure through efflux pumps. *Acinetobacter* can harbor integrons and transposons, genetic elements on the bacterial chromosome or on plasmids, that can carry multiple cassettes with resistant genes (e.g., extended-spectrum β -lactamases and metallo- β -lactamases) (reproduced from reference [70] with permission from The New England Journal of Medicine).

The over-expression of intrinsic and/or the horizontal obtaining of acquired β-lactamase genes encoding enzymes from the four different molecular classes (A-D) is the main mechanism of *Acinetobacter* resistance to β-lactams [70, 71]. A wide range of class A β-lactamases including the narrow-spectrum (TEM-1, TEM-2, CARB-5, and SCO-1), extended-spectrum (TEM-92, TEM-116, SHV-2, SHV-5, SHV-12, CTX-M-2, CTX-M-3, CTX-M-43, PER-1, PER-2, PER-6, VEB-1, VEB-1a, VEB-3, GES-11, and GES-12), and carbapenem-hydrolyzing (GES-14, KPC-2, KPC-3, KPC-4 and KPC-10) variants have been identified mainly in *A. baumannii* but also among *Acinetobacter* isolates from other

species [24, 69, 72-77]. Class A β -lactamase genes are generally considered to be less widespread among *Acinetobacter* than *Enterobacteriaceae* species [71]. However, assessment of the true prevalence of extended-spectrum class A β -lactamases in *Acinetobacter* might be underestimated since it has been hindered by difficulties with laboratory detection, especially in the presence of intrinsic AmpC enzymes [2, 78].

Class B β -lactamases (metallo- β -lactamases, MBLs) confer high levels of carbapenem resistance as well as resistance to all other ß-lactams except for aztreonam [79]. MBLs are characterized from other classes of β-lactamases by being susceptible to EDTA inhibition due to the requirement of zinc ions (Zn^{+2}) in the active site [79]. Several IMP (IMP-1, IMP-2, IMP-4, IMP-5, IMP-6, IMP-8, IMP-11) and VIM (VIM-1, VIM-2, VIM-4, and VIM-11) variants have been detected among isolates from the A. baumannii-A. calcoaceticus complex [57, 73, 79-82]. SIM-1 was first described in A. baumannii isolates from Korea [83]. The study reported a lower level of carbapenem resistance conferred by SIM-1 compared with that conferred by IMP and VIM variants [83]. To my knowledge, *bla*_{SIM-1-like} genes have so far been found only among *Acinetobacter* isolates from Korea [83-85]. All different variants of *bla*_{IMP}, *bla*_{VIM}, and *bla*_{SIM} in *A. baumannii* isolates have regularly been located on class 1 integrons [79]. NDM-1 has mainly been found in Enterobacteriaceae isolates particularly from the Indian subcontinent but has also been detected in A. baumannii isolates from India as well as from other parts of the world [86-88]. Interestingly, resistance to carbapenems mediated by the coexistence of *bla*_{NDM-1}, *bla*_{OXA23}, and *bla*_{IMP} has been detected in pan-drug resistant A. *baumannii* isolates from China [88]. NDM-2, a variant of NDM-1 with only one amino acid substitution, has recently been described in an A. baumannii isolate recovered from a patient transferred to Germany from Egypt [89].

Class C β -lactamases (AmpC cephalosporinases) are enzymes able, when over-expressed, to hydrolyze most penicillins, cephalothin, cefazolin, cefoxitin, ceftazidime and β -lactamase inhibitor/ β -lactam combinations, but generally not cefepime or carbapenems [90]. So far, the chromosomal-encoded AmpC cephalosporinase genes have only been identified in a few *Acinetobacter* species (*A. baumannii*, *A. pittii*, and *A. baylyi*) [54, 90].

Phylogenetic analysis demonstrated that AmpC cephalosporinases from *A. baumannii* and *A. pittii* are more closely related to each other than to the variants produced by other genera of bacteria [91]. Accordingly, these enzymes represent a distinct family of class C β -lactamases called "the *Acinetobacter*-derived cephalosporinases (ADCs)". Although the AmpC cephalosporinase from *A. baylyi* (designated as ADC-8) was considerably less homologous to ADC-5 from *A. pittii* and ADC-7 from *A. baumannii*, the phylogenetic proximity of all the ADC cephalosporinases, including ADC-8, appeared to evolve from a common ancestor [92]. The *bla*_{ADC} genes in *A. baumannii* are normally expressed at basal levels [90]. The key factor for high levels of expression of these genes is based on the presence of a strong promoter within an upstream insertion sequence known as IS*Aba1* [90]. ADC enzymes are the main mechanism responsible for resistance to ceftazidime and other extended-spectrum cephalosporins in *A. baumannii* [55]. To date, at least 44 *bla*_{ADC} genes have been identified [73].

Class D β-lactamases (OXA-type β-lactamases) are robust penicillinases given that all of them are able to significantly hydrolyze aminopenicillins (e.g. ampicillin and amoxicillin) and carboxypenicillins (e.g. carbencillin and ticarcillin) [93]. Some of the OXA-type β lactamase variants also have the ability to hydrolyze extended-spectrum cephalosporins whereas other variants, described as OXA-type carbapenemases, are able to hydrolyze carbapenems [93]. Most of the extended-spectrum OXA-type β -lactamases are basically point mutation derivatives of related narrow-spectrum enzymes while all the so far identified OXA-type carbapenemases are remotely related to the non-carbapenemhydrolysing OXA-type β-lactamases [93, 94]. OXA-20, OXA-21 and OXA-37 are the only narrow-spectrum OXA-type β -lactamases that have so far been identified in Acinetobacter isolates (A. baumannii) [93]. The genes for these three enzymes have been identified in the form of gene cassettes inserted into class 1 integrons [93]. None of the extended-spectrum OXA-type β -lactamases has yet been found in any Acinetobacter species [93]. In contrast, OXA-type carbapenemases, with the exception of bla_{OXA-48} , have almost exclusively been found among isolates of the genus Acinetobacter (several species) [25, 59, 73, 93, 95-98].

The OXA-type carbapenemase genes in *Acinetobacter* spp. can be divided into four phylogenetic subgroups of ($bla_{OXA-23-like}$, $bla_{OXA-24-like}$, $bla_{OXA-51-like}$, and $bla_{OXA-58-like}$) plus five discrete genes ($bla_{OXA-134}$, $bla_{OXA-104}$, $bla_{OXA-143}$, $bla_{OXA-164}$, and $bla_{OXA-182}$) (Figure 3). The variants within each of the four main subgroups have nucleotide sequence identities of \geq 96% whereas the nucleotide sequence identities of the variants from different subgroups, including the discrete genes, range from 46% to 76% (Table 5). Exceptions include a 92% nucleotide sequence identity between $bla_{OXA-143}$ and $bla_{OXA-182}$ and \sim 88% nucleotide sequence identity between $bla_{OXA-24-like}$ subgroup with either $bla_{OXA-143}$ or $bla_{OXA-182}$ (Table 5).

The substrate profiles of OXA-type carbapenemases are diverse with most of them showing only a low hydrolytic activity against imipenem and yet a lower hydrolytic activity against meropenem [94]. The OXA-type carbapenemases additionally hydrolyse the narrow-spectrum penicillins (e.g. benzylpenicillin, ampicillin, piperacillin, ticarcillin) and cephalosporins (e.g. cefalotin and cefaloridine) efficiently. On the other hand, the extended-spectrum β -lactams (e.g. ceftazidime, cefotaxime) and aztreonam are not or only very poorly hydrolyzed by these enzymes [94]. It is worth mentioning that the occurrence of OXA-type carbapenemase genes in *Acinetobacter* spp. represents vertical inheritance in specific species but horizontal acquisition in other species. The subgroup *bla*_{OXA-23-like} for instance is intrinsically present and chromosomally located in *A. radioresistens* while it is acquired and most likely plasmid mediated in *A. baumannii*. The subgroup *bla*_{OXA-51-like} and the variant *bla*_{OXA-134} are intrinsically present in *A. baumannii* and *A. lwoffii*, respectively.

bla _{OXA}	<i>bla</i> _{OXA} .	bla _{OXA-58-} like	bla _{OXA-24-} like	bla _{OXA-23-} like	bla _{OXA-51-}				
<i>bla</i> _{OXA-} 51-like	60-64%	67-69%	67-68%	75-76%	59-61%	49-53%	63-65%	61-63%	96-100%
<i>bla</i> _{OXA-} 23-like	63-64%	69-70%	68-69%	61-62%	65-66%	49-52%	69-71%	96-100%	
<i>bla</i> _{OXA-} 24-like	62-63%	87-88%	87%	64%	64-65%	51%	97-100%		
<i>bla</i> _{OXA-} 58-like	49%	51%	53%	46-47%	53%	97-100%			
<i>bla</i> _{OXA-} 134	66%	65%	63%	67%	100%				
<i>bla</i> _{OXA-} 104	60%	62%	62%	100%					
<i>bla</i> _{OXA-} 143	64%	92%	100%						
bla _{OXA-} 182	67%	100%							
<i>bla</i> _{OXA} . 164	100%								

 Table 5. Nucleotide sequence identities among the OXA-type carbapenemase subgroups and discrete genes in *Acinetobacter* spp.



Figure 3. Dendrogram of 90 OXA-type carbapenemase genes identified in *Acinetobacter* spp. obtained using the online multiple sequence alignment program ClustalW. Branch lengths are to scale and proportional to the number of amino acid changes. The distance along the vertical axis has no significance.
1.7.3. Resistance to aminoglycosides

Enzymatic modification of aminoglycosides by acetyltransferases, nucleotidyltransferases and/or phosphotransferases accounts for the majority of aminoglycoside-resistant *Acinetobacter* isolates [99]. Several aminoglycoside-modifying enzymes have been detected in different *Acinetobacter* species (*A. baumannii*, *A. pittii*, *A. nosocomialis*, and *A. johnsonii*), including: (i) the phosphotransferases APH(3')-Ia, APH(3')-VIa, APH(3')-II (encoded by *aphA1*, *aphA6*, *aphA15*, respectively), (ii) the acetyltransferases AAC(3)-Ia, AAC(3)-IIa, AAC(6')-Ib, AAC(6')-Iad, AAC(6')-Im, and AAC(6')-II (encoded by *aacC1*, *aacC2*, *aacA4*, *aac(6')-Iad*, *aac(6')-Im*, and *aac(6')-II*, respectively), and (iii) the nucleotidyltransferases ANT(2'')-Ia, ANT(3'')-Ia, and ANT(3'')-Id (encoded by *aadB*, *aadA1*, and *aadA4*, respectively) [25, 73, 99-102].

The occurrence of a combination of two or more of aminoglycoside-modifying resistance genes and the association of some of these genes (such as *aacC1*, *aacA4*, *aadA1* and *aadB*) with class 1 integrons has been reported [99]. Nonetheless, reduction of accumulation of aminoglycosides is also fairly common in *Acinetobacter* isolates [71]. Lately, *A. baumannii* strains producing the 16S rRNA methylase ArmA enzyme have been identified [103]. ArmA is plasmid-encoded and characterized by conferring a highlevel of pan-aminoglycoside resistance compared with a usually moderate-level of resistance against particular aminoglycosides resulting from production of the previously mentioned aminoglycoside-modifying enzymes [102]. The coexistence of *armA* with two carbapenem resistance genes, *bla*_{OXA-23} and *bla*_{NDM-1}, has recently been reported in three clinical isolates from India [86].

1.7.4. Resistance to quinolones

Resistance to quinolones in *Acinetobacter* species is mostly due to chromosomal mutations in the quinolone resistance determining region (QRDR) of the *gyrA* and *parC* genes with the subsequent production of modified bacterial DNA gyrase and

topoisomerase IV enzymes [71]. Ser-83 and Ser-80 in GyrA and ParC, respectively, are the most frequently mutated amino acid residues in quinolone-resistant *A. baumannii* (Table 6) [104, 105]. A double mutation in the QRDRs of both GyrA and ParC is basically necessary to obtain high levels of quinolone resistance [105]. Nonetheless, quinolone resistance could also be due to decreased influx and/or increased efflux of quinolones [71]. Of note, plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance genes, including aac(6')-*Ib-cr* and *qnr*, have so far been not identified in *Acinetobacter* isolates [106].

Table 6. Amino acid substitutions in the quinolone resistance determining region (QRDR) of *gyrA* and *parC* implicated in quinolone resistance in *A. baumannii*

Amino acid substitutions	Reference
GyrA	
Gly-81 substituted by Val or Cys	[104, 107]
Ser-83 ^a substituted by Leu	[104]
Ala-84 substituted by Pro	[104]
Glu-87 substituted by Gly	[108]
ParC	
Gly-78 substituted by Cys	[107]
Ser-80 ^a substituted by Leu, Phe or Trp	[105, 108, 109]
Glu-84 substituted by Lys	[105]

^aMutations Ser-83 to Leu in GyrA and Ser-80 to Leu in ParC were also reported in quinolone-resistant isolates of *A. pittii* [54].

1.7.5. Role of ISAba elements

Insertion sequences (IS) are the smallest (< 2.5 kb) and most abundant genetic elements capable of independent mobility (transposition) in microbial genomes [110]. IS elements can be responsible for the occurrence of insertion mutations, genome rearrangements, and enhanced spread of resistance and virulence determinants within species [110]. Several IS elements have commonly and probably exclusively been detected in the genus *Acinetobacter* (Table 7) (http://www-is.biotoul.fr) [111].

Studies have demonstrated the role of IS*Aba1* in providing a strong promoter resulting in over-expression of the intrinsic bla_{ADC} and $bla_{OXA-51-like}$ and the acquired $bla_{OXA-23-like}$ genes of *A. baumannii* [112-114]. IS*Aba1* most probably acts similarly with other resistance genes such as *sull1* and *bla*_{OXA-58-like}, [111, 115]. IS*Aba2*, IS*Aba3*, IS*18*, and

IS*Aba825* might also provide strong hybrid promoters for $bla_{OXA-58-like}$ whereas IS*Aba4* may likewise be responsible for an enhanced expression of $bla_{OXA-23-like}$ [114-116]. Furthermore, sequence analysis of the genetic environment of bla_{NDM-1} in one *A*. *baumannii* isolate from Germany revealed a chromosomal occurrence of bla_{NDM-1} on a 10.5 kb genetic structure bracketed by two copies of IS*Aba125* [117]. The upstream IS*Aba125* element most likely provides a strong promoter for *bla_{NDM-1}* expression [118]. Interestingly, the *bla_{ADC}* gene in the fully sequenced *A. baumannii* strain ACICU is also preceded by an IS*Aba125* element that could influence its expression [119].

IS*Aba1* might also be responsible for the mobility of $bla_{OXA-23-like}$ with either two copies bracketing the gene and forming a composite transposon defined as Tn2006 or a single copy located at one side of the gene and forming a one-ended transposon defined as Tn2008 [106, 114]. Similarly, a single copy of IS*Aba4* located at one side of $bla_{OXA-23-like}$ might mobilize it by forming a one-ended transposon defined as Tn2007 [114]. An IS*Aba1*-mediated disruption of the *adeS* gene which regulates the expression of the multidrug AdeABC efflux pump was detected in two tigecycline-resistant isolates [120]. The insertional inactivation of *adeS* was probably responsible for a constitutive overexpression of the pump leading to increased resistance to various classes of antibiotics. Furthermore, IS*Aba825* and IS*Aba125* have been found responsible for reduced susceptibility to carbapenems by means of a natural insertional inactivation of the *carO* gene encoding an outer membrane channel associated with the influx of carbapenems *A*. *baumannii* [121].

Name	Family	GenBank accession	Origin
		number	-
ISAba1	IS4	AY758396	A. baumannii
ISAba2	IS <i>3</i>	AY665723	A. baumannii
ISAba3	IS <i>1</i>	AY665723	A. baumannii
ISAba4	IS982	-	A. baumannii
ISAba5	IS5	-	A. baumannii
ISAba6	IS982	-	A. baumannii
ISAba7	IS5	-	A. baumannii
ISAba8	IS21	-	A. baumannii
ISAba9	IS982	-	A. baumannii
ISAba10	IS5	GQ379223	A. baumannii
ISAba11	IS701	CP000521	A. baumannii
ISAba12	IS5	-	A. baumannii
ISAba13 (ISN1)	IS5	NC 011586	A. baumannii
ISAba125	IS30	AY751533	A. baumannii
ISAba825	IS982	AY751532	A. baumannii
ISAca1	IS <i>3</i>	AF121266	A. calcoaceticus
IS1008	IS6	AJ251307	A. calcoaceticus
IS <i>1236</i>	IS <i>3</i>	U03772	A. calcoaceticus
ISAha1	IS5	-	A. haemolyticus
ISAha2	IS5	-	A. haemolyticus
IS17	IS5	U95013	A. haemolyticus
ISAjo1	IS5	-	A. johnsonii
ISAlw1	IS5	-	A. lwoffii
IS1006	IS6	NC 004361	A. junii
ISAcsp1	Tn <i>3</i>	-	Acinetobacter sp.
IS1007	IS6	AJ250860	Acinetobacter sp. LS56-7
IS18	IS <i>30</i>	AF043676	Acinetobacter sp. 13 BM2716

Table 7. Insertion sequence (IS) elements in the genus Acinetobacter retrieved from the IS database homepage (http://www-is.biotoul.fr).

1.8. Epidemiology of A. baumannii

Among the different *Acinetobacter* species, *A. baumannii* has a remarkable ability to cause outbreaks of infections [24]. The occurrence of intra-hospital, local inter-hospital, and national *A. baumannii* outbreaks of infections have been reported worldwide [2]. Comparative typing of outbreak strains from geographically scattered European hospitals has demonstrated the occurrence of three extremely successful clones of *A. baumannii* named as "European clones I, II and III" [122, 123]. The three European clones have later on been found to disseminate globally and have accordingly been re-named as "international clones I, II and III" [39]. A significant shift towards international clone II, rather than international clone I, has lately been detected in the global *A. baumannii* population structure [124]. Multidrug resistance has been a frequent feature of the three clones although these clones have included strains with notable variations in their susceptibility patterns and underlying resistance genes [124]. However, a wide geographic distribution of several other clones, beyond international clones I to III, has also been detected [39, 125-127]. These clones have most likely played a supplementary role in the global dissemination of *A. baumannii* infections [39].

1.8.1. Molecular strain typing methods

Several molecular methods have been used to type *A. baumannii* strains at different scales [24]. A PCR-based typing scheme targeting three genes under selective pressure (*ompA*, *csuE* and *bla*_{OXA-51-like}) is a convenient method for rapid assorting of *A. baumannii* isolates into three major sequence groups (SG) corresponding to the previously mentioned international clones I (SG2), II (SG1), and III (SG3) [128]. Isolates can also be assigned into additional PCR-based sequence groups (SG4-SG7, putative SG8, SG9, and putative SG10-SG13) defined according to new combinations of the PCR amplicons (Table 8) (Papers II and III) [126, 129, 130]. Of note, the labels proposed for the PCR-based SGs don't correspond to the labels proposed by another typing approach based on comparitive sequence analysis of the same three genes [126, 127, 129].

PCR-based sequence	Group 1 multiplex PCR		Group 2 multiplex PCR				
group (SG)	<i>csuE</i> (702)	bla _{OXA-51-like} (559)	ompA (355)	<i>csuE</i> (580)	ompA (343)	bla _{OXA-51-like} (162)	Reference
SG1 (international clone II)	+	+	+	-	-	-	[128]
SG2 (international clone I)	-	-	-	+	+	+	[128]
SG3 (international clone III)	+	+	-	-	+	-	[128]
SG4	-	+	+	-	-	-	[126]
SG5	-	-	+	-	-	-	[126]
SG6	+	-	-	-	+	+	[126]
SG7	-	-	+	+	-	-	[126]
SG8 ^a	-	+	+	+	-	-	[129]
SG9	-	-	+	+	-	+	Paper II
SG10	-	+	-	+	+	-	[130]
SG11	-	-	-	-	+	+	[130]
SG12	-	+	-	-	-	-	Paper III
SG13	+	-	+	-	-	-	Paper III

Table 8. Sequence groups of *A. baumannii* defined according to combinations of amplicons in two multiplex PCRs targeting the *ompA*, *csuE* and *bla*_{OXA-51-like} genes.

^aAssigned into group 6 according to the 3 locus sequence-based typing approach.

Sequence-based analysis of only the $bla_{OXA-51-like}$ gene can also be a useful typing method for *A. baumannii* isolates since evident correlation has been detected between particular $bla_{OXA-51-like}$ variants and particular epidemic lineages [131, 132]. In this regard, a study conducted on sixty *A. baumannii* isolates collected worldwide has demonstrated that isolates belonging to international clone II encoded $bla_{OXA-51-like}$ variants from the OXA-66 cluster while those belonging to international clone I encoded enzymes from the OXA-69 cluster [131, 132]. Furthermore, the study has shown that all isolates belonging to international clone III encoded bla_{OXA-71} standing by itself without forming a cluster with other variants [131, 132].

Nevertheless, pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) is still considered to be the `gold standard` for fine-scale typing of *A. baumannii* isolates [131]. PFGE, based on the generation of distinct patterns of chromosomal DNA, is able to detect the intra- and interhospital bacterial transmission providing a method especially suited for local short-term outbreak investigations [133]. However, it has a main disadvantage that data are hardly exchangeable among laboratories making it inappropriate for comparative epidemiological analyses of results obtained at different laboratories [133]. On the other hand, multilocus sequence typing (MLST), based on the comparative sequence analyses of loci from seven house-keeping genes, offers the possibility to transfer typing data between laboratories and via the internet, making it an appropriate technique for global and long-term epidemiological studies [131].

Currently, two Acinetobacter MLST schemes are available for typing of A. baumannii strains. The Bartual scheme (http://pubmlst.org/abaumannii/) is based on DNA sequence comparisons of the internal fragments of seven housekeeping genes (gltA, gyrB, gdhB, recA, cpn60, gpi, and rpoD) [133]. However, analysis of gyrB and gpi sequences should be performed with caution since the phylogenetic trees generated for these two genes showed evidence of recombination and were inconsistent with those of the other five Similarly, Pasteur [131]. the scheme genes (http://www.pasteur.fr/recherche/genopole/PF8/mlst/) is based on DNA sequence comparisons of the internal fragments of seven housekeeping genes including three genes from the Bartual scheme (gltA, recA, and cpn60) plus four other genes (fusA, pyrG, rpoB, and rplB) [39]. The two schemes have generally showed compatible results although a recent study has reported a higher resolution of the Bartual MLST scheme providing a better association between epidemiological features, occurrence of acquired OXA genes, and temporal distribution of the isolates [134-136].

In general, PFGE and MLST should be considered as complementary tools to each other in epidemiological studies [137]. PFGE has a higher discriminatory power for small-sized local epidemiological studies while MLST has a better capability for grouping isolates mainly during large-sized global epidemiological analyses.

1.8.2. Epidemiological terminology

The definition of some terms, such as strain and clone, has repeatedly been discussed by epidemiological reviews [138]. For example, an isolate represents a general term used to describe a pure culture of bacteria, usually obtained by sub-culturing a single colony from a preliminary isolation plate, while a strain is a taxonomic term used to describe a subdivision of a species [139]. A strain can be defined as an isolate or group of isolates

that can be distinguished from other isolates of the same species by a number of phenotypic and/or genotypic characteristics [139]. An outbreak strain is a strain responsible for the occurrence of an outbreak of infections (an increased incidence of infections in a specific place during a given period that is above the baseline rate for that place and time frame) [139]. An outbreak strain will accordingly represent a group of epidemiologically, genotypically, and phenotypically related isolates [139]. Such isolates (outbreak isolates) are assumed to be a progeny of a recent single common precursor isolate.

Since PFGE is considered to be the 'gold standard' for outbreak investigations, an outbreak strain can molecularly be defined as a group of isolates obtained within a limited time and place frames that show identical or related pulsotypes (PFGE restriction patterns). Currently, similarities among pulsotypes are usually determined using the band-based Dice coefficient. However, optimum settings for optimization and tolerance have not yet been agreed on. Cluster analysis of pulsotypes is commonly performed using the unweighted pair group method with mathematical averaging (UPGMA). A cut-off level of 90% can be proposed for strain delineation [140].

On the other hand, a clone is a group of epidemiologically unrelated (independently obtained from different sources, in different locations, and perhaps at different times) but genotypically and phenotypically related isolates [141]. Such isolates (epidemic isolates) are believed to be progeny of an old single common precursor isolate. Since MLST is the main tool for global population studies, a clone will practically be defined as a group of isolates obtained from more than one country and belong to one MLST sequence type or clonal complex. The occurrence in at least two countries is subjectively chosen to minimize the probability of a recent inter-hospital spread either by a direct patient transfer or by an intermediate circulation in the community [122]. The definition could be biased since it does not take into consideration the countries' size or the occurrence of import. Nonetheless, the occurrence of import should always be highlighted (Papers II and III). Of note, a clonal complex (CC) is a group of related sequence types (ST) sharing alleles at 5/7 or 6/7 of the loci (http://eburst.mlst.net/v3/instructions/2.asp). The terms

"clonal complex" and "clone" are not interchangeable; a clonal complex represents a clone only when it includes epidemiologically unrelated isolates obtained from more than one country.

1.8.3. Proposed nomenclature

The nomenclature of *A. baumannii* outbreak strains should probably include the time and place of occurrence and the pulsotype. Further phenotypic and/or genotypic characterization of the strain can then be used in order to describe the outbreak strain. For instance, outbreak strains can be designated as MDR- (for multidrug-resistance), $bla_{OXA-24-like}$ -CR- (for $bla_{OXA-24-like}$ -positive carbapenem-resistance), $Tn2006-bla_{OXA-23-like}$ -CR- (for Tn2006-mediated $bla_{OXA-23-like}$ -positive carbapenem-resistance) etc. It could also be valuable to include the corresponding ST and CC in the description of *A. baumannii* outbreak strains in order to allow a comprehensive assignment of these strains in a global context [142].

On the other hand, since the MLST allelic profiles are unambiguous and exchangeable, MLST provides an optimal naming system for *A. baumannii* clones rather than giving them roman numerals or letters [131]. The clones can be designated according to their STs and CCs together with their geographic distribution [39]. In contrast to outbreak strains, clones are believed to represent descendants of an old progenitor. Accordingly, the occurrence of broad intra-clonal diversity, with strains possessing a variety of phenotypic and genotypic resistance characteristics, can be anticipated [99]. Phenotypic and genotypic characterization of the clones could therefore be less essential than that of the outbreak strains. The higher discriminatory power of PFGE can also be exploited in the characterization of clones and probably the identification of sub-clones. However, since they are generally not interchangeable, PFGE data should be included with some caution [131].

1.8.4. MLST-based global population of A. baumannii

Analysis of a subset of 441 *A. baumannii* isolates, selected from other studies and from the MLST databases, might facilitate making an unbiased overview of the current structure of the global *A. baumannii* population [39, 60, 61, 72, 82, 127, 130, 131, 133-137, 142-146] (Papers II and III) (http://www.pasteur.fr/recherche/genopole/PF8/mlst/) (http://pubmlst.org/abaumannii/). The selection included one isolate per country per ST (geographically and genotypically divergent isolates) while other isolates from the same country with the same ST were rather considered as replicates of an outbreak strain and were excluded regardless if they were divergent by date of isolation or by their phenotypic and genotypic resistance characteristics. STs were grouped into CCs using eBURST V3 (http://eburst.mlst.net/) under stringent parameters (6/7 shared allels). However, an ST or CC would subjectively represent a clone only if included isolates from more than one country.

The collection included isolates typed using the Bartual's scheme (n=277), Pasteur's scheme (n=129), or both schemes (n=35) (Tables S1-S3). To differentiate between the two MLST schemes, STs and CCs were designated as ST^B/CC^B for the Bartual scheme and ST^P/CC^P for the Pasteur scheme. The isolates belonged to 246 Bartual's STs (ST1-88^B, ST90-110^B, ST112-187^B, ST189-197^B, ST200^B, and ST202-252^B) and 83 Pasteur's STs (ST1-32^P, ST34-59^P, ST77-86^P, ST94-106^P, ST109^P, and ST110^P) (http://pubmlst.org/abaumannii/) (http://www.pasteur.fr/recherche/genopole/PF8/mlst/).

Overall, the analysis assigned 243/441 of the isolates into 22 clones including sixteen international (\geq two continents) clones, five European clones, and one Asian clone (Table 9) (Table 9 and Figures 4 and 5). On the other hand, 198/441 of the isolates were assigned into non-clonal STs or CCs (STs or CCs geographically restricted to one country).

1.8.4.1. International clone CC92^B/CC2^P

CC92^B/CC2^P was by far the largest *A. baumannii* clone with 88/441 of the isolates and a very broad international spread over 32 countries (Italy, Spain, Germany, UK, Greece, The Netherlands, Denmark, Czech Republic, France, Poland, Turkey, Norway, Sweden, Portugal, Ireland, Japan, China, Korea, Thailand, India, Malaysia, Philippines, Taiwan, Singapore, Vietnam, Lebanon, Brazil, South Africa, Reunion, Tahiti, New Caledonia, USA, and Australia). The Norwegian isolates were associated with import from other European or Asian countries (Paper II). CC92^B/CC2^P mainly included outbreak, MDR, and/or carbapenem-resistant (*bla*_{VIM-1}-, *bla*_{OXA-23-like}-, *bla*_{OXA-24-like}-, and/or *bla*_{OXA-58-like}-encoding) isolates. It also included several isolates producing the 16S rRNA methylase ArmA enzyme and one isolate resistant to colistin. Interestingly, an equine isolate was found to belong to this clone as well.

The occurrence of ST92^B isolates resistant to all antimicrobial agents available including colistin, polymyxin B, and tigecycline was also reported by a study from Korea although the isolates have not been submitted into the MLST database [63]. The intra-clonal diversity of phenotypic and genotypic resistance characteristics among isolates of CC92^B/CC2^P is most likely due to the scattered spread of these clones throughout the world resulting in an access to a wide range of varied pools of transmissible resistance elements [99]. The analysis confirmed the linkage between CC92^B/CC2^P, international clone II, and the *bla*_{OXA-66}, *bla*_{OXA-82}, *bla*_{OXA-83}, and *bla*_{OXA-109} variants (OXA-66 cluster) of the intrinsic *bla*_{OXA-51-like} gene [131, 132].

1.8.4.2. International clone CC109^B/CC1^P

CC109^B/CC1^P was the second major *A. baumannii* clone with 51/441 of the isolates and a broad international spread over 29 countries (Germany, Italy, China, Libya, the United Arab Emirates, Bahrain, Norway, Argentina, India, Japan, Bulgaria, UK, Australia, Korea, Poland, Slovenia, Croatia, Czech Republic, Ireland, Belgium, South Africa, Spain,

France, USA, Greece, The Netherlands, Lebanon, Turkey, and Algeria). One isolate from UK and the two Norwegian isolates were associated with import from Pakistan and India (Paper II) [131, 132]. Similar to the previous clone, CC109^B/CC1^P also included many outbreak, MDR, and carbapenem-resistant (*bla*_{VIM-4}-, *bla*_{OXA-23-like}-, and/or *bla*_{OXA-58-like}-encoding) isolates.

The clone was closely linked with international clone I and the bla_{OXA-69} , $bla_{OXA-107}$, $bla_{OXA-110}$ and $bla_{OXA-112}$ variants (OXA-69 cluster) [131, 132]. One isolate (K55-61) was assigned into CC1^P by Pasteur's scheme (ST94^P) but represented a singleton (ST194^B) rather than being a member of CC109^B by Bartual's scheme (Paper II). However, ST194^B is a DLV of several STs from CC109^B. Furthermore, this isolate interestingly contained bla_{OXA-69} but belonged to sequence group 9, instead of international clone I (Paper II). This might probably indicate that sequence group 9 represents a sub-group of international clone I. One isolate of ST248^B (singleton) was reasonably found to encode bla_{OXA-92} from the OXA-69 cluster since ST248^B is a DLV of several STs from CC109^B [132].

1.8.4.3. International (South and North American) clone CC131^B

CC131^B has so far been a South and North American clone with 18/441 of the isolates obtained from Argentina, Brazil, and USA. The clone included several hospital environmental isolates (personnel hand, cushion, bed-rail, soap dispenser etc.) (http://pubmlst.org/abaumannii/). A probable linkage could be present between CC131^B and the singleton ST79^P from the Pasteur's scheme [130]. Interestingly, two of the CC131^B isolates belonged to international clone II [130, 131]. The two isolates also encoded for *bla*_{OXA-66} and *bla*_{OXA-65} from the OXA-66 cluster [130, 131]. ST79^P and ST121^B, a DLV of several STs from CC131^B, included isolates recovered from Spain indicating that the distribution of this clone could probably be not restricted to South and North America [137].

1.8.4.4. International clone CC187^B/CC3^P

CC187^B/CC3^P was an international clone with 12/441 of the isolates obtained mainly from European countries (France, Germany, Spain, The Netherlands, Italy, and Belgium) as well as from Lebanon. CC187^B/CC3^P was closely linked with international clone III and the bla_{OXA-71} variant of $bla_{OXA-51-like}$ genes [131, 132]. Many of the CC187^B/CC3^P isolates were MDR and/or carbapenem-resistant ($bla_{OXA-58-like}$ -encoding) and were associated with outbreaks of infections. A canine isolate was assigned into ST13^P which was found to be a DLV of ST3^P. Of note, the less intra-clonal diversity within CC187^B/CC3^P, compared with CC92^B/CC2^P, was proposed to indicate short-term existence [99].

1.8.4.5. International clone CC104^B/CC15^P

CC104^B/CC15^P, another international clone, included 12/441 of the isolates obtained from 8 countries in Europe and South America (Norway, Portugal, Czech Republic, The Netherlands, Turkey, Spain, Argentina, and Brazil). The Norwegian isolate was however associated with import from Pakistan (Paper II). This clone included outbreak, MDR, carbapenem resistant (*bla*_{OXA-23-like}-and *bla*_{OXA-58-like}-positive), and *armA*-encoding isolates. The analysis detected a linkage between CC104^B/CC15^P, PCR-based sequence group 4, and encoded the intrinsic *bla*_{OXA-51} and *bla*_{OXA-132} variants (Paper II) [130, 134]. Two isolates from ST249^B and ST250^B, DLVs of CC104^B, were also found to encode the *bla*_{OXA-51} variant [131]. Of note, *bla*_{OXA-132} and *bla*_{OXA-51} are one nucleotide different from each other (GenBank accession numbers EU547447 and AJ309734, respectively).

1.8.4.6. Other clones

The analysis also identified $CC20^{B}$ as another international clone with 10/441 of the isolates recovered from Germany, Morocco, South Africa, Malaysia, Korea and China. Interestingly, the clone included one *bla*_{OXA-23-like}- and *armA*-encoding isolate [144]. In addition, another *bla*_{OXA-23-like}- and *armA*-encoding isolate belonged to ST248^B which was found to be a DLV of ST20^B [144]. Isolates from CC20^B encoded the intrinsic *bla*_{OXA-51} and *bla*_{OXA-68} variants. However, *bla*_{OXA-51} and *bla*_{OXA-68} did not belong to a one group of variants [132]. International clone CC110^B included 5/435 of the isolates obtained from Korea, Argentina, and USA. Interestingly, the CC110^B isolate from China was colistin resistant [144]. European clone CC32^P included 5/441 of the isolates obtained from Sweden, Denmark, Spain, and Portugal. One of the CC32^P isolates was *bla*_{IMP-5}-positive carbapenem-resistant.

Interestingly, clonal spread was also identified for a number of singleton STs (e. g. ST17^B, ST19^B, ST73^B, ST184^B, ST25^P, and ST49^P) [61]. This probably indicates a fast spread associated with limited time for these strains to genetically differentiate and create clonal complexes of many variants which might be a result of immaturity of these genotypes or due to a shortened life length possibly caused by an effective eradication. International clone ST73^B included only two isolates (2/435) with one of them being $bla_{OXA-23-like}$ -positive carbapenem-resistant. International clone ST25^P included 6/441 of the isolates obtained from The Netherlands, Turkey, Greece, Italy, Sweden, and Singapore. The Swedish isolate was associated with import from Thailand (Paper III). Carbapenem resistance was prevalent in clone ST25^P since 5/6 of the isolates were $bla_{OXA-23-like}$ -, $bla_{OXA-58-like}$ -, and/or $bla_{OXA-24-like}$ -positive carbapenem-resistant. Other clones are listed in Table 9.

1.8.4.7. Non-clonal STs and CCs

A large fraction of the isolates (~45%) was assigned into STs or CCs geographically restricted to one country. Interestingly, several clonal complexes such as CC164^B, CC(32/33/46/47)^B, and CC(85/86)^B etc. did not represent clones. For instance, CC164^B could basically represent a Korean 2008 outbreak strain although it included 5 isolates from 5 different STs. Many STs were found to include sporadic (not associated with an outbreak) strains. However, a number of non-clonal STs, such as ST96^B and ST78^P, were found to include outbreak strains [127, 142]. ST12^B included one isolate (RUH 875) from international clone I although RUH 875 was assigned into completly different ST by another study [39, 131-133]. Interestingly, non-epidemic ST2^B and ST134^B included isolates encoding the *bla*_{OXA-96} variant [130, 131, 133].

The occurrence of isolates of international clone II within non-epidemic singleton $ST252^{B}$ and $ST59^{P}$ was unexpected. In contrast to what has previously been reported, $ST59^{P}$ and $CC2^{P}$ diverged by 4 or 5 of the seven allels [39]. Furthermore, *bla*_{OXA-108} encoded by the $ST252^{B}$ isolate was also not related to the OXA-66 cluster [132]. This could probably indicate a long-termed descent from a single ancestor, lack in the discriminatory power of the PCR-based clonal lineage typing method, or occasional inaccuracy in experimental results.

Finally, the identification of many singleton STs demonstrated a high genetic diversity of the population structure of *A. baumannii* [143]. Such broad diversity has previously been reported using other typing techniques [42, 147].



Figure 4. eBURST of 313 *A. baumannii* isolates investigated by the Bartual's MLST scheme (Tables S1 and S3). Each circle corresponds to one sequence type (ST). Circle size increases logarithmically with the number of isolates of each ST. Each line indicates that the connected circles correspond to STs sharing 6/7 of the allels. Each group of circles linked by at least one line corresponds to one clonal complex (CC). Distance between circles does not correspond to the number of allelic mismatches among the corresponding STs. Each circle or group of circles highlighted in red corresponds to one clone.



Figure 5. eBURST of 129 *A. baumannii* isolates investigated by the Pasteur's MLST scheme (Table S2). Each circle corresponds to one sequence type (ST). Circle size increases logarithmically with the number of isolates of each ST. Each line indicates that the connected circles correspond to STs sharing 6/7 of the allels. Each group of circles linked by at least one line corresponds to one clonal complex (CC). Distance between circles does not correspond to the number of allelic mismatches among the corresponding STs. Each circle or group of circles highlighted in red corresponds to one clone.

A. Daumannu	Geographic distribution ^b	
cione		
$CC92^{2}/CC2^{2}$	International clone with 88 isolates recovered from 32 countries in Europe, Asia,	
D. D	Africa, Australia, North America, and South America	
CC109 ^B /CC1 ^r	International clone with 51 isolates recovered from 29 countries in Europe, Asia,	
D	Africa, The Middle East, Australia, and South America	
CC131 ^B	South and North American clone with 18 isolates recovered from Argentina, Brazil,	
	and USA	
CC187 ^B /CC3 ^P	International clone with 12 isolates recovered from 6 European countries and Lebanon	
CC104 ^B /CC15 ^P	International clone with 12 isolates obtained from 8 countries in Europe and South	
	America (One isolate was exported from Pakistan)	
CC20 ^B	International clone with 10 isolates recovered from 7 countries in Europe, Asia, and	
	Africa	
CC110 ^B	International clone with 5 isolates recovered from Korea, Argentina, and USA	
CC32 ^P	European clone with 5 isolates recovered from Sweden, Denmark, Spain, and Portugal	
CC119 ^B	International clone with 4 isolates recovered from Korea, Thailand, and Argentina	
CC69 ^B	International clone with 4 isolates recovered from Korea and Australia	
ST25 ^P	International clone with 6 isolates recovered from Europe and Asia	
CC10 ^P	International clone with 5 isolates recovered from 4 European countries and Australia	
CC(222/228/229) ^B	International clone with 3 isolates recovered from Brazil and Japan	
ST17 ^B	International clone with 3 isolates recovered from Germany, China, and Korea	
CC105 ^P	International clone with 3 isolates recovered from Czech Republic and China	
ST19 ^B	European clone with 2 isolates recovered from Germany and UK	
ST73 ^B	International clone with 2 isolates recovered from Australia and Korea	
ST184 ^B	Asian clone with 2 isolates recovered from China and Korea	
ST5 ^P	European clone with 2 isolates recovered from Poland and Sweden ^b	
$CC(6/85)^{P}$	European clone with 2 isolates recovered from UK and Greece	
$CC(83/109)^{P}$	European clone with 2 isolates recovered from Turkey and Sweden ^c	
ST49 ^P	International clone with 2 isolates recovered from The Netherlands and USA	

Table 9. The geographic distribution of MLST-designated A. baumannii clones

^aCC110^B and CC(222/228/229)^B were DLVs of each other; CC69^B and ST19^B were DLVs of CC92^B; ST49^P was a DLV of ST3^P

^bUSA, the United States of America; UK, the United Kingdom.

^cCould probably represent a polish outbreak-related or endemic strain since the isolate from Sweden was exported from Poland. ^dCould probably represent an international clone since the isolate from Sweden was exported from

Thailand.

2. Aims of the study

The main aim of paper I was to determine the distribution of *Acinetobacter* species in a nation-wide collection of consecutive blood culture isolates from Norway.

Papers II and III aimed to investigate the molecular epidemiology and antibiotic resistance characteristics of carbapenem-resistant clinical isolates of *A. baumannii* obtained in Norway and Sweden, respectively.

Paper IV was designed to compare the performance of three commercial systems (VITEK 2, BD Phoenix, and MALDI-TOF MS) for precise species identification of *Acinetobacter* clinical isolates.

3. Material

A collection of 113 consecutive blood culture isolates of *Acinetobacter* species was included in paper I. The isolates were collected between 2005 and 2007 from 111 patients by 19 diagnostic microbiology laboratories throughout Norway. Four isolates recovered from two patients were included since they were found to belong to different species.

Paper II included 11 carbapenem resistant *A. baumannii* clinical obtained between 2004 and 2009 from 11 patients from different specimens (blood, pus, respiratory secretions, abdominal cavity fluid and spinal fluid) by six different diagnostic microbiology laboratories in Norway. The study included all the isolates submitted to the Reference Centre for Detection of Antimicrobial Resistance in Norway based on carbapenem resistance according to guidelines issued by the Reference Centre.

Paper III included 13 *A. baumannii* clinical isolates collected between 2004 and 2007 from 11 patients from different cultures (blood, pus, respiratory secretions, and abdominal cavity fluid) by two laboratories in Stockholm and Kalmar, Sweden. Three isolates recovered from one patient were included since they were found to belong to different epidemiological lineages. All isolates were non-susceptible to imipenem or meropenem according to SRGA (Swedish Reference Group for Antibiotics) disk diffusion methodology (http://www.srga.org/RAFMETOD/BASMET.HTM) and breakpoints (http://www.srga.org/ZONTAB/zontab2a.htm).

Paper IV included 110/113 of the isolates described in paper I. Three isolates were excluded given that they were identified as 'unclassified' using partial *rpoB* sequence analysis (Paper I).

4. Main results

Paper I

- The study revealed that partial *rpoB* sequence analysis was able to correctly assign the majority of the isolates (110/113) into at least 12 different *Acinetobacter* species.
- Molecular identification revealed that *A. nosocomialis* (46.9%) and *A. pittii* (19.5%) were the most prevalent *Acinetobacter* species whereas *A. baumannii* only accounted for 8.8% of the isolates.
- The study represented the first report on the putative clinical relevance of A. soli.
- Less than 5% of the isolates expressed reduced susceptibility to one or more of the antimicrobial agents.
- *bla*_{OXA-23-like} was detected in all three carbapenem-susceptible *A. radioresistens* isolates and in one carbapenem-resistant *A. baumannii* isolate. *bla*_{OXA-23-like} was associates with an upstream IS*Aba1* element only in the *A. baumannii* isolate.
- A novel mutation, Ser-80 to Tyr, in the QRDR of ParC was identified in one *A*. *baumannii* isolate showing high-level resistance to ciprofloxacin, levofloxacin and nalidixic acid.

Paper II

- The isolates belonged to CC2^P/CC92^B/international clone II (*n*=7), CC1^P/ST194^B/SG9 (*n*=2), CC1^P/CC109^B/international clone I (*n*=1), and ST15^P/CC104^B/SG4 (*n*=1).
- Resistance to carpabenems was due the occurrence of acquired OXA-carbapenemase genes including: *bla*_{OXA-23-like} (*n*=9), *bla*_{OXA-24-like} (*n*=1), and *bla*_{OXA-58-like} (*n*=1).
- Analysis of the genetic environment of *bla*_{OXA-23-like} revealed a putative occurrence of Tn2006 and Tn2008 in seven and one isolates, respectively.
- High levels of aminoglycoside-resistance, detected in four isolates, were associated with identification of the 16S rRNA methylase *armA* gene.
- Class 1 integrons with six different variable regions carrying various combinations of eight resistance genes were detected in seven isolates.

Paper III

- The isolates belonged to ST2^P/international clone II (*n*=6), ST23^P/SG5 (*n*=2), ST25^P/SG12 (*n*=2), ST5^P/SG7 (*n*=1), and ST109^P/SG13 (*n*=2).
- Resistance to carpabenems was due the occurrence of acquired OXA-carbapenemase genes including: *bla*_{OXA-58-like} (*n*=7), *bla*_{OXA-23-like} (*n*=5), and *bla*_{OXA-24-like} (*n*=1).
- ISAba825 was detected upstream of bla_{OXA-58-like} in two isolates.
- None of the previously known IS elements were detected upstream of *bla*_{OXA-58-like} in one isolate.
- Class 1 integrons with three different variable regions carrying various combinations of six resistance genes were detected in six isolates.

Paper IV

- VITEK 2 correctly identified 9 *A. baumannii* and 3 *A. lwoffii* isolates to the species level. BD Phoenix correctly identified 5 *A. baumannii* isolates to the species level. On the other hand, MALDI-TOF MS correctly identified 22 *A. pittii*, 10 *A. baumannii*, 8 *A. lwoffii*, 3 *A. ursingii*, 3 *A. radioresistens*, and 1 *A. calcoaceticus* isolates to the species level.
- Only MALDI-TOF MS was able to distinguish isolates of *A. pitti* from those of *A. baumannii*.
- None of the three commercial systems was able to identify isolates of *A*. *nosocomialis*.

5. Discussion

5.1. Species distribution in blood culture isolates from Norway

A. baumannii has frequently been considered the most clinically relevant *Acinetobacter* species worldwide [24]. However, our study revealed that only 10/113 (8.8%) of the consecutive blood culture isolates of *Acinetobacter* species from Norway belonged to *A. baumannii*. The study showed that *A. nosocomialis* and *A. pittii* were the most predominant *Acinetobacter* species with 53/113 (46.9%) and 23/113 (19.5%) of the isolates, respectively (Paper I). A drawback of my study was the lack of clinical data on each case, including the separation between colonization and infection, determination of injury severity scores, utilization of mechanical ventilation and catheterization, application of antimicrobial therapy, and outcomes.

The ability to persist on inanimate dry surfaces (humidifiers, hospital equipments, furniture, mattresses) and animate (human skin and mucus membranes) objects is probably a main factor in the long-term existence of particular *Acinetobacter* spp. in the hospital setting which subsequently results in a prolonged opportunity to infect patients [71]. However, although *A. baumannii* is the most prevalent *Acinetobacter* species in clinical samples, it is not the most prevalent *Acinetobacter* species in the hospital environment. *A. radioresistens* was more commonly detected than *A. baumannii* among environmental specimens obtained from pillows at one Dutch hospital [148]. Besides, *A. pittii* was more commonly detected than *A. baumannii* on the skin of patients and student nurses from Hong Kong [45]. *A. lwoffii* and *A. johnsonii* were the most commonly detected *Acinetobacter* species on skin and mucus membranes of inpatients and control non-hospitalized persons from Germany [43].

A study from USA showed that among 87 *A. baumannii* clinical isolates, 61 isolates (70%) were associated with infection and only 26 isolates (30%) were associated with colonization whereas among 20 non-*A. baumanni* clinical isolates, only 2 isolates (10%)

were associated with infection and 18 isolates (90%) were associated with colonization [62]. Accodingly, *A. baumannii* probably demonstrates an increased ability to infect, rather than to colonize, and then to cause an outbreak of infections, compared to other *Acinetobacter* species [24, 62]. The explanation could basically be that *A. baumannii* is genotypically more able to infect a vulnerable patient (probably following a temporary/prolonged colonization of the patient's gastrointestinal tracts) and then to cross-infect more patients (probably via a temporary/prolonged colonization of the hands of healthcare professionals or contamination of a medical device) compared to the non-*A. baumannii* species [24, 49].

Therefore, in addition to the incorrect and uncertain species identification applied by some studies, the reason why many studies from different countries have repeatedly reported *A. baumannii* to be more prevalent in clinical speciemens than other *Acinetobacter* species could, in my opinion, be because these studies have included replicates of the same strain. A recent Dutch study revealed that *A. baumannii* was involved in one large cluster (32 isolates) and nine small clusters (2-5 isolates) of isolates whereas other species (*A. ursingii*, *A. pittii*, *A. nosocomialis*, *A. berezinae*, and *A. beyerinckii*) were all together involved in only seven small clusters (2-5 isolates) [64]. The study showed that *A. baumannii* would be more prevalent than *A. pitti* if all the isolates were included. However, *A. baumannii* would be as common as *A. pitti* if the large cluster of *A. baumannii* was not included. Furthermore, *A. pitti* would exceed *A. baumannii* in the number of isolates if the small clusters were not included.

The limited contribution of *A. baumannii* in our collection of *Acinetobacter* blood culture isolates might therefore be due to (i) the presence of better conditions in the Norwegian clinical settings (less-crowded hospitals), (ii) the restricted use of antibiotics, and (iii) the application of more strict infection control regimes in Norway compared to other countries [149]. These factors will restrict the capacity of *A. baumannii* (more than other *Acinetobacter* species) to infect and cross-infect patients. Improvements in the health sector of some countries might, in my opinion, change the *Acinetobacter* species distribution in clinical isolates. However, epidemiological studies should, in my opinion,

never exclude replicate isolates as long as obtained from different patients since this would under-estimate the high ability of particular species (such as *A. baumannii*) to infect and cross-infect patients.

5.2. Predominance of CC92^B/CC2^P/international clone II

Analysis of the molecular epidemiology of *A. baumannii* clinical isolates obtained from Norway and Sweden yielded results consistent with other studies on the extensive distribution of $CC92^{B}/CC2^{P}/international$ clone II worldwide (Papers II and III). Several factors and several approaches of evolution might be proposed to explain the predominance of this clone, and other clones, in the global population of *A. baumannii* (Figure 6).

The occurrence of a successful spread for isolates of CC92^B/CC2^P/international clone II might be due to a large clonal spread of one recent ancestor. The theory has been supported by a study from Korea showing that all the carbapenem-resistant ST92^B isolates obtained from five cities belonged to one outbreak pulsotype [144]. Furthermore, eight of nine carbapenem-resistant isolates of ST92^B obtained from three continents showed related PFGE patterns [135]. The nation-wide and worldwide spread of isolates is probably provoked by the massive increase of international travel, including transfer of patients among different countries.

On the other hand, the worldwide spread of $CC92^{B}/CC2^{P}/international clone II could also$ be related to independent but parallel emergence of smaller clones expanding from $several progenitors and probably one older ancestor. The carbapenem-resistant <math>ST92^{B}$ isolates obtained from 16 cities in China (*n*=72) were distributed among at least three outbreak pulsotypes [142]. Furthermore, a number of carbapenem-resistant $ST92^{B}$ isolates from China belonged to sporadic pulsotypes [144]. Similarly, distinct pulsotypes were assigned to isolates from the $CC92^{B}$ obtained in Norway (Paper II). The similarity in resistance traits and determinants among isolates of distinct pulsotypes (proposed to be independently-emerging) could be due to comparable selection pressures in different parts of the world [99]. Of note, using PFGE data to compare the two theories might consider by some authors as a main drawback since PFGE may lose its discriminatory power when analyzing isolates from geographically diverse areas [131].

One factor to explain the predominance of CC92^B/CC2^P/international clone II could be that specific genotypes probably have increased capacity for epidemic spread than other genotypes. In other words, particular strains are genotypically more able to spread than other strains. Nonetheless, the presence of determinants associated with increased capability of transmission, colonization, and/or invasion which may explain the epidemic behavior of these particular strains is so far unknown and has yet to be investigated [24].

Acquisition of antibiotic-resistance mechanisms and the evolution from antibioticsusceptible to MDRand carbapenem-resistant to pandrug-resistant CC92^B/CC2^P/international clone II is probably another essential factor in the predominance of CC92^B/CC2^P/international clone II. A. baumannii demonstrates a remarkable propensity to rapidly acquire resistance determinants to a wide range of antibacterial agents [150]. The acquisition of antimicrobial resistance determinants increases the ability of A. baumannii strains to survive in the hospital setting, providing them more time for dissemination and further clonal expansion [61]. CC92^B isolates have frequently expressed higher resistance rates to all antimicrobial agents than the other genotypes [61]. However, it has not been investigated if particular genotypes (such as ST92^B) have a higher ability to acquire resistance genes compared to other genotypes.

The emergence of drug-resistant $CC92^{B}/CC2^{P}$ /international clone II has most likely resulted from independent events of acquisition of various resistance determinants using different mobile elements [135]. Acquisition of $bla_{OXA-23-like}$ has, for instance, been a major mechanism of carbapenem-resistance in $CC92^{B}/CC2^{P}$ /international clone II [144]. The identification of $bla_{OXA-23-like}$ in all *A. radioresistens* isolates has indicated intrinsic occurrence, and carbapenem-susceptible *A. radioresistens* has accordingly been proposed as the silent source of $bla_{OXA-23-like}$ -based carbapenem-resistance in other *Acinetobacter* spp [151] (Paper I). However, the identification of different genetic structures surrounding $bla_{OXA-23-like}$ (e. g. transposons Tn2006 and Tn2008) indicates concurrent but independent events of acquisition of $bla_{OXA-23-like}$, probably due to comparable selective pressures related to comparable increased carbapenem usage in different geographic areas [106, 110, 135].



Figure 6. Predominance of $CC92^{B}/CC2^{P}$ /international clone II. Favorable genetic background and acquisition of foreign genes are proposed to be main factors for the emergence of particular strains with increased epidemicity than other strains. International travel and independent but parallel emergence are probable hypotheses for the extensive worldwide distribution.

5.3. Class 1 integrons in A. baumannii

Integrons essentially consist of an integrase gene (*intI*) and an adjacent integration site (*attI*), together composing the 5° conserved segment (5°CS) [152] (Figure 7). In addition, class 1 integrons typically contain a combination of a truncated antiseptic-resistance gene ($\Delta qacE$), a sulfonamide-resistance gene (*sulI*), and an open reading frame of unknown function (*orf5*), together representing the 3° conserved segment (3°CS) [153]. A variable region of gene cassettes can then be situated between 5°CS and 3°CS [153]. Importantly, gene cassettes are mobilized by the integrase enzyme (IntI) while class 1 integrons by themselves are non-mobile [152].



Figure 7. Outline of the process of integron-mediated insertion of a circular gene cassette. The integrase gene (*intI*) located in the 5' conserved ssegment (5'CS) encodes a site-specific recombinase enzyme (IntI). The Integrase mediates a recombination event between specific attachment sites (*attI* and *attC*). The inserted open reading frame (orf) is expressed by the strong promoter Pc located in the 5'CS.

The ability of class 1 integrons to capture various gene cassettes involved in antibiotic resistance has significantly contributed to the dissemination of multidrug-resistant bacterial strains worldwide [154]. In addition, analysis of the geographic distribution of

class 1 integrons with particular variable regions might be important in detecting the emergence and pattern of spread of particular clones of bacteria [99]. One aim of papers II and III was to detect and charaterize class 1 integrons among 24 multidrug- and carbapenem-resistant *A. baumannii* isolates obtained in Norway and Sweden. Our study revealed the occurrence of class 1 integrons with eight different variable regions (Table 10). Interestingly, particular class 1 integrons revealed a broad worldwide and multi-clonal distribution whereas other class 1 integrons showed a relatively less extensive continent-limited geographical spread.

Variable region	Isolate	Country (import) and year of isolation	Genetic background
aacA4-orfO-bla _{OXA-20}	K12-21	Norway (Greece), 2004	ST45 ^P /ST189 ^B /int. clone II
	AO-12066 (K51-54)	Sweden (no import), 2004	ST2 ^P /int. clone II
	AO-12327 (K51-63)	Sweden (Greece), 2005	ST2 ^P /int. clone II
	AO-15204 (K51-59)	Sweden (Greece), 2006	ST2 ^P /int. clone II
	AO-8058 (K51-53)	Sweden (Greece), 2007	ST2 ^P /int. clone II
aac(6')-Im-aadA1	K44-35	Norway (Thailand), 2007	ST2 ^P /ST190 ^B /int. clone II
aacC1-orfP-orfP-orfQ-aadA1	K47-42	Norway (China), 2007	ST2 ^P /ST191 ^B /int. clone II
aacA4-catB8-aadA1	K47-42	Norway (China), 2007	ST2 ^P /ST191 ^B /int. clone II
	K58-19	Norway (Italy), 2009	ST2 ^P /ST118 ^B /int. clone II
aacC1-orfP-orfQ-aadA1	K48-42	Norway (India), 2008	ST1 ^P /ST192 ^B /int. clone I
arr2-cmlA5	K71-71	Norway (Pakistan), 2009	ST15 ^P /ST103 ^B /SG4
aadB-aadA1-IS	AO-8866 (K51-58)	Sweden (Poland), 2006	ST5 ^P /SG7
bla _{GES-11} -aacA4-dfrA7	AO-21841 (K51-61)	Sweden (no import), 2006	ST25 ^P /SG12

Table 10. Class 1 integrons with 8 different variable regions detected in Papers II and III

Class 1 integron with the variable region aacA4-orfO-bla_{OXA-20} was detected in five isolates obtained in Norway (n=1) and Sweden (n=4) (Papers II and III). Interestingly, all the five isolates belonged to international clone II. Furthermore, the Norwegian isolate and three of the Swedish isolates were associated with import from Greece. To my knowledge, the aacA4-orfO-bla_{OXA-20} variable region has so far been detected only in *A*. baumannii isolates (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genbank/) [99, 155-159]. Furthermore, it has exclusively been detected in isolates obtained from Europe (France, Italy, Spain, Norway, and Sweden) with a frequent occurrence in Greece [99, 155-159] (Papers II and III). Interestingly, the Greek and Italian isolates reported by Nemec *et al.* and D'Arezzo *et al.* were found to belong to international clone II as well [99, 159]. Whole-genome sequence analysis of an Italian MDR *A. baumannii* clinical isolate "ACICU", also

belonging to international clone II, revealed an interesting occurrence of the *aacA4-orfO-bla*_{OXA-20} variable region within a chromosomal resistance island designated as AbaR2 [119].

The identification of class 1 integron with aac(6')-Im-aadA1 in a Norwegian isolate imported from Thailand (Southeast Asia) was, from a geographic point of view, fairly consistent with previous studies reporting the occurrence of this integron in *A. baumannii* isolates from Korea (East Asia) (unpublished study, GenBank accession no: CP001921) [101] (Paper II). However, the *aadA1* cassette was disrupted by IS26 in the Korean isolates. Of note, the variable region aac(6')-Im-aadA1 has so far been detected only in *A. baumannii* isolates (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genbank/) [101] (Paper II). Interestingly, the Norwegian isolate (K44-35) belonged to international clone II indicating that geographical boundaries might be an important factor in the emergence of intra-clonal clusters of isolates (subclones) showing distinct genomic markers [99] (Paper II).

On the other hand, results of our work extended the broad worldwide distribution (Australia, China, Malaysia, and many European countries) of class 1 integrons with the variable regions *aacC1-orfP-orfQ-orfQ-aadA1* and *aacC1-orfP-orfQ-aadA1* among *A. baumannii* isolates of both international clones I and II [99, 153, 156-163] (Papers II and III). The variable region *aacC1-orfP-orfQ-aadA1* was also found in an equine isolate obtained from Ireland [164]. Interestingly, the variable region *aacC1-orfP-orfQ-aadA1* has also been detected in *Klebsiella pneumoniae* (unpublished study, GenBank accession no: HM589045). Of note, the variable region *aacC1-orfP-orfP-orfQ-aadA1* was located within the resistance islands AbaR1, AbaR5, and AbaR6 in *A. baumannii* strains AYE (France), 3208 (Australia) and D2 (Australia), respectively, whereas *aacC1-orfP-orfQ-aadA1* was situated in AbaR3 and AbaR7 in *A. baumannii* strains AB0057 (USA) and A92 (Australia), respectively [150, 165-167].

The occurrence of these integrons in isolates from distinct clones and different worldwide locations indicates that these integrons are (i) remarkably stable, (ii) extremely valuable

for the host bacteria, and (iii) essential in the dissemination of particular antibiotic resistance genes [100]. Stability in this context refers to the occurrence of class 1 integrons with conserved and stable variable regions [99]. In other words, it means that the resistance genes located in class 1 integrons are transferred as part of the entire integron structure more often than as individual gene cassettes [168].

A scattered distribution (UK, Italy, and China) has been reported for class 1 integron with the variable region *aacA4-catB8-aadA1* [160, 163, 169, 170] (Paper II). Similarly, a limited but dispersed distribution (Sweden, France, Turkey, Palestine, and Egypt) has been reported for class 1 integron with the variable region *bla*_{GES-11}-*aacA4-dfrA7* [75, 78, 171] (Paper III). The *aacA4-catB8-aadA1* variable region has also been identified in several other bacterial genera such as *Enterobacter cloacae*, *Escherichia coli*, *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Burkholderia cepacia* (unpublished studies, GenBank accession no.: HM175870, HM175872, DQ141317, HM989924, and HQ880251, respectively), and *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia* [172] whereas the *bla*_{GES-11}-*aacA4-dfrA7* variable region has so far been identified only in *A. bamannii* isolates (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genbank/) [75, 78, 171]. The occurrence of *aacA4-catB8aadA1* in different host genera also indicates the remarkabe stability and extreme valuability of this integron [168]. However, the less geographic distribution in the *A. baumannii* global society is probably due to a recent acquisition of *aacA4-catB8-aadA1* compared to *aacC1-orfP-orfQ-aadA1* and *aacC1-orfP-orfQ-aadA1*.

Class 1 integron with the variable region *aadB-aadA*1-IS has not been reported before in *A. baumannii* isolates; it has previously been detected only in a swine *E. coli* isolate from Germany and on a plasmid recovered from a wastewater treatment plant [173, 174] (Paper III). To my knowledge, class 1 integron with the variable region *arr2-cm1A5* with no other gene cassettes has been reported for the first time by our research group (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genbank/) (Paper II). The variable region *arr2-cm1A5* has subsequently been detected in an *A. baumannii* isolate from Kenya (unpublished study, GenBank accession no: HQ141279).

5.4. MALDI-TOF MS for precise Acinetobacter species identification

The capability of MALDI-TOF MS to accomplish species identification in less than one hour makes it particularly suitable for routine clinical laboratories (4). Previously, species identification of 552 well-characterized *Acinetobacter* strains representing 15 different species using the MALDI-TOF MS system has demonstrated a good capability for identification of most of the species [26]. A recent study from Spain demonstrated that MALDI-TOF MS was able to correctly identify both reference strains and clinical isolates belonging to *A. junii*, *A. haemolyticus*, *A. lwoffii*, *A. radioresistens*, *A. calcoaceticus*, *A. baumannii*, and *A. pittii* [175]. Only isolates belonging to *A. nosocomialis* reference strain in the database provided by the system "Bruker database". Nonetheless, the analysis identified unique MALDI-TOF MS patterns for every given species, including *A. nosocomialis*, allowing rapid and direct assertion of isolates into these species [175].

Our study showed that MALDI-TOF MS was suitable for precise species identification of isolates belonging to *A. baumannii* and *A. pittii* (the most prevalent *Acinetobacter* species in clinical isolates) as well as isolates belonging to *A. lwoffii*, *A. ursingii*, *A. radioresistens*, and *A. calcoaceticus* (*Acinetobacter* species encountered less frequently in clinical isolates) (Paper IV). MALDI-TOF MS incorrectly identified isolates belonging to *A. soli* and *Acinetobacter* gen. sp. "close to towneri" as *A. baylyi* and *A. towneri*, respectively. However, the closeness of these species demonstrated by MALDI-TOF MS was consistent with the outcomes of *rpoB* and *16S rDNA* sequence analyses, confirming the high capability of MALDI-TOF MS (Paper I). Similar to the previously mentioned study from Spain, the main drawback of MALDI-TOF MS was the incorrect identification of isolates belonging to *A. nosocomialis* since it has so far been not included in the BioTyper database (Table 11).

Table 11. List of the Activetobacter spp. reference su	ans included in biol yper database
Acinetobacter baumannii 13101_1 CHB	Acinetobacter pittii Serovar 7 DSM 9308 DSM
Acinetobacter baumannii B389 UFL	Acinetobacter pittii Serovar 8 DSM 9309 DSM
Acinetobacter baumannii DSM 30007T HAM	Acinetobacter gerneri DSM 14967T HAM
Acinetobacter baumannii DSM 30008 DSM	Acinetobacter haemolyticus DSM 6962T DSM
Acinetobacter baumannii DSM 30011 DSM	Acinetobacter haemolyticus LMG 1033 HAM
Acinetobacter baumannii LMG 994 HAM	Acinetobacter johnsonii 10036669_102 USH
Acinetobacter baylyi DSM 14959 DSM	Acinetobacter johnsonii 2_1 TUB
Acinetobacter baylyi DSM 14961T DSM	Acinetobacter johnsonii DSM 6963T DSM
Acinetobacter baylyi DSM 14963 DSM	Acinetobacter johnsonii DSM 6963T HAM
Acinetobacter bouvetii DSM 14964T DSM	Acinetobacter junii DSM 14968 HAM
Acinetobacter calcoaceticus B388 UFL	Acinetobacter junii DSM 1532 DSM
Acinetobacter calcoaceticus CCM 4503 CCM	Acinetobacter junii DSM 6964T HAM
Acinetobacter calcoaceticus CCM 4665 CCM	Acinetobacter lwoffii 2_Ring240 MHH
Acinetobacter calcoaceticus DSM 1139 DSM	Acinetobacter lwoffii B101 UFL
Acinetobacter calcoaceticus DSM 30006T HAM	Acinetobacter lwoffii B138 UFL
Acinetobacter guillouiae DSM 590 DSM	Acinetobacter lwoffii DSM 2403T DSM
Acinetobacter pittii Serovar 1 DSM 9337 DSM	Acinetobacter lwoffii LB_101249_09 ERL
Acinetobacter pittii Serovar 13 DSM 9312 DSM	Acinetobacter parvus DSM 16617T HAM
Acinetobacter pittii Serovar 14 DSM 9313 DSM	Acinetobacter radioresistens B381 UFL
Acinetobacter pittii Serovar 15 DSM 9314 DSM	Acinetobacter radioresistens DSM 6976T HAM
Acinetobacter pittii Serovar 18 DSM 9341 DSM	Acinetobacter radioresistens LMG 10614 HAM
Acinetobacter pittii Serovar 2 DSM 9306 DSM	Acinetobacter schindleri DSM 16038T DSM
Acinetobacter pittii Serovar 20 DSM 9317 DSM	Acinetobacter sp. DSM 11042 DSM
Acinetobacter pittii Serovar 21 DSM 9342 DSM	Acinetobacter sp. DSM 11652 DSM
Acinetobacter pittii Serovar 22 DSM 9318 DSM	Acinetobacter sp. DSM 30009 DSM
Acinetobacter pittii Serovar 23 DSM 9319 DSM	Acinetobacter sp. DSM 46612 DSM
Acinetobacter pittii Serovar 24 DSM 9320 DSM	Acinetobacter tandoii DSM 14970T HAM
Acinetobacter pittii Serovar 25 DSM 9343 DSM	Acinetobacter tjernbergiae DSM 14966 DSM
Acinetobacter pittii Serovar 26 DSM 9321 DSM	Acinetobacter tjernbergiae DSM 14971T HAM
Acinetobacter pittii Serovar 3 DSM 9307 DSM	Acinetobacter towneri DSM 14962T HAM
Acinetobacter pittii Serovar 4 DSM 9338 DSM	Acinetobacter towneri DSM 14969 DSM
Acinetobacter pittii Serovar 6 DSM 9340 DSM	Acinetobacter ursingii DSM 16037T HAM

 Table 11. List of the Acinetobacter spp. reference strains included in BioTyper database

Our study aimed to compare the performance of MALDI-TOF MS with two colorimetric semi-automated systems (VITEK 2 and Phoenix) for precise *Acinetobacter* species identification in routine clinical laboratories. Accordingly, the comparisions were performed based only on the concluding identification outcome provided by the system (for instance, no comparision was performed among MALDI-TOF MS patterns of different species). Overall, the study confirmed that MALDI-TOF MS represented a promising system for fast, simple, and reliable identification of members from the genus *Acinetobacter*. However, the system failed to correctly identify isolates of *A. nosocomialis* due to lack in the current database. Consequently, frequent updating of the supplementary databases is probably a major factor in improving the performance of the MALDI-TOF MS system.

6. Concluding remarks

Acinetobacter baumannii is an important opportunistic pathogen that has a considerable capacity to acquire mechanisms conferring resistance to a wide range of antimicrobial drugs.

The high proportion of *A. nosocomialis*, *A. pittii* in blood culture isolates from Norway points to the significant contribution of these species in the clinical setting and demonstrates the importance of molecular identification for precise *Acinetobacter* species identification.

The predominance of the highly-successful $CC92^{B}/CC2^{P}/international clone II in the current global$ *A. baumannii*population has now been established. However, several other long-standing or recently-emerging*A. baumannii*clones have certainly played a major supplementary role in the worldwide spread of MDR*A. baumannii*.

The emergence of epidemic MDR *A. baumannii* clones in Norway and Sweden indicates the necessity of a screening programme for patients after hospitalization abroad, and strict infection control regimes to prevent further dissemination.

The protein-fingerprinting-based MALDI-TOF MS system offers a promising tool for the precise species identification of *Acinetobacter* isolates in routine clinical laboratories.

7. References

- 1. Bergogne-Berezin E, Towner KJ: Acinetobacter spp. as nosocomial pathogens: microbiological, clinical, and epidemiological features. Clin Microbiol Rev 1996, 9(2):148-165.
- 2. Peleg AY, Seifert H, Paterson DL: *Acinetobacter baumannii*: emergence of a successful pathogen. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 2008, **21**(3):538-582.
- 3. Bouvet PJM, Grimont PAD: Taxonomy of the genus Acinetobacter with the recognition of Acinetobacter baumannii sp. nov., Acinetobacter haemolyticus sp. nov., Acinetobacter johnsonii sp. nov., and Acinetobacter junii sp. nov. and emended descriptions of Acinetobacter calcoaceticus and Acinetobacter lwoffii. Int J Syst Bacteriol 1986, 36(2):228-240.
- 4. Nishimura Y, Ino T, Iizuka H: *Acinetobacter radioresistens* sp. nov. isolated from cotton and soil. *Int J Syst Bacteriol* 1988, **38**(2):209-211.
- 5. Bouvet PJ, Jeanjean S: **Delineation of new proteolytic genomic species in the genus** *Acinetobacter*. *Res Microbiol* 1989, **140**(4-5):291-299.
- 6. Tjernberg I, Ursing J: Clinical strains of *Acinetobacter* classified by DNA-DNA hybridization. *APMIS* 1989, **97**(7):595-605.
- 7. Gerner-Smidt P, Tjernberg I, Ursing J: **Reliability of phenotypic tests for** identification of *Acinetobacter* species. *J Clin Microbiol* 1991, **29**(2):277-282.
- 8. Gerner-Smidt P, Tjernberg I: *Acinetobacter* in Denmark: II. Molecular studies of the *Acinetobacter calcoaceticus-Acinetobacter baumannii* complex. *APMIS* 1993, **101**(11):826-832.
- 9. Di Cello F, Pepi M, Baldi F, Fani R: Molecular characterization of an *n*-alkane-degrading bacterial community and identification of a new species, *Acinetobacter venetianus*. *Res Microbiol* 1997, **148**(3):237-249.
- Vaneechoutte M, Tjernberg I, Baldi F, Pepi M, Fani R, Sullivan ER, van der Toorn J, Dijkshoorn L: Oil-degrading Acinetobacter strain RAG-1 and strains described as 'Acinetobacter venetianus sp. nov.' belong to the same genomic species. Res Microbiol 1999, 150(1):69-73.
- Vaneechoutte M, Nemec A, Musilek M, van der Reijden TJ, van den Barselaar M, Tjernberg I, Calame W, Fani R, De Baere T, Dijkshoorn L: Description of Acinetobacter venetianus ex Di Cello et al. 1997 sp. nov. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 2009, 59(Pt 6):1376-1381.

- Nemec A, De Baere T, Tjernberg I, Vaneechoutte M, van der Reijden TJ, Dijkshoorn L: Acinetobacter ursingii sp. nov. and Acinetobacter schindleri sp. nov., isolated from human clinical specimens. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 2001, 51(Pt 5):1891-1899.
- 13. Nemec A, Dijkshoorn L, Cleenwerck I, De Baere T, Janssens D, Van Der Reijden TJ, Jezek P, Vaneechoutte M: *Acinetobacter parvus* sp. nov., a small-colony-forming species isolated from human clinical specimens. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* 2003, **53**(Pt 5):1563-1567.
- Carr EL, Kampfer P, Patel BK, Gurtler V, Seviour RJ: Seven novel species of Acinetobacter isolated from activated sludge. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 2003, 53(Pt 4):953-963.
- 15. Vaneechoutte M, De Baere T, Nemec A, Musilek M, van der Reijden TJ, Dijkshoorn L: Reclassification of Acinetobacter grimontii Carr et al. 2003 as a later synonym of Acinetobacter junii Bouvet and Grimont 1986. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 2008, 58(Pt 4):937-940.
- 16. Kilic A, Li H, Mellmann A, Basustaoglu AC, Kul M, Senses Z, Aydogan H, Stratton CW, Harmsen D, Tang YW: *Acinetobacter septicus* sp. nov. association with a nosocomial outbreak of bacteremia in a neonatal intensive care unit. *J Clin Microbiol* 2008, **46**(3):902-908.
- Nemec A, Musilek M, Vaneechoute M, Falsen E, Dijkshoorn L: Lack of evidence for "Acinetobacter septicus" as a species different from Acinetobacter ursingii? J Clin Microbiol 2008, 46(8):2826-2827; author reply 2827.
- Kim D, Baik KS, Kim MS, Park SC, Kim SS, Rhee MS, Kwak YS, Seong CN: *Acinetobacter soli* sp. nov., isolated from forest soil. J Microbiol 2008, 46(4):396-401.
- Nemec A, Musilek M, Maixnerova M, De Baere T, van der Reijden TJ, Vaneechoutte M, Dijkshoorn L: Acinetobacter beijerinckii sp. nov. and Acinetobacter gyllenbergii sp. nov., haemolytic organisms isolated from humans. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 2009, 59(Pt 1):118-124.
- Nemec A, Musilek M, Sedo O, De Baere T, Maixnerova M, van der Reijden TJ, Zdrahal Z, Vaneechoutte M, Dijkshoorn L: Acinetobacter bereziniae sp. nov. and Acinetobacter guillouiae sp. nov., to accommodate Acinetobacter genomic species 10 and 11, respectively. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 2010, 60(Pt 4):896-903.

- 21. Nemec A, Krizova L, Maixnerova M, van der Reijden TJ, Deschaght P, Passet V, Vaneechoutte M, Brisse S, Dijkshoorn L: Genotypic and phenotypic characterization of the Acinetobacter calcoaceticus-Acinetobacter baumannii complex with the proposal of Acinetobacter pittii sp. nov. (formerly Acinetobacter genomic species 3) and Acinetobacter nosocomialis sp. nov. (formerly Acinetobacter genomic species 13TU). Res Microbiol 2011.
- 22. La Scola B, Gundi VA, Khamis A, Raoult D: Sequencing of the *rpoB* gene and flanking spacers for molecular identification of *Acinetobacter* species. *J Clin Microbiol* 2006, **44**(3):827-832.
- 23. Barbe V, Vallenet D, Fonknechten N, Kreimeyer A, Oztas S, Labarre L, Cruveiller S, Robert C, Duprat S, Wincker P *et al*: Unique features revealed by the genome sequence of *Acinetobacter* sp. ADP1, a versatile and naturally transformation competent bacterium. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2004, 32(19):5766-5779.
- 24. Dijkshoorn L, Nemec A, Seifert H: An increasing threat in hospitals: multidrug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii. Nat Rev Microbiol 2007, 5(12):939-951.
- 25. Boo TW, Walsh F, Crowley B: Molecular characterization of carbapenemresistant *Acinetobacter* species in an Irish university hospital: predominance of *Acinetobacter* genomic species 3. *J Med Microbiol* 2009, 58(Pt 2):209-216.
- Seifert H, Dijkshoorn L, Gielen J, Nemec A, Osterhage K, Erhard M, Krut O: Evaluation of MALDI-TOF MS for identification of Acinetobacter species. In: 107th General Meeting of the American Society for Microbiology. vol. abstract C-172; 2007.
- 27. Chen TL, Siu LK, Wu RC, Shaio MF, Huang LY, Fung CP, Lee CM, Cho WL: Comparison of one-tube multiplex PCR, automated ribotyping and intergenic spacer (ITS) sequencing for rapid identification of *Acinetobacter baumannii*. Clin Microbiol Infect 2007, **13**(8):801-806.
- Turton JF, Woodford N, Glover J, Yarde S, Kaufmann ME, Pitt TL: Identification of Acinetobacter baumannii by detection of the bla_{OXA-51-like} carbapenemase gene intrinsic to this species. J Clin Microbiol 2006, 44(8):2974-2976.
- Figueiredo S, Poirel L, Seifert H, Mugnier P, Benhamou D, Nordmann P: OXA-134, a naturally occurring carbapenem-hydrolyzing class D ß-lactamase from Acinetobacter lwoffii. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2010, 54(12):5372-5375.
- Janssen P, Maquelin K, Coopman R, Tjernberg I, Bouvet P, Kersters K, Dijkshoorn L: Discrimination of Acinetobacter genomic species by AFLP fingerprinting. Int J Syst Bacteriol 1997, 47(4):1179-1187.
- 31. Vaneechoutte M, Dijkshoorn L, Tjernberg I, Elaichouni A, de Vos P, Claeys G, Verschraegen G: Identification of *Acinetobacter* genomic species by amplified ribosomal DNA restriction analysis. *J Clin Microbiol* 1995, **33**(1):11-15.
- 32. Dolzani L, Tonin E, Lagatolla C, Prandin L, Monti-Bragadin C: Identification of *Acinetobacter* isolates in the *A. calcoaceticus-A. baumannii* complex by restriction analysis of the 16S-23S rRNA intergenic-spacer sequences. *J Clin Microbiol* 1995, 33(5):1108-1113.
- 33. Nowak A, Kur J: Genomic species typing of acinetobacters by polymerase chain reaction amplification of the *recA* gene. *FEMSMicrobiology Letters* 1995, **130**:327–332.
- 34. Ibrahim A, Gerner-Smidt P, Liesack W: **Phylogenetic relationship of the** twenty-one DNA groups of the genus *Acinetobacter* as revealed by 16S ribosomal DNA sequence analysis. *Int J Syst Bacteriol* 1997, **47**(3):837-841.
- 35. Chang HC, Wei YF, Dijkshoorn L, Vaneechoutte M, Tang CT, Chang TC: Species-level identification of isolates of the *Acinetobacter calcoaceticus*-*Acinetobacter baumannii* complex by sequence analysis of the 16S-23S rRNA gene spacer region. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005, **43**(4):1632-1639.
- 36. Yamamoto S, Harayama S: **Phylogenetic analysis of** *Acinetobacter* strains based on the nucleotide sequences of *gyrB* genes and on the amino acid sequences of their products. *Int J Syst Bacteriol* 1996, **46**(2):506-511.
- 37. Krawczyk B, Lewandowski K, Kur J: Comparative studies of the Acinetobacter genus and the species identification method based on the *recA* sequences. *Mol* Cell Probes 2002, **16**(1):1-11.
- 38. Ecker JA, Massire C, Hall TA, Ranken R, Pennella TT, Agasino Ivy C, Blyn LB, Hofstadler SA, Endy TP, Scott PT *et al*: Identification of *Acinetobacter* species and genotyping of *Acinetobacter baumannii* by multilocus PCR and mass spectrometry. *J Clin Microbiol* 2006, 44(8):2921-2932.
- 39. Diancourt L, Passet V, Nemec A, Dijkshoorn L, Brisse S: The population structure of *Acinetobacter baumannii*: expanding multiresistant clones from an ancestral susceptible genetic pool. *PLoS One* 2010, **5**(4):e10034.

- 40. Gundi VA, Dijkshoorn L, Burignat S, Raoult D, La Scola B: Validation of partial *rpoB* gene sequence analysis for the identification of clinically important and emerging *Acinetobacter* species. *Microbiology* 2009, 155(Pt 7):2333-2341.
- 41. Hartzell JD, Kim AS, Kortepeter MG, Moran KA: *Acinetobacter pneumonia*: a review. *MedGenMed* 2007, **9**(3):4.
- 42. Dijkshoorn L, Aucken HM, Gerner-Smidt P, Kaufmann ME, Ursing J, Pitt TL: Correlation of typing methods for *Acinetobacter* isolates from hospital outbreaks. J Clin Microbiol 1993, **31**(3):702-705.
- Seifert H, Dijkshoorn L, Gerner-Smidt P, Pelzer N, Tjernberg I, Vaneechoutte M: Distribution of Acinetobacter species on human skin: comparison of phenotypic and genotypic identification methods. J Clin Microbiol 1997, 35(11):2819-2825.
- 44. Berlau J, Aucken H, Malnick H, Pitt T: **Distribution of** *Acinetobacter* **species on skin of healthy humans**. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis* 1999, **18**(3):179-183.
- 45. Chu YW, Leung CM, Houang ET, Ng KC, Leung CB, Leung HY, Cheng AF: Skin carriage of acinetobacters in Hong Kong. J Clin Microbiol 1999, 37(9):2962-2967.
- 46. Zeana C, Larson E, Sahni J, Bayuga SJ, Wu F, Della-Latta P: **The epidemiology** of multidrug-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii*: does the community represent a reservoir? *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* 2003, **24**(4):275-279.
- 47. Dijkshoorn L, van Aken E, Shunburne L, van der Reijden TJ, Bernards AT, Nemec A, Towner KJ: **Prevalence of** *Acinetobacter baumannii* and other *Acinetobacter* spp. in faecal samples from non-hospitalised individuals. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2005, **11**(4):329-332.
- 48. Corbella X, Pujol M, Ayats J, Sendra M, Ardanuy C, Dominguez MA, Linares J, Ariza J, Gudiol F: **Relevance of digestive tract colonization in the epidemiology of nosocomial infections due to multiresistant** *Acinetobacter baumannii*. Clin Infect Dis 1996, **23**(2):329-334.
- Thom KA, Hsiao WW, Harris AD, Stine OC, Rasko DA, Johnson JK: Patients with Acinetobacter baumannii bloodstream infections are colonized in the gastrointestinal tract with identical strains. Am J Infect Control 2010, 38(9):751-753.
- 50. Seifert H, Baginski R, Schulze A, Pulverer G: **The distribution of** *Acinetobacter* **species in clinical culture materials**. *Zentralbl Bakteriol* 1993, **279**(4):544-552.

- 51. Struelens MJ, Carlier E, Maes N, Serruys E, Quint WG, van Belkum A: Nosocomial colonization and infection with multiresistant *Acinetobacter baumannii*: outbreak delineation using DNA macrorestriction analysis and PCR-fingerprinting. J Hosp Infect 1993, **25**(1):15-32.
- 52. Seifert H, Strate A, Schulze A, Pulverer G: **Bacteremia due to** *Acinetobacter* **species other than** *Acinetobacter baumannii*. *Infection* 1994, **22**(6):379-385.
- 53. Wisplinghoff H, Edmond MB, Pfaller MA, Jones RN, Wenzel RP, Seifert H: Nosocomial bloodstream infections caused by *Acinetobacter* species in United States hospitals: clinical features, molecular epidemiology, and antimicrobial susceptibility. *Clin Infect Dis* 2000, **31**(3):690-697.
- Ribera A, Fernandez-Cuenca F, Beceiro A, Bou G, Martinez-Martinez L, Pascual A, Cisneros JM, Rodriguez-Bano J, Pachon J, Vila J: Antimicrobial susceptibility and mechanisms of resistance to quinolones and ß-lactams in Acinetobacter genospecies 3. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2004, 48(4):1430-1432.
- 55. Hujer KM, Hujer AM, Hulten EA, Bajaksouzian S, Adams JM, Donskey CJ, Ecker DJ, Massire C, Eshoo MW, Sampath R *et al*: Analysis of antibiotic resistance genes in multidrug-resistant *Acinetobacter* sp. isolates from military and civilian patients treated at the Walter Reed Army Medical Center. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2006, **50**(12):4114-4123.
- 56. Lee JH, Choi CH, Kang HY, Lee JY, Kim J, Lee YC, Seol SY, Cho DT, Kim KW, Song do Y *et al*: Differences in phenotypic and genotypic traits against antimicrobial agents between *Acinetobacter baumannii* and *Acinetobacter* genomic species 13TU. J Antimicrob Chemother 2007, 59(4):633-639.
- 57. Lim YM, Shin KS, Kim J: Distinct antimicrobial resistance patterns and antimicrobial resistance-harboring genes according to genomic species of *Acinetobacter* isolates. *J Clin Microbiol* 2007, **45**(3):902-905.
- 58. Horrevorts A, Bergman K, Kollee L, Breuker I, Tjernberg I, Dijkshoorn L: Clinical and epidemiological investigations of *Acinetobacter* genomospecies 3 in a neonatal intensive care unit. *J Clin Microbiol* 1995, **33**(6):1567-1572.
- 59. Turton JF, Shah J, Ozongwu C, Pike R: Incidence of *Acinetobacter* species other than *A. baumannii* among clinical isolates of *Acinetobacter*: evidence for emerging species. *J Clin Microbiol* 2010, **48**(4):1445-1449.
- 60. Lee Y, Lee J, Jeong SH, Bae IK, Lee K: Carbapenem-non-susceptible Acinetobacter baumannii of sequence type 92 or its single-locus variants with a G428T substitution in zone 2 of the *rpoB* gene. J Antimicrob Chemother 2011, 66(1):66-72.

- 61. Park YK, Lee GH, Baek JY, Chung DR, Peck KR, Song JH, Ko KS: A single clone of *Acinetobacter baumannii*, ST22, is responsible for high antimicrobial resistance rates of *Acinetobacter* spp. isolates that cause bacteremia and urinary tract infections in Korea. *Microb Drug Resist* 2010, **16**(2):143-149.
- 62. Shelburne SA, 3rd, Singh KV, White AC, Jr., Byrne L, Carmer A, Austin C, Graviss E, Stager C, Murray BE, Atmar RL: Sequential outbreaks of infections by distinct *Acinetobacter baumannii* strains in a public teaching hospital in Houston, Texas. *J Clin Microbiol* 2008, **46**(1):198-205.
- 63. Park YK, Peck KR, Cheong HS, Chung DR, Song JH, Ko KS: Extreme drug resistance in *Acinetobacter baumannii* infections in intensive care units, South Korea. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2009, **15**(8):1325-1327.
- 64. van den Broek PJ, van der Reijden TJ, van Strijen E, Helmig-Schurter AV, Bernards AT, Dijkshoorn L: Endemic and epidemic Acinetobacter species in a university hospital: an 8-year survey. J Clin Microbiol 2009, 47(11):3593-3599.
- 65. Van Looveren M, Goossens H: Antimicrobial resistance of *Acinetobacter* spp. in Europe. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2004, **10**(8):684-704.
- 66. Blechschmidt B, Borneleit P, Kleber HP: **Purification and characterization of** an extracellular ß-lactamase produced by *Acinetobacter calcoaceticus*. J Gen Microbiol 1992, **138**(6):1197-1202.
- 67. Peleg AY, Franklin C, Walters LJ, Bell JM, Spelman DW: **OXA-58 and IMP-4** carbapenem-hydrolyzing *B*-lactamases in an *Acinetobacter junii* blood culture isolate from Australia. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2006, **50**(1):399-400.
- 68. Perilli M, Felici A, Oratore A, Cornaglia G, Bonfiglio G, Rossolini GM, Amicosante G: Characterization of the chromosomal cephalosporinases produced by Acinetobacter lwoffii and Acinetobacter baumannii clinical isolates. Antimicrob Agents Ch 1996, 40(3):715-719.
- 69. Celenza G, Pellegrini C, Caccamo M, Segatore B, Amicosante G, Perilli M: Spread of *bla*_{CTX-M-type} and *bla*_{PER-2} ß-lactamase genes in clinical isolates from Bolivian hospitals. J Antimicrob Chemother 2006, 57(5):975-978.
- 70. Munoz-Price LS, Weinstein RA: *Acinetobacter* infection. *N Engl J Med* 2008, **358**(12):1271-1281.
- 71. Jain R, Danziger LH: Multidrug-resistant Acinetobacter infections: an emerging challenge to clinicians. Ann Pharmacother 2004, **38**(9):1449-1459.

- 72. Park YK, Choi JY, Jung SI, Park KH, Lee H, Jung DS, Heo ST, Kim SW, Chang HH, Cheong HS *et al*: **Two distinct clones of carbapenem-resistant** *Acinetobacter baumannii* isolates from Korean hospitals. *Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis* 2009, **64**(4):389-395.
- 73. Huang LY, Lu PL, Chen TL, Chang FY, Fung CP, Siu LK: Molecular characterization of ß-lactamase genes and their genetic structures in *Acinetobacter* genospecies 3 isolates in Taiwan. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2010, 54(6):2699-2703.
- Dai N, Li DZ, Chen JC, Chen YS, Geng R, Hu YH, Yang JP, Du J, Hu CP, Zhang W et al: Drug-resistant genes carried by Acinetobacter baumanii isolated from patients with lower respiratory tract infection. Chin Med J (Engl) 2010, 123(18):2571-2575.
- 75. Bogaerts P, Naas T, El Garch F, Cuzon G, Deplano A, Delaire T, Huang TD, Lissoir B, Nordmann P, Glupczynski Y: GES extended-spectrum *B*-lactamases in Acinetobacter baumannii isolates in Belgium. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2010, 54(11):4872-4878.
- 76. Robledo IE, Aquino EE, Sante MI, Santana JL, Otero DM, Leon CF, Vazquez GJ: **Detection of KPC in** *Acinetobacter* **spp. in Puerto Rico**. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2010, **54**(3):1354-1357.
- 77. Gordon NC, Wareham DW: Multidrug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii: mechanisms of virulence and resistance. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2010, 35(3):219-226.
- 78. Moubareck C, Bremont S, Conroy MC, Courvalin P, Lambert T: **GES-11, a** novel integron-associated **GES variant in** *Acinetobacter baumannii*. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2009, **53**(8):3579-3581.
- 79. Poirel L, Nordmann P: Carbapenem resistance in *Acinetobacter baumannii*: mechanisms and epidemiology. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2006, **12**(9):826-836.
- 80. Chu YW, Afzal-Shah M, Houang ET, Palepou MI, Lyon DJ, Woodford N, Livermore DM: **IMP-4**, a novel metallo-ß-lactamase from nosocomial *Acinetobacter* spp. collected in Hong Kong between 1994 and 1998. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2001, 45(3):710-714.
- 81. Lin YC, Sheng WH, Chen YC, Chang SC, Hsia KC, Li SY: **Differences in** carbapenem resistance genes among *Acinetobacter baumannii*, *Acinetobacter* genospecies 3 and *Acinetobacter* genospecies 13TU in Taiwan. *Int J Antimicrob Agents* 2010, 35(5):439-443.

- 82. Di Popolo A, Giannouli M, Triassi M, Brisse S, Zarrilli R: Molecular epidemiological investigation of multidrug-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii* strains in four Mediterranean countries with a multilocus sequence typing scheme. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2011, **17**(2):197-201.
- 83. Lee K, Yum JH, Yong D, Lee HM, Kim HD, Docquier JD, Rossolini GM, Chong Y: Novel acquired metallo-ß-lactamase gene, *bla*_{SIM-1}, in a class 1 integron from Acinetobacter baumannii clinical isolates from Korea. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2005, 49(11):4485-4491.
- 84. Yong D, Choi YS, Roh KH, Kim CK, Park YH, Yum JH, Lee K, Chong Y: Increasing prevalence and diversity of metallo-ß-lactamases in *Pseudomonas* spp., *Acinetobacter* spp., and *Enterobacteriaceae* from Korea. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2006, **50**(5):1884-1886.
- 85. Chin BS, Han SH, Choi SH, Lee HS, Jeong SJ, Choi HK, Choi JY, Song YG, Kim CK, Yong D *et al*: The characteristics of metallo-ß-lactamase-producing Gram-negative bacilli isolated from sputum and urine: a single center experience in Korea. *Yonsei Med J* 2011, **52**(2):351-357.
- 86. Karthikeyan K, Thirunarayan MA, Krishnan P: Coexistence of *bla*_{OXA-23} with *bla*_{NDM-1} and *armA* in clinical isolates of *Acinetobacter baumannii* from India. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2010, **65**(10):2253-2254.
- 87. Gottig S, Pfeifer Y, Wichelhaus TA, Zacharowski K, Bingold T, Averhoff B, Brandt C, Kempf VA: Global spread of New Delhi metallo-ß-lactamase 1. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2010, **10**(12):828-829.
- 88. Chen Z, Qlu S, Wang Y, Liu S, Wang Z, Du X, Wang L, Guo J, Liu N, Yuan J et al: Coexistence of bla_{NDM-1} with the prevalent bla_{OXA23} and bla_{IMP} in pan-drug resistant Acinetobacter baumannii isolates in China. Clin Infect Dis 2011, 52(5):692-693.
- Kaase M, Nordmann P, Wichelhaus TA, Gatermann SG, Bonnin RA, Poirel L: NDM-2 carbapenemase in *Acinetobacter baumannii* from Egypt. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2011, 66(6):1260-1262.
- 90. Jacoby GA: AmpC B-lactamases. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 2009, **22**(1):161-182, Table of Contents.
- 91. Hujer KM, Hamza NS, Hujer AM, Perez F, Helfand MS, Bethel CR, Thomson JM, Anderson VE, Barlow M, Rice LB et al: Identification of a new allelic variant of the Acinetobacter baumannii cephalosporinase, ADC-7 ß-lactamase: defining a unique family of class C enzymes. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2005, 49(7):2941-2948.

- 92. Beceiro A, Perez-Llarena FJ, Perez A, Tomas Mdel M, Fernandez A, Mallo S, Villanueva R, Bou G: Molecular characterization of the gene encoding a new AmpC ß-lactamase in Acinetobacter baylyi. J Antimicrob Chemother 2007, 59(5):996-1000.
- 93. Poirel L, Naas T, Nordmann P: **Diversity, epidemiology, and genetics of class D B-lactamases**. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2010, **54**(1):24-38.
- 94. Walther-Rasmussen J, Hoiby N: **OXA-type carbapenemases**. J Antimicrob Chemother 2006, **57**(3):373-383.
- 95. Marque S, Poirel L, Heritier C, Brisse S, Blasco MD, Filip R, Coman G, Naas T, Nordmann P: Regional occurrence of plasmid-mediated carbapenemhydrolyzing oxacillinase OXA-58 in Acinetobacter spp. in Europe. J Clin Microbiol 2005, 43(9):4885-4888.
- 96. Poirel L, Corvec S, Rapoport M, Mugnier P, Petroni A, Pasteran F, Faccone D, Galas M, Drugeon H, Cattoir V et al: Identification of the novel narrow-spectrum B-lactamase SCO-1 in Acinetobacter spp. from Argentina. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2007, 51(6):2179-2184.
- 97. Marti S, Sanchez-Cespedes J, Blasco MD, Ruiz M, Espinal P, Alba V, Fernandez-Cuenca F, Pascual A, Vila J: Characterization of the carbapenem-hydrolyzing oxacillinase Oxa-58 in an Acinetobacter genospecies 3 clinical isolate. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2008, 52(8):2955-2958.
- 98. Marti S, Sanchez-Cespedes J, Blasco MD, Espinal P, Ruiz M, Alba V, Vila J: Characterization of the carbapenem-hydrolyzing oxacillinase OXA-58 in an *Acinetobacter* phenon 6/ct13TU clinical isolate. *Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis* 2008, 61(4):468-470.
- 99. Nemec A, Dolzani L, Brisse S, van den Broek P, Dijkshoorn L: Diversity of aminoglycoside-resistance genes and their association with class 1 integrons among strains of pan-European Acinetobacter baumannii clones. J Med Microbiol 2004, 53 (Pt 12):1233-1240.
- 100. Perez F, Hujer AM, Hujer KM, Decker BK, Rather PN, Bonomo RA: Global challenge of multidrug-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii*. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2007, **51**(10):3471-3484.
- 101. Han HL, Jang SJ, Park G, Kook JK, Shin JH, Shin SH, Kim DM, Cheon JS, Moon DS, Park YJ: Identification of an atypical integron carrying an IS26disrupted aadA1 gene cassette in Acinetobacter baumannii. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2008, 32(2):165-169.

- 102. Cho YJ, Moon DC, Jin JS, Choi CH, Lee YC, Lee JC: Genetic basis of resistance to aminoglycosides in *Acinetobacter* spp. and spread of *armA* in *Acinetobacter baumannii* sequence group 1 in Korean hospitals. *Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis* 2009, 64(2):185-190.
- 103. Lee H, Yong D, Yum JH, Roh KH, Lee K, Yamane K, Arakawa Y, Chong Y: Dissemination of 16S rRNA methylase-mediated highly amikacin-resistant isolates of *Klebsiella pneumoniae* and *Acinetobacter baumannii* in Korea. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 2006, 56(3):305-312.
- 104. Vila J, Ruiz J, Goni P, Marcos A, Jimenez de Anta T: **Mutation in the** *gyrA* gene of quinolone-resistant clinical isolates of Acinetobacter baumannii. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1995, **39**(5):1201-1203.
- 105. Vila J, Ruiz J, Goni P, Jimenez de Anta T: Quinolone-resistance mutations in the topoisomerase IV parC gene of Acinetobacter baumannii. J Antimicrob Chemother 1997, **39**(6):757-762.
- 106. Adams-Haduch JM, Paterson DL, Sidjabat HE, Pasculle AW, Potoski BA, Muto CA, Harrison LH, Doi Y: Genetic basis of multidrug resistance in Acinetobacter baumannii clinical isolates at a tertiary medical center in Pennsylvania. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2008, 52(11):3837-3843.
- 107. Hamouda A, Amyes SG: Novel gyrA and parC point mutations in two strains of Acinetobacter baumannii resistant to ciprofloxacin. J Antimicrob Chemother 2004, 54(3):695-696.
- 108. Wisplinghoff H, Decker M, Haefs C, Krut O, Plum G, Seifert H: Mutations in gyrA and parC associated with resistance to fluoroquinolones in epidemiologically defined clinical strains of Acinetobacter baumannii. J Antimicrob Chemother 2003, 51(1):177-180.
- 109. Lee JK, Lee YS, Park YK, Kim BS: Mutations in the gyrA and parC genes in ciprofloxacin-resistant clinical isolates of Acinetobacter baumannii in Korea. Microbiol Immunol 2005, **49**(7):647-653.
- Mugnier PD, Poirel L, Nordmann P: Functional analysis of insertion sequence ISAba1, responsible for genomic plasticity of Acinetobacter baumannii. J Bacteriol 2009, 191(7):2414-2418.
- Segal H, Garny S, Elisha BG: Is IS_{ABA-1} customized for Acinetobacter? FEMS Microbiol Lett 2005, 243(2):425-429.
- 112. Heritier C, Poirel L, Nordmann P: Cephalosporinase over-expression resulting from insertion of ISAba1 in Acinetobacter baumannii. Clin Microbiol Infect 2006, 12(2):123-130.

- 113. Turton JF, Ward ME, Woodford N, Kaufmann ME, Pike R, Livermore DM, Pitt TL: The role of ISAba1 in expression of OXA carbapenemase genes in *Acinetobacter baumannii*. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 2006, **258**(1):72-77.
- 114. Corvec S, Poirel L, Naas T, Drugeon H, Nordmann P: Genetics and expression of the carbapenem-hydrolyzing oxacillinase gene *bla*_{OXA-23} in *Acinetobacter baumannii*. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2007, **51**(4):1530-1533.
- 115. Poirel L, Nordmann P: Genetic structures at the origin of acquisition and expression of the carbapenem-hydrolyzing oxacillinase gene *bla*_{OXA-58} in *Acinetobacter baumannii*. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2006, **50**(4):1442-1448.
- 116. Ravasi P, Limansky AS, Rodriguez RE, Viale AM, Mussi MA: **ISAba825**, a functional insertion sequence modulating genomic plasticity and *bla*_{OXA-58} expression in *Acinetobacter baumannii*. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2011, 55(2):917-920.
- 117. Pfeifer Y, Zander E, Göttig S, Hunfeld KP, Seifert H, Higgins PG: Complete DNA sequence of bla_{NDM-1} gene cassette integrated into the chromosome of Acinetobacter baumannii. 21st European Congress of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases/27th International Congress of Chemotherapy 2011, Abstract O 215.
- 118. Poirel L, Bonnin RA, Villa L, Carattoli A, Nordmann P: Diversity of genetic structures at the origin of acquisition and expression of the bla_{NDM-1} carbapenemase gene. 21st European Congress of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases/27th International Congress of Chemotherapy 2011, Abstract O 216.
- 119. Iacono M, Villa L, Fortini D, Bordoni R, Imperi F, Bonnal RJ, Sicheritz-Ponten T, De Bellis G, Visca P, Cassone A *et al*: Whole-genome pyrosequencing of an epidemic multidrug-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii* strain belonging to the European clone II group. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2008, 52(7):2616-2625.
- 120. Ruzin A, Keeney D, Bradford PA: AdeABC multidrug efflux pump is associated with decreased susceptibility to tigecycline in Acinetobacter calcoaceticus-Acinetobacter baumannii complex. J Antimicrob Chemother 2007, 59(5):1001-1004.
- 121. Mussi MA, Limansky AS, Viale AM: Acquisition of resistance to carbapenems in multidrug-resistant clinical strains of Acinetobacter baumannii: natural insertional inactivation of a gene encoding a member of a novel family of ßbarrel outer membrane proteins. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2005, 49(4):1432-1440.

- 122. Dijkshoorn L, Aucken H, Gerner-Smidt P, Janssen P, Kaufmann ME, Garaizar J, Ursing J, Pitt TL: Comparison of outbreak and nonoutbreak Acinetobacter baumannii strains by genotypic and phenotypic methods. J Clin Microbiol 1996, 34(6):1519-1525.
- 123. van Dessel H, Dijkshoorn L, van der Reijden T, Bakker N, Paauw A, van den Broek P, Verhoef J, Brisse S: Identification of a new geographically widespread multiresistant Acinetobacter baumannii clone from European hospitals. Res Microbiol 2004, 155(2):105-112.
- 124. Nemec A, Krizova L, Maixnerova M, Diancourt L, van der Reijden TJ, Brisse S, van den Broek P, Dijkshoorn L: Emergence of carbapenem resistance in *Acinetobacter baumannii* in the Czech Republic is associated with the spread of multidrug-resistant strains of European clone II. J Antimicrob Chemother 2008, 62(3):484-489.
- 125. Dobrewski R, Savov E, Bernards AT, van den Barselaar M, Nordmann P, van den Broek PJ, Dijkshoorn L: Genotypic diversity and antibiotic susceptibility of Acinetobacter baumannii isolates in a Bulgarian hospital. Clin Microbiol Infect 2006, 12(11):1135-1137.
- 126. Towner KJ, Levi K, Vlassiadi M: Genetic diversity of carbapenem-resistant isolates of *Acinetobacter baumannii* in Europe. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2008, 14(2):161-167.
- 127. Giannouli M, Cuccurullo S, Crivaro V, Di Popolo A, Bernardo M, Tomasone F, Amato G, Brisse S, Triassi M, Utili R *et al*: Molecular epidemiology of multidrug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii in a tertiary care hospital in Naples, Italy, shows the emergence of a novel epidemic clone. J Clin Microbiol 2010, 48(4):1223-1230.
- 128. Turton JF, Gabriel SN, Valderrey C, Kaufmann ME, Pitt TL: Use of sequencebased typing and multiplex PCR to identify clonal lineages of outbreak strains of Acinetobacter baumannii. Clin Microbiol Infect 2007, 13(8):807-815.
- 129. Giannouli M, Tomasone F, Agodi A, Vahaboglu H, Daoud Z, Triassi M, Tsakris A, Zarrilli R: Molecular epidemiology of carbapenem-resistant *Acinetobacter* baumannii strains in intensive care units of multiple Mediterranean hospitals. J Antimicrob Chemother 2009, 63(4):828-830.
- 130. Grosso F, Carvalho KR, Quinteira S, Ramos A, Carvalho-Assef AP, Asensi MD, Peixe L: OXA-23-producing Acinetobacter baumannii: a new hotspot of diversity in Rio de Janeiro? J Antimicrob Chemother 2011, 66(1):62-65.

- 131. Hamouda A, Evans BA, Towner KJ, Amyes SG: Characterization of epidemiologically unrelated Acinetobacter baumannii isolates from four continents by use of multilocus sequence typing, pulsed-field gel electrophoresis, and sequence-based typing of bla_{OXA-51-like} genes. J Clin Microbiol 2010, 48(7):2476-2483.
- 132. Evans BA, Hamouda A, Towner KJ, Amyes SG: **OXA-51-like ß-lactamases and their association with particular epidemic lineages of** *Acinetobacter baumannii*. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2008, **14**(3):268-275.
- 133. Bartual SG, Seifert H, Hippler C, Luzon MA, Wisplinghoff H, Rodriguez-Valera F: Development of a multilocus sequence typing scheme for characterization of clinical isolates of Acinetobacter baumannii. J Clin Microbiol 2005, 43(9):4382-4390.
- 134. Grosso F, Quinteira S, Peixe L: Understanding the dynamics of imipenemresistant Acinetobacter baumannii lineages within Portugal. Clin Microbiol Infect 2011.
- Mugnier PD, Poirel L, Naas T, Nordmann P: Worldwide dissemination of the bla_{OXA-23} carbapenemase gene of Acinetobacter baumannii. Emerg Infect Dis 2010, 16(1):35-40.
- 136. Da Silva GJ, Mendonca N, Batista G, Duarte A: Sequence types of Portuguese carbapenem-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii* isolates collected over 10 years. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2010, 65(10):2254-2256.
- 137. Villalon P, Valdezate S, Medina-Pascual MJ, Rubio V, Vindel A, Saez-Nieto JA: Clonal diversity of nosocomial epidemic *Acinetobacter baumannii* strains isolated in Spain. *J Clin Microbiol* 2011, **49**(3):875-882.
- 138. Dijkshoorn L, Ursing BM, Ursing JB: **Strain, clone and species: comments on three basic concepts of bacteriology**. *J Med Microbiol* 2000, **49**(5):397-401.
- 139. Tenover FC, Arbeit RD, Goering RV, Mickelsen PA, Murray BE, Persing DH, Swaminathan B: Interpreting chromosomal DNA restriction patterns produced by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis: criteria for bacterial strain typing. J Clin Microbiol 1995, 33(9):2233-2239.
- 140. van Belkum A, Tassios PT, Dijkshoorn L, Haeggman S, Cookson B, Fry NK, Fussing V, Green J, Feil E, Gerner-Smidt P *et al*: Guidelines for the validation and application of typing methods for use in bacterial epidemiology. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2007, **13 Suppl 3**:1-46.

- 141. Orskov F, Orskov I: From the national institutes of health. Summary of a workshop on the clone concept in the epidemiology, taxonomy, and evolution of the enterobacteriaceae and other bacteria. *J Infect Dis* 1983, **148**(2):346-357.
- 142. Ho PL, Ho AY, Chow KH, Lai EL, Ching P, Seto WH: Epidemiology and clonality of multidrug-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii* from a healthcare region in Hong Kong. *J Hosp Infect* 2010, **74**(4):358-364.
- 143. Wisplinghoff H, Hippler C, Bartual SG, Haefs C, Stefanik D, Higgins PG, Seifert H: Molecular epidemiology of clinical Acinetobacter baumannii and Acinetobacter genomic species 13TU isolates using a multilocus sequencing typing scheme. Clin Microbiol Infect 2008, 14(7):708-715.
- 144. Fu Y, Zhou J, Zhou H, Yang Q, Wei Z, Yu Y, Li L: Wide dissemination of OXA-23-producing carbapenem-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii clonal complex 22 in multiple cities of China. J Antimicrob Chemother 2010, 65(4):644-650.
- 145. Runnegar N, Sidjabat H, Goh HM, Nimmo GR, Schembri MA, Paterson DL: Molecular epidemiology of multidrug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii in a single institution over a 10-year period. J Clin Microbiol 2010, 48(11):4051-4056.
- 146. Ko KS, Kim HW, Choi JY, Song JH: Dissemination of limited imipenemresistant Acinetobacter baumannii clones in Asian countries. 20th European Congress of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases 2010, P 1722.
- 147. Seltmann G, Beer W, Claus H, Seifert H: Comparative classification of *Acinetobacter baumannii* strains using seven different typing methods. *Zentralbl Bakteriol* 1995, **282**(4):372-383.
- 148. Weernink A, Severin WP, Tjernberg I, Dijkshoorn L: **Pillows, an unexpected** source of *Acinetobacter*. *J Hosp Infect* 1995, **29**(3):189-199.
- 149. NORM/NORM-VET 2009 report. Usage of antimicrobial agents and occurrence of antimicrobial resistance in Norway. 2009, ISSN: 1502-2307.
- 150. Fournier PE, Vallenet D, Barbe V, Audic S, Ogata H, Poirel L, Richet H, Robert C, Mangenot S, Abergel C *et al*: **Comparative genomics of multidrug resistance in** *Acinetobacter baumannii*. *PLoS Genet* 2006, **2**(1):e7.
- 151. Poirel L, Figueiredo S, Cattoir V, Carattoli A, Nordmann P: Acinetobacter radioresistens as a silent source of carbapenem resistance for Acinetobacter spp. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2008, 52(4):1252-1256.

- 152. Cambray G, Guerout AM, Mazel D: Integrons. Annu Rev Genet 2010, 44:141-166.
- 153. Hwa WE, Subramaniam G, Navaratnam P, Sekaran SD: Detection and characterization of class 1 integrons among carbapenem-resistant isolates of *Acinetobacter* spp. in Malaysia. *J Microbiol Immunol Infect* 2009, **42**(1):54-62.
- 154. Koeleman JG, Stoof J, Van Der Bijl MW, Vandenbroucke-Grauls CM, Savelkoul PH: Identification of epidemic strains of *Acinetobacter baumannii* by integrase gene PCR. *J Clin Microbiol* 2001, **39**(1):8-13.
- 155. Ploy MC, Denis F, Courvalin P, Lambert T: Molecular characterization of integrons in *Acinetobacter baumannii*: description of a hybrid class 2 integron. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2000, **44**(10):2684-2688.
- 156. Gombac F, Riccio ML, Rossolini GM, Lagatolla C, Tonin E, Monti-Bragadin C, Lavenia A, Dolzani L: Molecular characterization of integrons in epidemiologically unrelated clinical isolates of Acinetobacter baumannii from Italian hospitals reveals a limited diversity of gene cassette arrays. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2002, 46(11):3665-3668.
- 157. Zarrilli R, Crispino M, Bagattini M, Barretta E, Di Popolo A, Triassi M, Villari P: Molecular epidemiology of sequential outbreaks of *Acinetobacter baumannii* in an intensive care unit shows the emergence of carbapenem resistance. J Clin Microbiol 2004, 42(3):946-953.
- 158. Ribera A, Vila J, Fernandez-Cuenca F, Martinez-Martinez L, Pascual A, Beceiro A, Bou G, Cisneros JM, Pachon J, Rodriguez-Bano J: **Type 1 integrons in epidemiologically unrelated** *Acinetobacter baumannii* isolates collected at Spanish hospitals. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2004, **48**(1):364-365.
- 159. D'Arezzo S, Capone A, Petrosillo N, Visca P, Ballardini M, Bartolini S, Bordi E, Di Stefano A, Galie M, Minniti R *et al*: Epidemic multidrug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii related to European clonal types I and II in Rome (Italy). Clin Microbiol Infect 2009, 15(4):347-357.
- 160. Turton JF, Kaufmann ME, Glover J, Coelho JM, Warner M, Pike R, Pitt TL: Detection and typing of integrons in epidemic strains of Acinetobacter baumannii found in the United Kingdom. J Clin Microbiol 2005, 43(7):3074-3082.
- 161. Valenzuela JK, Thomas L, Partridge SR, van der Reijden T, Dijkshoorn L, Iredell J: Horizontal gene transfer in a polyclonal outbreak of carbapenem-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii*. *J Clin Microbiol* 2007, **45**(2):453-460.

- 162. Zong Z, Lu X, Valenzuela JK, Partridge SR, Iredell J: An outbreak of carbapenem-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii* producing OXA-23 carbapenemase in western China. *Int J Antimicrob Agents* 2008, **31**(1):50-54.
- 163. Xu X, Kong F, Cheng X, Yan B, Du X, Gai J, Ai H, Shi L, Iredell J: Integron gene cassettes in *Acinetobacter* spp. strains from South China. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2008, **32**(5):441-445.
- 164. Abbott Y, O'Mahony R, Leonard N, Quinn PJ, van der Reijden T, Dijkshoorn L, Fanning S: Characterization of a 2.6 kbp variable region within a class 1 integron found in an Acinetobacter baumannii strain isolated from a horse. J Antimicrob Chemother 2005, 55(3):367-370.
- 165. Adams MD, Goglin K, Molyneaux N, Hujer KM, Lavender H, Jamison JJ, MacDonald IJ, Martin KM, Russo T, Campagnari AA *et al*: Comparative genome sequence analysis of multidrug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii. J Bacteriol 2008, 190(24):8053-8064.
- 166. Post V, Hall RM: AbaR5, a large multiple-antibiotic resistance region found in Acinetobacter baumannii. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2009, 53(6):2667-2671.
- 167. Post V, White PA, Hall RM: Evolution of AbaR-type genomic resistance islands in multiply antibiotic-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii. J Antimicrob Chemother 2010, 65(6):1162-1170.
- 168. Martinez-Freijo P, Fluit AC, Schmitz FJ, Verhoef J, Jones ME: Many class I integrons comprise distinct stable structures occurring in different species of *Enterobacteriaceae* isolated from widespread geographic regions in Europe. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 1999, **43**(3):686-689.
- 169. Gu B, Tong M, Zhao W, Liu G, Ning M, Pan S: Prevalence and characterization of class I integrons among *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Acinetobacter baumannii* isolates from patients in Nanjing, China. J Clin Microbiol 2007, **45**(1):241-243.
- 170. Wang H, Guo P, Sun H, Yang Q, Chen M, Xu Y, Zhu Y: Molecular epidemiology of clinical isolates of carbapenem-resistant *Acinetobacter* spp. from Chinese hospitals. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2007, **51**(11):4022-4028.
- 171. Bonnin RA, Nordmann P, Potron A, Lecuyer H, Zahar JR, Poirel L: Carbapenem-hydrolyzing GES-type extended-spectrum ß-lactamase in Acinetobacter baumannii. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2011, 55(1):349-354.

- 172. Hu LF, Chang X, Ye Y, Wang ZX, Shao YB, Shi W, Li X, Li JB: Stenotrophomonas maltophilia resistance to trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole mediated by acquisition of sul and dfrA genes in a plasmid-mediated class 1 integron. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2011, 37(3):230-234.
- 173. Tennstedt T, Szczepanowski R, Braun S, Puhler A, Schluter A: Occurrence of integron-associated resistance gene cassettes located on antibiotic resistance plasmids isolated from a wastewater treatment plant. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 2003, **45**(3):239-252.
- 174. Kadlec K, Schwarz S: Analysis and distribution of class 1 and class 2 integrons and associated gene cassettes among *Escherichia coli* isolates from swine, horses, cats and dogs collected in the BfT-GermVet monitoring study. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2008, **62**(3):469-473.
- 175. Espinal P, Roca I, Vila J: Identification of Acinetobacter calcoaceticus-Acinetobacter baumannii complex strains by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. 21st European Congress of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases/27th International Congress of Chemotherapy 2011, P 1838.

Supplementary material

Table S1.	Geographically	and	genotypically	divergent	277	isolates	selected	for	analyzing	the	global
epidemiolo	ogy of A. bauman	nii									

No.	Isolate	Country and year of isolation ^a	Comment ^b	Sequence type ^c	Reference ^d
1	62791	Spain/1993	Outbreak-related	1 ^B (1-1-1-1-1-6)	Pubmlst, [133]
2	A92	Spain	Carbapenem-S, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-69}	2 ^B (2-2-2-1-1-2-7)	[131, 132]
3	228620	Spain/2000	Outbreak-related	3 ^B (1-1-1-2-1-4)	Pubmlst, [133]
4	GEAC01/07	Italy/2007	MDR	4 ^B (1-12-3-2-2-7-3)	Pubmlst
5	A230	UK	Carbapenem-S, int. clone II, bla_{OXA-66}	4 ^B (1-12-3-2-7-3)	[131, 132]
6	A397	Greece	Carbapenem-I, int. clone II, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-66}	4 ^B (1-12-3-2-7-3)	[131, 132]
7	60127	Spain/1997	Outbreak-related	5 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-3-1)	Pubmlst, [133]
8	118151	Spain/1997	Outbreak-related	6^{B} (1-4-3-2-2-3-3)	Pubmlst, [133]
9 ^e	RUH 134	The Netherlands/1982	Ref. strain, outbreak-related, int. clone II, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-66}	6 ^B (1-4-3-2-2-3-3) 98 ^B (1-12-3-2-2-3-3)	Pubmlst, [131-133]
10	61588	Spain/2000	Outbreak-related	$7^{\mathrm{B}}(3-3-3-2-3-3-8)$	Pubmlst, [133]
11	61812	Spain/2000	Outbreak-related	8 ^B (4-4-4-4-5-9)	Pubmlst, [133]
12	62309	Spain/2000	Outbreak-related	9 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-6-8)	Pubmlst, [133]
13	2002-34100	Spain/2002	Outbreak-related	10 ^B (1-4-3-2-2-7-3)	Pubmlst, [133]
14	DSM 30008		Ref. strain	13 ^B (1-7-8-9-1-4-14)	Pubmlst, [133]
15	W 5420	Germany/1991	Outbreak-related	15 ^B (1-12-11-10-1-9-4)	Pubmlst, [133]
16	U 10247	Germany/1991	Outbreak-related	16 ^B (10-12-4-11-11-9-5)	Pubmlst, [133]
17	St 14733	Germany/1990	Outbreak-related	17 ^B (1-12-12-11-4-10-3)	Pubmlst, [133]
18	LS091	China/2005	-	17 ^B (1-12-12-11-4-10-3)	Pubmlst, [144]
19	B0706-077	Korea/2006-07	Carbapenem-S, colistin-S	17 ^B (1-12-12-11-4-10-3)	[61]
20	St 20820	Germany/1991	Outbreak-related	18 ^B (10-13-4-11-12-11-5)	Pubmlst, [133]
21	St 15598	Germany/1991	Outbreak-related	19 ^B (1-14-3-2-2-9-3)	Pubmlst, [133]
22	CGN-77	UK	Outbreak-related	19 ^B (1-14-3-2-2-9-3)	Pubmlst, [143]
23	St 17093	Germany/1991	Outbreak-related	20 ^B (1-15-13-12-4-12-2)	Pubmlst, [133]
24	HZ104	China/2005	MDR, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-23-like} carbapenem- R, <i>armA</i>	20 ^B (1-15-13-12-4-12-2)	Pubmlst, [144]
25^{f}	M08-20	Malaysia/2008-09	Imipenem-R	20 ^B (1-15-13-12-4-12-2)	[146]
26	A483	Morocco	bla _{OXA-51}	20 ^B (1-15-13-12-4-12-2)	[131, 132]
27	A187	South Africa	Carbapenem-S, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-68}	20 ^B (1-15-13-12-4-12-2)	[131, 132]
28	YMM14	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	20 ^B (1-15-13-12-4-12-2)	[60]
29	St 1650	Germany/1992	Outbreak-related	21 ^B (1-12-15-2-2-9-3)	Pubmlst, [133]
30	CGN-06	Germany/1991	Outbreak-related	22 ^B (1-15-13-12-4-12-37)	Pubmlst, [143]
31	CGN-81	Germany/1996	Outbreak-related	23 ^B (1-1-1-1-28-10)	Pubmlst, [143]
32	CGN-18	Denmark/1990	Sporadic	24 ^B (1-1-22-1-4-20-16)	Pubmlst, [143]
33	CGN-48	Germany/1991	Sporadic	25 ^B (1-1-41-6-23-31-26)	Pubmlst, [143]
34	CGN-09	Germany/1991	Outbreak-related	27 ^B (1-12-15-2-2-3-3)	Pubmlst, [143]
35	CGN-55	Germany/1996	Outbreak-related	28 ^B (1-12-3-2-35-4)	Pubmlst, [143]

No.	Isolate	Country and year of isolation ^a	Comment ^b	Sequence type ^c	Reference ^d
36	CGN-52	Denmark	Sporadic	29 ^B (1-12-3-28-2-29-4)	Pubmlst, [143]
37	CGN-56	Germany/1996	Outbreak-related	30 ^B (1-12-3-29-2-34-4)	Pubmlst, [143]
38	CGN-39	Germany/1998	Outbreak-related	31 ^B (1-12-39-25-21-3-25)	Pubmlst, [143]
39	CGN-44	Germany/1991	Sporadic	32 ^B (1-12-4-11-4-28-2)	Pubmlst, [143]
40	CGN-46	Germany/1991	Sporadic	33 ^B (1-12-4-11-4-29-2)	Pubmlst, [143]
41	CGN-23	Germany/1991	Sporadic	34 ^B (1-15-13-12-4-49-37)	Pubmlst, [143]
42	CGN-71	USA/1995	Outbreak-related	35 ^B (1-15-2-28-1-41-32)	Pubmlst, [143]
43	CGN-74	USA/1995	Outbreak-related	36 ^B (1-15-2-28-1-44-32)	Pubmlst, [143]
44	CGN-15	Germany/1991	Sporadic	37 ^B (1-19-21-17-1-18-14)	Pubmlst, [143]
45	CGN-19	Denmark/1990	Sporadic	38 ^B (1-25-23-6-4-21-17)	Pubmlst, [143]
46	CGN-20	Germany/1991	Sporadic	39 ^B (1-26-24-1-4-3-10)	Pubmlst, [143]
47	CGN-53	Denmark/1990	Sporadic	40 ^B (1-3-6-1-4-34-10)	Pubmlst, [143]
48	CGN-30	Germany/1991	Sporadic	41 ^B (1-31-31-24-4-10-21)	Pubmlst, [143]
49	CGN-54	Germany/1996	Sporadic	42 ^B (1-34-14-28-22-35-2)	Pubmlst, [143]
50	CGN-82	Belgium	Outbreak-related	43 ^B (1-42-49-10-1-48-23)	Pubmlst, [143]
51	CGN-68	USA/1995	Sporadic	44 ^B (10-12-1-33-4-29-31)	Pubmlst, [143]
52	CGN-29	Denmark/1990	Sporadic	45 ^B (10-12-30-24-4-9-20)	Pubmlst, [143]
53	CGN-79	Germany/1996	Outbreak-related	46 ^B (10-12-4-11-4-29-2)	Pubmlst, [143]
54	CGN-76	Germany	Outbreak-related	47 ^B (10-12-4-11-4-29-35)	Pubmlst, [143]
55	CGN-51	Denmark	Sporadic	48 ^B (10-12-4-6-4-33-2)	Pubmlst, [143]
56	CGN-10	Germany/1991	Sporadic	49 ^B (10-19-17-16-4-9-2)	Pubmlst, [143]
57	CGN-43	Germany/1991	Sporadic	50 ^B (10-34-40-26-22-27-2)	Pubmlst, [143]
58	CGN-45	Germany/1991	Sporadic	51 ^B (11-12-4-11-1-28-2)	Pubmlst, [143]
59	CGN-01	Denmark	Outbreak-related	52 ^B (12-17-16-1-14-14-7)	Pubmlst, [143]
60	CGN-13	Germany/1991	Sporadic	53 ^B (13-12-19-6-1-9-2)	Pubmlst, [143]
61	CGN-31	Germany/1998	Sporadic	54 ^B (13-12-32-24-4-9-22)	Pubmlst, [143]
62	CGN-36	Germany/1991	Sporadic	55 ^B (13-33-37-24-4-11-2)	Pubmlst, [143]
63	CGN-14	Germany/1991	Sporadic	56 ^B (14-23-20-1-16-17-13)	Pubmlst, [143]
64	CGN-16	Germany/1991	Sporadic	57 ^B (15-24-4-18-17-19-15)	Pubmlst, [143]
65	CGN-26	Germany/1991	Sporadic	58 ^B (18-17-28-22-4-4-18)	Pubmlst, [143]
66	CGN-28	Germany/1991	Sporadic	59 ^B (19-30-29-23-18-24-19)	Pubmlst, [143]
67	CGN-65	USA/1996	Outbreak-related	60 ^B (2-21-12-32-26-39-2)	Pubmlst, [143]
68	CGN-33	Germany/1996	Outbreak-related	61 ^B (20-12-34-24-1-9-2)	Pubmlst, [143]
69	CGN-34	Germany	Sporadic	62 ^B (21-31-35-24–1-25-23)	Pubmlst, [143]
70	CGN-47	Germany/1991	Sporadic	63 ^B (23-35-3-27-23-30-19)	Pubmlst, [143]
71	CGN-49	Germany/1991	Sporadic	64 ^B (24-1-42-13-24-32-26)	Pubmlst, [143]
72	CGN-69	USA/1996	Sporadic	65 ^B (28-38-45-1-16-40-5)	Pubmlst, [143]
73	CGN-64	USA/1995	Outbreak-related	66 ^B (28-38-45-31-16-30-5)	Pubmlst, [143]
74	CGN-75	USA/1995	Outbreak-related	67 ^B (29-41-48-11-1-45-10)	Pubmlst, [143]
75	CGN-12	Germany/1991	Sporadic	68 ^B (3-22-18-1-1-16-12)	Pubmlst, [143]

Table S1. Geographically and genotypically divergent 277 isolates selected for analyzing the global epidemiology of *A. baumannii* (cont.)

No.	Isolate	Country and year of isolation ^a	Comment ^b	Sequence type ^c	Reference ^d
76	C046	Korea/2003	Outbreak strain, carbapenem-R, ciprofloxacin-R, colistin-S	69 ^B (1-46-3-2-2-58-3)	Pubmlst, [72]
77	Q45	Australia/1998	Meropenem-S, amikacin-R, ciprofloxacin-R	69 ^B (1-46-3-2-2-58-3)	Pubmlst
78	C083	Korea/2005	Carbapenem-R	70 ^B (1-46-3-2-1-58-3)	Pubmlst, [72]
79	C077	Korea/2005	Carbapenem-R	71 ^B (1-46-3-2-2-58-4)	Pubmlst, [72]
80	C101	Korea/2006	Carbapenem-R	72 ^B (1-15-2-28-1-55-4)	Pubmlst, [72]
81	D015	Korea/2006	Carbapenem-R	73 ^B (1-47-53-1-1-59-32)	Pubmlst, [72]
82	Q18	Australia/2006	<i>bla</i> _{OXA-23} meropenem-R, amikacin-S, ciprofloxacin-S	73 ^B (1-47-53-1-1-59-32)	Pubmlst, [145]
83	04-888	Japan/2004	-	74 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-75-3)	Pubmlst
84	09-946	Japan	-	75 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-11-3)	Pubmlst
85	F10	China/2005	MDR, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-23} carbapenem-R, <i>armA</i>	75 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-11-3)	Pubmlst, [144]
86	K08-22	Korea/2008-09	bla _{OXA-24-like} Imipenem-R	75 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-11-3)	[146]
87	04-93	Japan/2002	-	76 ^B (1-12-3-2-2-10-3)	Pubmlst
88	HK01-011	China/2008-09	bla _{OXA-58} imipenem-R	76 ^B (1-12-3-2-2-10-3)	[146]
89	09-780	Japan/2008	-	77 ^B (1-1-66-12-33-76-21)	Pubmlst
90	09-775	Japan/2005	-	78 ^B (13-26-67-40-1-22-7)	Pubmlst
91	09-782	Japan/2009	-	79 ^B (34-12-68-41-32-7-46-79)	Pubmlst
92	09-785	Japan/2009	-	80 ^B (34-12-68-41-34-10-4)	Pubmlst
93	04-565	Japan/2004	-	81 ^B (1-54-69-11-4-69-45)	Pubmlst
94	07-791	Japan/2003	-	82 ^B (1-12-70-15-4-52-45)	Pubmlst
95	09-781	Japan/2009	-	83 ^B (21-12-2-15-35-77-4)	Pubmlst
96	08-943	Japan/2008	-	84 ^B (1-12-2-15-22-72-5)	Pubmlst
97	08-1648	Japan/2008	-	85 ^B (21-15-2-15-1-52-4)	Pubmlst
98	09-94	Japan/2008	-	86 ^B (21-15-2-15-1-78-4)	Pubmlst
99	04-774	Japan/2004	-	87 ^B (1-52-29-15-18-24-7)	Pubmlst
100	Ab08-13	Thailand/2008	-	88 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-10-3)	Pubmlst
101	ZS4	China/2005	-	88 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-10-3)	Pubmlst, [144]
102	ZP5	China/2005	MDR, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-23} carbapenem-R, <i>armA</i>	90 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-62-3)	Pubmlst, [144]
103	ZF5	China/2005	MDR, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-23} carbapenem-R, <i>armA</i>	91 ^B (22-15-13-12-4-62-2)	Pubmlst, [144]
104	ZY136	China/2005	MDR, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-23} carbapenem-R, <i>armA</i>	92 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-7-3)	Pubmlst, [144]
105	B0707-093	Korea/2006-07	<i>bla</i> _{OXA-23-like} carbapenem-R, colistin-R	92 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-7-3)	[61]
106	GEA011/07	Italy/2007	-	92 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-7-3)	Pubmlst
107	Q17	Australia/2006	<i>bla</i> _{OXA-23-like} meropenem-R, amikacin-R, ciprofloxacin-R	92 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-7-3)	Pubmlst, [145]
108	105-06	India/2008-09	bla _{OXA-58} imipenem-R	92 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-7-3)	[146]
109	HAP32	Malaysia/2008-09	bla _{OXA-24} imipenem-R	92 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-7-3)	[146]
110	P08-009	Philippines/2008-09	<i>bla</i> _{OXA-24} imipenem-R	92 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-7-3)	[146]

Table S1. Geographically and genotypically divergent 277 isolates selected for analyzing the global epidemiology of *A. baumannii* (cont.)

No.	Isolate	Country and year of isolation ^a	Comment ^b	Sequence type ^c	Reference ^d
111	A401	Taiwan	Carbapenem-R, int. clone II,	92 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-7-3)	[131, 132]
112	A484	UK	Carbapenem-R, int. clone II, bla _{OXA-83}	92 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-7-3)	[131, 132]
113	A371	Czech Republic	Carbapenem-R, int. clone II, $bla_{\Omega XA-83}$	92 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-7-3)	[131, 132]
114	04-1278	Japan/2004	-	92 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-7-3)	Pubmlst
115	GEBB14/07	Italy/2007	-	93 ^B (1-12-13-6-11-1-4)	Pubmlst
116	GEBC16/07	Italy/2007	MDR	94 ^B (2-12-12-1-1-4-4)	Pubmlst
117	GEAW22/07	Italy/2007	MDR	95 ^B (10-12-4-11-1-9-5)	Pubmlst
118	CQ95	China/2005	-	95 ^B (10-12-4-11-1-9-5)	Pubmlst
119	A384	Norway	Carbapenem-I, int. clone I, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-69}	95 ^B (10-12-4-11-1-9-5)	[131, 132]
120	1A2	China/2005	Outbreak-related, MDR, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-} _{23-like} carbapenem-R, colistin-S	96 ^B (1-43-50-31-1-50-26)	Pubmlst, [142]
121	4017355	Spain/2008	-	97 ^B (1-17-8-10-28-51-38)	Pubmlst
122	A24	UK	Carbapenem-S, int. clone II, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-66}	98 ^B (1-12-3-2-3-3)	[131, 132]
123	A392	Germany	Carbapenem-R, int. clone II, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-66}	98 ^B (1-12-3-2-2-3-3)	[131, 132]
124	Ab21	Argentine/2000	-	99 ^B (1-15-52-10-28-3-32)	Pubmlst
125	82	Argentina/2002	Environmental (bed-rail)	100 ^B (1-15-52-10-28-55-32)	Pubmlst
126	Ab31	Argentine/2000	-	101 ^B (1-15-12-6-28-12-40)	Pubmlst
127	Ab149	Argentine/1990	-	102 ^B (1-15-52-10-28-12-32)	Pubmlst
128	Ab545	Argentine/1991	-	103 ^B (12-17-12-1-29-3-39)	Pubmlst
129	Ab244	Argentine/1997	-	104 ^B (12-17-12-1-29-57-39)	Pubmlst
130	Ab295	Argentine/1998	-	105 ^B (31-45-51-6-30-53-6)	Pubmlst
131	R6	China/2007	-	106 ^B (1-3-15-2-2-7-3)	Pubmlst
132	CYH13	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	106 ^B (1-3-15-2-2-7-3)	[60]
133	Ab170	Argentine/1990	-	107 ^B (1-17-12-1-29-57-39)	Pubmlst
134	Ab834	Argentine/2005	-	108 ^B (10-12-4-6-4-9-5)	Pubmlst
135 ^f	I02-18	India/2008-09	Imipenem-R	108 ^B (10-12-4-6-4-9-5)	[146]
136	A63	Argentine	Carbapenem-S, int. clone I, bla _{OXA-69}	109 ^B (10-12-4-11-4-9-5)	[131, 132]
137	04-1279	Japan/2004	-	109 ^B (10-12-4-11-4-9-5)	Pubmlst
138	A442	Bulgaria	Carbapenem-S, int. clone I, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-69}	109 ^B (10-12-4-11-4-9-5)	[131, 132]
139	A368	UK	Carbapenem-S, int. clone I, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-112}	109 ^B (10-12-4-11-4-9-5)	[131, 132]
140	U557	Korea/2006-07	carbapenem-R, colistin-R	110 ^B (1-15-2-28-1-52-32)	[61]
141	Ab253	Argentine/1997	-	110 ^B (1-15-2-28-1-52-32)	Pubmlst
142	22	Argentina/2002	Environmental (bed-rail)	113 ^B (1-15-52-10-28-56-32)	Pubmlst
143	Ab592	Argentine/1995	-	114 ^B (1-15-52-10-28-57-32)	Pubmlst
144	GEBF02/08	Italy/2008	MDR	115 ^B (2-1-12-1-1-4-5)	Pubmlst
145	GEBG03/08	Italy/2008	-	116 ^B (1-15-4-11-4-4-2)	Pubmlst

Table S1. Geographically and genotypically divergent 277 isolates selected for analyzing the global epidemiology of *A. baumannii* (cont.)

No.	Isolate	Country and year of isolation ^a	Comment ^b	Sequence type ^c	Reference ^d
146	GEBL06/08	Italy/2008	-	117 ^B (1-15-2-2-1-4-5)	Pubmlst
147	GEBM07/08	Italy/2008	MDR	118 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-3-3)	Pubmlst
148	TW01-010	Taiwan/2008-09	bla _{OXA-24-like} imipenem-R	118 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-3-3)	[146]
149	A343	UK	Carbapenem-S, int. clone II, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-109}	118 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-3-3)	[131, 132]
150	Ab03-168	Thailand/2003	-	119 ^B (1-15-12-6-28-59-40)	Pubmlst
151	24029815	Spain/2006	-	121 ^B (1-17-52-10-28-63-32)	Pubmlst
152	ACAT195	USA/2008	-	122 ^B (1-3-61-2-2-7-3)	Pubmlst
153	ACAT199	USA/2008	-	123 ^B (1-35-61-2-2-3-3)	Pubmlst
154	ACAT1204	USA/2005	-	124 ^B (1-17-60-10-28-66-32)	Pubmlst
155	Q47	Australia/1999	<i>bla</i> _{OXA-23} meropenem-R, amikacin-R, ciprofloxacin-R	125 ^B (1-52-59-12-1-18-44)	Pubmlst, [145]
156	Q55	Australia/2003	Meropenem-S, amikacin-R, ciprofloxacin-R	126 ^B (10-53-4-11-4-64-5)	Pubmlst, [145]
157	Q22	Australia/2007	<i>bla</i> _{OXA-23} meropenem-R, amikacin-S, ciprofloxacin-S	127 ^B (1-33-57-11-26-11-6)	Pubmlst, [145]
158	Q29	Australia/2008	Meropenem-S, amikacin-S, ciprofloxacin-S	128 ^B (2-44-58-1-1-54-41)	Pubmlst, [145]
159	Q44	Australia/2009	Meropenem-S, amikacin-S, ciprofloxacin-S	129 ^B (1-38-42-37-4-11-43)	Pubmlst, [145]
160	Q56	Australia/2009	-	130 ^B (1-12-3-2-2-65-3)	Pubmlst, [145]
161	256	Argentina/2002	Environmental (dispenser)	131 ^B (1-15-60-10-28-56-32)	Pubmlst
162	Ab3135	Brazil/2007	<i>bla</i> _{OXA-23} carbapenem-R, SG10, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-95}	132 ^B (1-12-71-2-1-79-30)	Pubmlst, [130]
163	Ab3356	Brazil/2007	<i>bla</i> _{OXA-23} carbapenem-R, SG11, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-69}	134 ^B (2-12-73-12-1-9-47)	Pubmlst, [130]
164	09-1484	Japan/2009	-	135 ^B (10-53-74-11-4-80-5)	Pubmlst
165	H401	China/2009	-	136 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-16-3)	Pubmlst
166	LAMAB027	China/2009	MDR	137 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-12-3)	Pubmlst
167	LAMAB020	China/2009	MDR	138 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-50-3)	Pubmlst
168	K102-07	Korea/2008-09	bla _{OXA-24-like} imipenem-R	138 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-50-3)	[146]
169	KNSS0821 (KSS21)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	139 ^B (1-15-12-6-28-59-3)	Pubmlst, [60]
170	GYMC0812 (GY12)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	140 ^B (1-15-12-6-28-59-32)	Pubmlst, [60]
171	IJMC0822 (IJ22)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	141 ^B (1-47-3-2-2-7-30)	Pubmlst, [60]
172	IJMC0834	Korea/2008	-	142 ^B (10-12-4-11-1-9-30)	Pubmlst
173	CHA0839 (CHA39)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	143 ^B (1-47-67-28-1-10-6)	Pubmlst, [60]
174	KNSM0820	Korea/2008	-	144 ^B (21-35-2-28-22-52-4)	Pubmlst
175	IJMC0835	Korea/2008	-	145 ^B (21-35-2-28-1-52-4)	Pubmlst
176	CNMC0810 (CN10)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	146 ^B (1-15-13-12-4-14-2)	Pubmlst, [60]
177 ^g	Not found	China/2005	Carbapenem-S	146 ^B (1-15-13-12-4-14-2)	[144]
178	IJMC0801	Korea/2008	-	147 ^B (1-54-62-31-4-55-45)	Pubmlst

Table S1. Geographically and genotypically divergent 277 isolates selected for analyzing the global epidemiology of *A. baumannii* (cont.)

No.	Isolate	Country and year of isolation ^a	Comment ^b	Sequence type ^c	Reference ^d
179	KNSS0841	Korea/2008	-	148 ^B (1-3-65-45-4-26)	Pubmlst
180	YNMC0804 (YMM4)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	149 ^B (1-47-67-28-1-82-6)	Pubmlst, [60]
181	CSMC0818 (CS18)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	150 ^B (2-38-42-1-1-4-49)	Pubmlst, [60]
182	KNSM0822 (KSM22)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	151 ^B (21-12-2-28-32-83-4)	Pubmlst, [60]
183	KNSM0829 (KSM29)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	152 ^B (1-15-81-1-1-72-45)	Pubmlst, [60]
184	KYMC0814 (KY14)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	153 ^B (21-35-2-28-1-84-4)	Pubmlst, [60]
185	KSMC0830 (KS30)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	154 ^B (21-55-13-28-1-84-2)	Pubmlst, [60]
186	KMMC0807 (KMC7)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	155 ^B (1-57-78-12-1-25-51)	Pubmlst, [60]
187	CHA0815 (CHA15)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	156 ^B (1-15-2-28-1-25-32)	Pubmlst, [60]
188	CHA0826 (CHA26)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	157 ^B (1-31-79-43-4-25-50)	Pubmlst, [60]
189	CHA0833 (CHA33)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	158 ^B (21-35-2-28-1-85-4)	Pubmlst, [60]
190	CHA0851 (CHA51)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	159 ^B (1-57-78-12-1-10-51)	Pubmlst, [60]
191	YNMC0845 (YN45)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	160 ^B (1-56-2-44-1-52-6)	Pubmlst, [60]
192	IJMC0840 (IJ40)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	161 ^B (21-12-2-28-1-86-4)	Pubmlst, [60]
193	KMSS0815 (KSS15)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	162 ^B (40-1-83-6-4-7-13)	Pubmlst, [60]
194	KYMC0823 (KY23)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	163 ^B (33-12-40-26-32-91-5)	Pubmlst, [60]
195	CHA0818 (CHA18)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	164 ^B (33-12-40-26-32-84-5)	Pubmlst, [60]
196	CHA0827 (CHA27)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	165 ^B (33-12-40-26-25-84-5)	Pubmlst, [60]
197	CYMC0823 (CYM23)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	166 ^B (33-12-40-26-32-87-5)	Pubmlst, [60]
198	CSMC0830 (CS30)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	167 ^B (33-12-40-26-32-83-5)	Pubmlst, [60]
199	KNSM0811 (KSM11)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	168 ^B (1-12-65-45-4-88-26)	Pubmlst, [60]
200	MJMC0826 (MJ26)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	169 ^B (1-34-70-28-4-90-45)	Pubmlst, [60]
201	CHA0831 (CHA31)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	170 ^B (1-12-80-28-35-89-30)	Pubmlst, [60]
202	CHA0842 (CHA42)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	171 ^B (1-48-65-45-4-90-26)	Pubmlst, [60]
203	CCH0815 (CCH15)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	172 ^B (1-34-80-28-1-72-45)	Pubmlst, [60]
204	CHA0850 (CHA50)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	173 ^B (1-58-29-2-4-9-53)	Pubmlst, [60]

Table S1. Geographically and genotypically divergent 277 isolates selected for analyzing the global epidemiology of *A. baumannii* (cont.)

No.	Isolate	Country and year of	Comment ^b	Sequence type ^c	Reference ^d
205	CSMC0841	Korea/2008	Carbanenem-S	174^{B} (11-27-14-21-15-22-15)	Pubmlst [60]
205	(CS41)	10100/2000		1/1 (11 2/ 11 21 13 22 13)	1 uomist, [00]
206	YMC42	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	175 ^B (1-17-82-39-1-92-7)	[60]
207	CYH28	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	176 ^B (21-48-58-42-36-83-4)	[60]
208	KS49	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	177 ^B (33-21-12-49-1-54-7)	[60]
209	YMM05	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	178 ^B (31-61-70-46-16-58-6)	[60]
210	KSMC0847 (KS47)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	179 ^B (35-62-75-28-35-7-30)	Pubmlst, [60]
211	MJMC0812 (MJ12)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	180 ^B (1-63-12-6-28-59-30)	Pubmlst, [60]
212	CYH0826 (CYH26)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	181 ^B (1-64-76-1-23-81-32)	Pubmlst, [60]
213	KNSM0807 (KSM07)	Korea/2008	Carbapenem-S	182 ^B (35-60-77-11-26-11-48)	Pubmlst, [60]
214	KNSS0810	Korea/2008	-	183 ^B (1-17-81-1-1-91-26)	Pubmlst
215	KNSS0836	Korea/2008	-	184 ^B (36-31-70-28-4-54-4)	Pubmlst
216	LAMAB033	China/2009	MDR	184 ^B (36-31-70-28-4-54-4)	Pubmlst
217	KYMC0822	Korea/2008	-	185 ^B (37-53-13-47-32-64-52)	Pubmlst
218	SCMC0819	Korea/2008	-	186 ^B (38-59-80-48-18-58-43)	Pubmlst
219	A20	France	Carbapenem-R, int. clone III, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-71}	187 ^B (1-1-1-1-9-6)	[131, 132]
220	A377	Germany	Carbapenem-R, int. clone III, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-71}	187 ^B (1-1-1-1-9-6)	[131, 132]
221	A329	Spain	Carbapenem-R, int. clone III, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-71}	187 ^B (1-1-1-1-9-6)	[131, 132]
222	A387	Greece	Carbapenem-I, int. clone II, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-66}	189 ^B (1-12-3-2-2-4-3)	[131, 132]
223	Mon2	Italy/2007	-	196 ^B (2-21-12-32-26-63-5)	Pubmlst
224	Mon1	Italy/2008	-	197 ^B (10-12-4-11-4-64-5)	Pubmlst
225	Ab08-26	Thailand/2008	-	200 ^B (17-29-24-12-19-31-40)	Pubmlst
226	Ab04-32	Thailand/2004	-	202 ^B (32-46-4-11-4-32-5)	Pubmlst
227	NYD625	USA/2008	-	203 ^B (41-1-72-32-1-98-6)	Pubmlst
228	NYD644	USA/2009	-	204 ^B (1-17-61-2-2-99-3)	Pubmlst
229	BJH07	USA/2008	-	205 ^B (1-17-60-10-28-99-32)	Pubmlst
230	UCLA 2	USA/2009	-	206 ^B (1-17-72-2-2-99-3)	Pubmlst
231	UCLA 3	USA/2009	-	207 ^B (10-53-84-11-4-100-5)	Pubmlst
232	UCLA 11	USA/2009	-	208 ^B (1-3-61-2-2-97-3)	Pubmlst
233	207	Argentina/2002	Environmental (bed-rail)	209 ^B (1-15-60-39-28-56-32)	Pubmlst
234	AB104	Argentina/1992	-	210 ^B (1-47-52-10-28-4-32)	Pubmlst
235	AB170	Argentina/1989	-	211 ^B (1-52-62-39-4-4-38)	Pubmlst
236	202	Argentina/2002	Environmental (personnel hand)	212 ^B (1-15-60-10-28-56-9)	Pubmlst
237	72	Argentina/2002	Environmental (personnel hand)	213 ^B (1-52-52-10-28-55-32)	Pubmlst
238	AB17	Argentina/2002	-	214 ^B (1-15-60-10-28-57-32)	Pubmlst
239	279	Argentina/2002	-	215 ^B (12-17-72-1-26-3-7)	Pubmlst

Table S1. Geographically and genotypically divergent 277 isolates selected for analyzing the global epidemiology of *A. baumannii* (cont.)

No.	Isolate	Country and year of isolation ^a	Comment ^b	Sequence type ^c	Reference ^d
240	49631	Argentina/2008	-	216 ^B (10-12-32-11-12-9-5)	Pubmlst
241	287	Argentina/2006	-	217 ^B (10-12-4-5-12-57-5)	Pubmlst
242	OXA-23 clone 1		-	218 ^B (1-3-61-2-2-102-3)	Pubmlst
243	TUM10634	Japan/2007	-	219 ^B (1-3-61-2-2-101-3)	Pubmlst
244	H07-988	Korea/2007	-	220 ^B (1-3-3-2-1-7-3)	Pubmlst
245	TUM10639	Japan/2007	-	221 ^B (33-57-86-10-1-103-6)	Pubmlst
246	TUM10641	Japan/2007	-	222 ^B (1-15-87-28-1-104-32)	Pubmlst
247	LAMAB032	China/2009	MDR	223 ^B (1-17-3-2-2-56-3)	Pubmlst
248	405 E4	China/2006	-	224 ^B (1-34-72-6-1-18-45)	Pubmlst
249	C186	Brazil/2007	-	225 ^B (12-17-72-1-29-99-39)	Pubmlst
250	I128	Brazil/2008	-	226 ^B (12-17-72-1-29-16-54)	Pubmlst
251	1056	Brazil/2007	-	227 ^B (1-15-60-10-28-99-32)	Pubmlst
252	I013	Brazil/2007	-	228 ^B (1-15-87-28-1-16-32)	Pubmlst
253	C012	Brazil	-	229 ^B (1-15-87-28-1-107-32)	Pubmlst
254	C581	Brazil	-	230 ^B (1-17-60-10-28-108-32)	Pubmlst
255	I006	Brazil/2007	-	231 ^B (10-12-88-11-4-98-5)	Pubmlst
256	252	Brazil	-	232 ^B (21-48-89-50-36-109-4)	Pubmlst
257	282	Brazil	-	233 ^B (1-15-60-10-28-106-32)	Pubmlst
258	596	Brazil	-	234 ^B (21-48-89-42-36-109-4)	Pubmlst
259	440	Brazil	-	235 ^B (1-69-90-2-1-79-30)	Pubmlst
260	487	Brazil	-	236 ^B (12-17-72-1-29-102-39)	Pubmlst
261	597	Brazil	-	237 ^B (1-15-60-10-28-106-4)	Pubmlst
262	546	Brazil	-	238 ^B (1-3-61-2-38-97-3)	Pubmlst
263	A47	Germany	Carbapenem-S, int. clone II, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-66}	239 ^B (1-12-3-2-2-55-3)	Pubmlst, [131, 132]
264	A37	Singapore	Carbapenem-S, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-64}	240 ^B (1-15-2-15-1-52-16)	Pubmlst, [131, 132]
265	A60	Argentina	Carbapenem-S, int. clone II, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-65}	241 ^B (1-15-52-10-28-12-16)	Pubmlst, [131, 132]
266	A135	Belgium	Carbapenem-S, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-111}	242^{B} (1-28-49-10-1-24-4)	Pubmlst, [131, 132]
267	A457	Estonia	Carbapenem-S, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-106}	243 ^B (1-50-13-6-4-60-42)	Pubmlst, [131, 132]
268	A13	The Netherlands	Carbapenem-S, int. clone III, bla _{OXA-71}	244 ^B (1-51-1-1-9-6)	Pubmlst, [131, 132]
269	A404	Poland	Carbapenem-I, int. clone I, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-110}	245 ^B (10-12-4-11-4-4-5)	Pubmlst, [131, 132]
270	A443	Slovenia	Carbapenem-I, int. clone I, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-107}	245 ^B (10-12-4-11-4-4-5)	Pubmlst, [131, 132]
271	A424	Croatia	Carbapenem-R, int. clone I, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-107}	246 ^B (10-12-4-11-4-55-5)	Pubmlst, [131, 132]
272	A479	UK (exported from Pakistan)	Carbapenem-I, int. clone I, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-69}	247 ^B (10-12-4-11-4-58-5)	Pubmlst, [131, 132]
273	A388	Greece	Carbapenem-S, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-92}	248 ^B (10-18-4-11-4-11-5)	Pubmlst, [131, 132]
274	A374	The Netherlands	bla _{OXA-51}	249 ^B (12-18-12-1-29-14-39)	Pubmlst, [131, 132]
275	A125	Northern Ireland	bla _{OXA-51}	250 ^B (12-18-12-1-29-55-23)	Pubmlst, [131, 132]

Table S1. Geographically and genotypically divergent 277 isolates selected for analyzing the global epidemiology of *A. baumannii* (cont.)

No.	Isolate	Country and year of isolation ^a	Comment ^b	Sequence type ^c	Reference ^d
276	A95	Italy	Carbapenem-S, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-98}	251 ^B (32-48-54-35-1-11-40)	Pubmlst, [131, 132]
277	A473	Poland	Carbapenem-I, int. clone II, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-108}	252 ^B (1-49-38-12-31-56-4)	Pubmlst, [131, 132]

Table S1. Geographically and genotypically divergent 277 isolates selected for analyzing the global epidemiology of A. baumannii (cont.)

^aUK, the United Kingdom; USA, the United States of America. ^bRef., reference; Int., international; S, susceptible; I, intermediate; R, resistant; MDR, multidrug resistant; SG, sequence

solution for the superior of article.

No.	Isolate	Country and year of isolation ^a	Comment ^b	Sequence type ^c	Reference ^d
1	LUH 3783	Czech Republic/1991	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone I	$1^{P}(1-1-1-5-1-1)$	Pasteur MLST, [39]
2	LUH 6015	Italy/1998	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone I	1 ^P (1-1-1-5-1-1)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
3	LUH 6224	Australia/1995	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone I	1 ^P (1-1-1-5-1-1)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
4	LUH 7140	UK/2000	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone I	1 ^P (1-1-1-5-1-1)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
5	LUH 8592	Bulgaria/2001	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone I	1 ^P (1-1-1-5-1-1)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
6	LUH 9668	Ireland/2003	MDR, int. clone I	1 ^P (1-1-1-5-1-1)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
7	RUH 3247	Belgium/1990	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone I	1 ^P (1-1-1-5-1-1)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
8	LUH 6050	South Africa	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone I	1 ^P (1-1-1-5-1-1)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
9	LUH 5881	Spain/1998	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone I	1 ^P (1-1-1-5-1-1)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
10	LUH 6125	Poland/1998	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone I	1 ^P (1-1-1-5-1-1)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
11	AYE	France/2001	MDR, outbreak-related	1 ^P (1-1-1-5-1-1)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
12	AB0057	USA/2004	MDR	1 ^P (1-1-1-5-1-1)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
13	3887	Greece/2006	bla_{OXA-58} and bla_{VIM-4} imipenem-R, outbreak-related, int. clone I	1 ^P (1-1-1-5-1-1)	[82]
14	A1755	UK/2000	Sporadic, int. clone II	2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
15	LUH 4629	Czech Republic/1996	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone II	2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
16	LUH 5682	The Netherlands/1993	MDR, isolated from horse, int. clone II	2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
17	LUH 6024	Spain/1998	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone II	2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
18	RUH 3422	Denmark/1984	Antibiotic-S, sporadic, int. clone II	2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
19	LUH 5868	France/1997	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone II	2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
20	LUH 6021	Poland/1998	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone II	2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
21	LUH 8143	Singapore/1997	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone II	2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
22	RUH 3381	Ireland/1989	MDR, int. clone II	2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
23	LUH 6231	Australia/1999	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone II	2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
24	3979	Italy/2006	MDR, outbreak-related, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-58} carbapenem-R, colistin-S, int. clone II	2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	[127]
25	3894	Greece/2006	bla_{OXA-58} and bla_{VIM-1} imipenem-R, outbreak strain, int. clone II	2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	Pasteur MLST, [82]
26	4026	Lebanon/2007	<i>bla</i> _{OXA-58} imipenem-R, outbreak strain, int. clone II	2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	Pasteur MLST, [82]
27	ANT229	Turkey/2009	-	2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	Pasteur MLST
28	AO-12066 (K51-54)	Sweden/2004	MDR, $bla_{OXA-58-like}$ carbapenem-R, int. clone II	2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	Pasteur MLST, paper III
29	LUH 6009	France/1997	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone III	$3^{P}(3-3-2-2-3-1-3)$	Pasteur MLST, [39]
30	LUH 6012	Italy/1998	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone III	$3^{P}(3-3-2-2-3-1-3)$	Pasteur MLST, [39]
31	LUH 6028	Spain/1998	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone III	$3^{P}(3-3-2-2-3-1-3)$	Pasteur MLST, [39]
32	LUH 9536	Belgium/1993	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone III	$3^{P}(3-3-2-3-1-3)$	Pasteur MLST, [39]
33	4025	Lebanon/2005	<i>bla</i> _{OXA-58} imipenem-R, int. clone III	$3^{P}(3-3-2-3-1-3)$	Pasteur MLST, [39]
34	LUH 8225	The Netherlands/2002	Antibiotic-S, sporadic	4 ^P (1-3-3-2-4-1-4)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
35	LUH 5703	Poland/1999	MDR, outbreak-related	5 ^P (4-1-2-2-4-1-5)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
36	AO-8866 (K51-58)	Sweden (exported from Poland)/2006	MDR, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-58-like} carbapenem-R, SG7	5 ^P (4-1-2-2-4-1-5)	Pasteur MLST, paper III
37	A955	UK/2000	Sporadic	6^{P} (5-4-4-1-3-3-4)	Pasteur MLST, [39]

Table S2. Geographically and genotypically divergent 129 isolates selected for analyzing the global epidemiology of *A. baumannii*

No.	Isolate	Country and year of isolation ^a	Comment ^b	Sequence type ^c	Reference ^d
38	LUH 3782	Czech Republic/1991	MDR, int. clone I	7 ^P (1-1-1-2-5-1-1)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
39	RUH 0510	The Netherlands/1984	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone I	$8^{P}(1-1-1-1-1-1)$	Pasteur MLST, [39]
40	700	Italy/1999	-	$8^{P}(1-1-1-1-1-1)$	Pasteur MLST
41	3886	Greece/2005	-	$8^{P}(1-1-1-1-1-1)$	Pasteur MLST
42	LUH 4633	Czech Republic/1993	Antibiotic-S	9 ^P (3-1-5-3-6-1-3)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
43	LUH 4641	Czech Republic/1994	MDR	$10^{P} (1-3-2-1-4-4-4)$	Pasteur MLST, [39]
44	LUH 6237	Australia/1981-91	Antibiotic-S, sporadic	10^{P} (1-3-2-1-4-4-4)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
45	LUH 4718	Czech Republic/1994	Antibiotic-S	11 ^P (1-2-6-2-3-4-4)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
46	LUH 4727	Czech Republic/1994	Antibiotic-S	12 ^P (3-5-7-1-7-2-6)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
47	LUH 5687	The Netherlands/1996	Antibiotic-S, Isolated from dog, int. clone III	13 ^p (3-1-2-2-4-1-3)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
48	LUH 5874	France/1997	MDR, outbreak-related	14 ^P (3-3-2-2-3-1-7)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
49	LUH 8406	Czech Republic/2001	MDR	15 ^P (6-6-8-2-3-5-4)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
50	LUH 6374	The Netherlands/2000	MDR, outbreak-related	15 ^P (6-6-8-2-3-5-4)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
51	LUH 8147	Argentina/1995	MDR, outbreak-related	15 ^P (6-6-8-2-3-5-4)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
52	3868	Turkey/2003	<i>bla</i> _{OXA-58-like} imipenem-R, outbreak-related	15 [°] (6-6-8-2-3-5-4)	Pasteur MLST, [82]
53	Ab54	Spain/2003-04	Imipenem-R, outbreak-related	15 ^P (6-6-8-2-3-5-4)	[137]
54	LUH 6639	The Netherlands/2001	MDR, outbreak-related	16 ^P (7-7-2-2-8-4-4)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
55	SDF	France/<1999	Antibiotic-S, sporadic	17 ^P (3-29-30-1-9-1-4)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
56	LUH 8326	The Netherlands/2002	Antibiotic-S, sporadic	18 ^P (1-8-9-2-4-6-4)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
57	LUH 8605	Bulgaria/2002	MDR, sporadic, int. clone I	19 ^P (1-2-1-1-5-1-1)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
58	LUH 8723	The Netherlands/2003	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone I	20 ^P (3-1-1-5-1-1)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
59	2979	Italy/2002	Imipenem-S, outbreak-related, int. clone I	20 ^p (3-1-1-5-1-1)	Pasteur MLST, [82]
60	3130	Lebanon/2004	<i>bla</i> _{OXA-58} imipenem-R, outbreak- related, int. clone I	20 ^p (3-1-1-5-1-1)	Pasteur MLST, [82]
61	LUH 9415	The Netherlands/2004	Antibiotic-S, sporadic	21 ^P (3-3-2-2-4-4-8)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
62	RUH 1093	The Netherlands/1985	Antibiotic-S, sporadic	22 ^P (3-9-3-2-4-1-9)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
63	RUH 1316	The Netherlands/1964	Antibiotic-S	23 ^P (1-3-10-1-4-4-4)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
64	AO-11921 (K51-60)	Sweden/2006	MDR, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-58-like} carbapenem-R, SG5	23 ^P (1-3-10-1-4-4-4)	Pasteur MLST, paper III
65	RUH 1317	The Netherlands/1985	Antibiotic-S	24 ^P (1-10-2-2-9-1-10)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
66	RUH 1486	The Netherlands/1985	Antibiotic-S, sporadic	25 ^P (3-3-2-4-7-2-4)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
67	3865	Turkey/2005	<i>bla</i> _{OXA-23} and <i>bla</i> _{OXA-58} imipenem-R, outbreak-related	25 ^P (3-3-2-4-7-2-4)	Pasteur MLST, [82]
68	3890	Greece/2003	bla _{OXA-58} imipenem-R; outbreak-related	25 ^P (3-3-2-4-7-2-4)	Pasteur MLST, [82]
69	4190	Italy/2009	<i>bla</i> _{OXA-72} imipenem-R, outbreak-related	25 ^P (3-3-2-4-7-2-4)	Pasteur MLST, [82]
70	AO-471 (K51-49)	Sweden (exported from Thailand)/2005	MDR, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-23-like} carbapenem-R, SG12	25 [°] (3-3-2-4-7-2-4)	Pasteur MLST, paper III
71	DR25547 (LUH14601)	Singapore/1996	$bla_{\text{OXA-23}}, bla_{\text{OXA-64}}$	25 [°] (3-3-2-4-7-2-4)	Pasteur MLST
72	RUH 1907	The Netherlands/1986	Antibiotic-S, sporadic	26 ^P (1-2-11-5-3-1-11)	Pasteur MLST, [39]

Table S2. Geographically and genotypically divergent 129 isolates selected for analyzing the global epidemiology of *A. baumannii* (cont.)

No.	Isolate	Country and year of	Comment ^b	Sequence type ^c	Reference ^d
73	RUH 2180	The Netherlands/1987	Antibiotic-S sporadic	27 ^P (3-3-12-2-9-7-4)	Pasteur MI ST [39]
74	RUH 2208	Sweden/1980-81	Antibiotic-S, sporadic	28^{P} (1-1-2-2-10-4-4)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
75	RUH 3413	UK/1981	MDR. sporadic	29^{P} (1-3-13-1-5-8-12)	Pasteur MLST. [39]
76	RUH 3423	Denmark/1990	Antibiotic-S, sporadic	30^{P} (1-1-2-5-3-2-3)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
77	RUH 3424	Denmark/1990	Antibiotic-S, sporadic	31^{P} (1-2-2-2-11-1-1)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
78	RUH 3425	Denmark/1990	Antibiotic-S, sporadic	32 ^P (1-1-2-2-3-4-4)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
79	Ab55	Spain/2004-07	Imipenem-R, outbreak-related	$32^{P}(1-1-2-2-3-4-4)$	[137]
80	RUH 3429	Sweden/1980-81	Antibiotic-S, sporadic	34 ^P (8-1-14-3-12-1-13)	Pasteur MLST, [39] ^e
81	LUH 4631	Czech Republic/1992	Antibiotic-S	35 ^P (9-3-2-2-5-4-14)	Pasteur MLST, [39] ^e
82	LUH 4707	Czech Republic/1992	Antibiotic-S	36 ^P (1-2-2-3-1-2)	Pasteur MLST, [39] ^e
83	LUH 4708	Czech Republic/1992	Antibiotic-S	37 ^P (3-2-2-7-1-2)	Pasteur MLST, [39] ^e
84	LUH 4709	Czech Republic/1993	Antibiotic-S	38 ^P (3-2-15-6-6-4-5)	Pasteur MLST, [39] ^e
85	LUH 4711	Czech Republic/1992	Antibiotic-S	39 ^P (10-4-3-2-13-1-2)	Pasteur MLST, [39] ^e
86	LUH 4722	Czech Republic/1996	Antibiotic-S	40 ^P (1-2-2-2-5-1-14)	Pasteur MLST, [39] ^e
87	LUH 4725	Czech Republic/1993	Antibiotic-S	41 ^P (1-1-2-2-12-1-5)	Pasteur MLST, [39] ^e
88	LUH 5684	The Netherlands/1994	Antibiotic-S, isolated from horse	42 ^P (3-11-16-1-13-1-15)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
89	LUH 5685	The Netherlands/1994	Antibiotic-S, isolated from dog	43 ^P (3-3-13-2-4-4-5)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
90	LUH 5691	The Netherlands/1997	Antibiotic-S, isolated from cat	44 ^P (11-2-2-4-13-1-2)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
91	LUH 6011	Greece/1997	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone II	45 ^P (2-6-2-2-2-2)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
92	LUH 7852	Czech Republic/1994	MDR	46 ^P (5-12-11-2-14-9-14)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
93	LUH 7855	Czech Republic/2000	MDR, outbreak-related, int. clone II	47 ^P (2-13-2-2-2-20)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
94	LUH 8088	The Netherlands/2002	Antibiotic-S, sporadic	48 ^P (3-14-2-2-15-4-5)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
95	LUH 9084	The Netherlands/2003	Antibiotic-S, sporadic	49 ^p (3-3-6-2-3-1-5)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
96	AB900	USA/2003	Antibiotic-S	49 ^P (3-3-6-2-3-1-5)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
97	LUH 9136	The Netherlands/2004	MDR, sporadic	50 ^P (3-15-17-2-3-1-2)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
98	RUH 0414	The Netherlands/1978	Antibiotic-S	51 ^P (3-16-6-2-16-4-2)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
99	RUH 1752	The Netherlands/1986	Antibiotic-S, outbreak-related	52 ^P (3-2-2-7-9-1-5)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
100	RUH 1063	<1948	Antibiotic-S	52 ^P (3-2-2-7-9-1-5)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
101	ATCC 17904	<1962	Antibiotic-S	54 ^P (12-3-18-2-17-4-5)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
102	RUH 2688	The Netherlands/1987	Antibiotic-S, sporadic	55 ^P (13-4-2-2-6-1-16)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
103	RUH 3410	UK/1982	Antibiotic-S, sporadic	56 ^P (3-17-7-2-18-1-2)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
104	RUH 3414	UK/1988	Antibiotic-S, sporadic	57 ^P (1-3-17-5-3-1-14)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
105	SB 1414	The Netherlands/1997	Antibiotic-S	58 ^P (13-4-2-2-7-1-2)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
106	LUH 6049	Turkey/1997	MDR, int. clone II	59 ^p (3-2-19-2-5-2-5)	Pasteur MLST, [39]
107	3978	Italy/2006	MDR, outbreak-related, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-58} carbapenem-R, colistin-S, SG8, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-90}	78 ^p (25-3-6-2-28-1-29)	[127]
108	Ab1	Spain/2006-07	Imipenem-R, outbreak-related	79 ^P (26-2-2-2-29-4-5)	[137]
109	Ab9	Spain/2005-07	Imipenem-R, outbreak-related	80 ^P (1-1-10-1-4-4-5)	[137]
110	Ab20	Spain/1999-2000	Imipenem-R, outbreak-related	81 ^P (1-1-1-5-1-2)	[137]
111	2977	Italy/2001	<i>bla</i> _{OXA-58} imipenem-R	82 ^P (28-3-2-1-4-4-4)	[82]

Table S2. Geographically and genotypically divergent 129 isolates selected for analyzing the global epidemiology of *A. baumannii* (cont.)

No.	Isolate	Country and year of	Comment ^b	Sequence type ^c	Reference ^d
112	3866	Turkey/2003	<i>bla</i> _{OXA-58} imipenem-R, outbreak- related	83 ^P (26-4-2-2-9-1-4)	Pasteur MLST, [82]
113	3871	Turkey/2003	bla _{OXA-58} imipenem-R	84 ^P (6-6-8-2-3-5-30)	Pasteur MLST, [82]
114	4389	Greece/2003	-	85 ^P (5-2-4-1-3-3-4)	Pasteur MLST
115	4381	Greece/2003	-	86 ^P (6-30-2-19-31-20-31)	Pasteur MLST
116	ANK29	Turkey/2009	-	95 ^P (1-3-2-2-4-24-2)	Pasteur MLST
117	ANK33	Turkey/2009	-	96 ^P (1-2-36-2-2-2)	Pasteur MLST
118	IZM35	Turkey/2009	-	97 ^P (2-2-36-2-2-2)	Pasteur MLST
119	ANK17	Turkey/2009	-	98 ^P (1-2-2-2-2-2)	Pasteur MLST
120	ANT750	Turkey/2009	-	99 ^P (12-3-18-2-4-4-5)	Pasteur MLST
121	D1	Turkey/2009	-	100^{P} (1-1-1-2-1-1-2)	Pasteur MLST
122	D10	Turkey/2009	-	101 ^P (1-1-1-2-1-1-1)	Pasteur MLST
123	D14	Turkey/2009	-	$102^{P}(1-1-1-2-1-5-2)$	Pasteur MLST
124	ML	Egypt/2010	MDR, <i>bla</i> _{NDM-2} carbapenem-R	103 ^P (7-3-2-1-7-1-4)	Pasteur MLST, [89]
125	pla30155	China/2010	MDR	104 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-14)	Pasteur MLST
126	pla30104	China/2008	Antibiotic-S	105 ^P (1-2-2-5-1-2)	Pasteur MLST
127	pla30162	China/2010	Antibiotic-S	106 ^P (3-3-16-1-13-1-1)	Pasteur MLST
128	AO-2412 (K51-56)	Sweden (exported from Thailand)/2005	MDR, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-23-like} carbapenem-R, SG13	109 ^p (26-4-2-2-9-1-5)	Pasteur MLST, paper III
129	Acb16	Romania/2010	bla _{OXA-58-like}	110 ^P (3-2-2-4-7-2-2)	Pasteur MLST

Table S2. Geographically and genotypically divergent 129 isolates selected for analyzing	the gl	obal
epidemiology of A. baumannii (cont.)		

^aUK, the United Kingdom; USA, the United States of America. ^bRef., reference; Int., international; S, susceptible; R, resistant; MDR, multidrug resistant; SG, sequence group. ^cST^P, sequence type according to Pasteur Institute's scheme. ^dPasteur MLST, http://www.pasteur.fr/recherche/genopole/PF8/mlst/. ^eSequence types ST34-ST41 in the Pasteur MLST database were inconsistently designated as ST33-ST40 in the reference article.

No.	Isolate	Country and year of isolation ^a	Comment ^b	Sequence type ^c	Reference ^d
1	RUH 2207	Sweden/1980	Antibiotic-S, sporadic	11 ^B (4-11-6-1-7-8-6) 53 ^P (1-1-2-2-3-4-2)	Pubmlst, Pasteur MLST, [39, 133]
2	RUH 875	The Netherlands/1984	Ref. strain, outbreak-related, int. clone I, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-69}	$12^{B} (8-4-4-4-5-5) 109^{B} (10-12-4-11-4-9-5) 1^{P} (1-1-1-1-5-1-1)$	Pubmlst, Pasteur MLST, [39, 131-133]
3	LUH 5875	The Netherlands/1997	Ref. strain, MDR, outbreak- related, carbapenem-S, int. clone III, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-71}	187 ^B (1-1-1-1-9-6) 3 ^P (3-3-2-2-3-1-3)	Pasteur MLST, [39, 72, 131, 132]
4	ATCC 19606 (DSM 30007)	The Netherlands/1911	Ref. strain, Antibiotic-S, sporadic	$14^{B} (1-10-10-6-1-4-14) 26^{B} (1-10-36-22-20-4-24) 52^{P} (3, 2, 2, 7, 9, 1-5) $	Pubmlst, Pasteur MLST, [39, 133, 143]
5	ATCC 17978	1951	Ref. strain, Antibiotic-S	$\frac{32}{112^{B}} (1-12-56-36-1-61-26)$ 77 ^P (3-2-2-2-3-4-28)	Pubmlst, Pasteur MLST, [39]
6	240	France/2003	bla_{OXA-23} (Tn2006) carbapenem- R, int. clone II	92 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-7-3) 2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	[135]
7	512	Tahiti/2004	bla_{OXA-23} (Tn2006) carbapenem- R, int. clone II	92 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-7-3) 2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	[135]
8	761	Vietnam/2005	bla_{OXA-23} (Tn2006) carbapenem- R, int. clone II	$92^{B} (1-3-3-2-2-7-3) 2^{P} (2-2-2-2-2-2)$	[135]
9	810	New Caledonia/2004	bla_{OXA-23} (Tn2006) carbapenem- R, int. clone II	$92^{B} (1-3-3-2-2-7-3) 2^{P} (2-2-2-2-2-2)$	[135]
10	863	Thailand/2006	bla_{OXA-23} (Tn2006) carbapenem- R, int. clone II	$92^{B} (1-3-3-2-2-7-3) 2^{P} (2-2-2-2-2-2)$	[135]
11	883	Reunion/2006	bla_{OXA-23} (Tn2006) carbapenem- R, int. clone II	92 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-7-3) 2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	[135]
12	859	South Africa/2006	bla_{OXA-23} (Tn2006) carbapenem- R, int. clone II	92 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-7-3) 2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	[135]
13	AS1	UAE/2006	bla_{OXA-23} (Tn2006) carbapenem- R, int. clone I	$109^{B}(10-12-4-11-4-9-5)$ $1^{P}(1-1-1-1-5-1-1)$	[135]
14	Ab14	Algeria/2004	bla_{OXA-23} (Tn2007) carbapenem- R, int. clone I	109^{B} (10-12-4-11-4-9-5) 1^{P} (1-1-1-1-5-1-1)	[135]
15	585	France/2004	bla_{OXA-23} (Tn2006) carbapenem- R, int. clone II	118 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-3-3) 2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	[135]
16	BEL	Belgium/2007	bla_{OXA-23} (Tn2007) carbapenem- R, int. clone I	$245^{B} (10-12-4-11-4-4-5) 1^{P} (1-1-1-1-5-1-1)$	[135]
17	614	Libya/2004	bla_{OXA-23} (Tn2008) carbapenem- R, int. clone I	95 ^B (10-12-4-11-1-9-5) 20 ^P (3-1-1-1-5-1-1)	[135]
18	AS3	UAE/2006	<i>bla</i> _{OXA-23} (IS <i>Aba1</i>) carbapenem- R, int. clone I	95 ^B (10-12-4-11-1-9-5) 20 ^P (3-1-1-1-5-1-1)	[135]
19	1190	Bahrain/2008	<i>bla</i> _{OXA-23} (IS <i>Aba1</i>) carbapenem- R, int. clone I	95 ^B (10-12-4-11-1-9-5) 20 ^P (3-1-1-1-5-1-1)	[135]
20	142HUC	Portugal/1999	$bla_{\rm OXA-40}$ carbapenem-R	98 ^B (1-12-3-2-2-3-3) 2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	[136]
21	65FFC (65HUC)	Portugal/1998	<i>bla</i> _{IMP-5} carbapenem-R, amikacin-S, ciprofloxacin-S	$120^{\rm B}$ (1-3-6-1-4-3-6) $32^{\rm P}$ (1-1-2-2-3-4-4)	Pubmlst, [136]
22	K71-71	Norway (exported from Pakistan)/2009	MDR, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-23-like} carbapenem- R, <i>armA</i> , SG4, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-51}	103 ^B (12-17-12-1-29-3-39) 15 ^P (6-6-8-2-3-5-4)	Pubmlst, Pasteur MLST, paper II
23	K58-19	Norway (exported from Italy)/2009	MDR; <i>bla</i> _{OXA-23-like} carbapenem- R, <i>armA</i> , int. clone II; <i>bla</i> _{OXA-66}	118 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-3-3) 2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	Pubmlst, Pasteur MLST, paper II
24	K61-46	Norway (exported from Pakistan)/2009	MDR, $bla_{OXA-23-like}$ carbapenem- R, int. clone II, bla_{OXA-66}	137 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-12-3) 2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	Pubmlst, Pasteur MLST, paper II

Table S3. Geographically and genotypically divergent 35 isolates selected for analyzing the global epidemiology of *A. baumannii*

No.	Isolate	Country and year of isolation ^a	Comment ^b	Sequence type ^c	Reference ^d
25	K12-21	Norway (exported from Greece)/2004	MDR, $bla_{OXA-58-like}$ carbapenem- R, int. clone II, bla_{OXA-66}	189 ^B (1-12-3-2-2-4-3) 45 ^P (2-6-2-2-2-2)	Pubmlst, Pasteur MLST, paper II
26	K44-35	Norway (exported from Thailand)/2007	MDR, $bla_{OXA-23-like}$ carbapenem- R, int. clone II, bla_{OXA-66}	$190^{B} (1-3-3-2-2-52-3) 2^{P} (2-2-2-2-2-2-2)$	Pubmlst, Pasteur MLST, paper II
27	K47-42	Norway (exported from China)/2007	MDR, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-23-like} carbapenem- R, <i>armA</i> , int. clone II; <i>bla</i> _{OXA-66}	191 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-94-3) 2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	Pubmlst, Pasteur MLST, paper II
28	K48-42	Norway (exported from India)/2008	MDR, $bla_{OXA-23-like}$ carbapenem- R, int. clone I, bla_{OXA-69}	192 ^B (10-53-4-11-4-95-5) 1 ^P (1-1-1-1-5-1-1)	Pubmlst, Pasteur MLST, paper II
29	K55-13	Norway (exported from Cyprus)/2009	MDR, $bla_{OXA-24-like}$ carbapenem- R, int. clone II, bla_{OXA-66}	193 ^B (1-35-3-2-2-3-3) 2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	Pubmlst, Pasteur MLST, paper II
30	K55-61	Norway (exported from India)/2009	MDR, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-23-like} carbapenem- R, SG9, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-69}	194 ^B (1-15-4-11-4-58-4) 94 ^P (1-2-2-1-5-1-1)	Pubmlst, Pasteur MLST, paper II
31	K58-15	Norway (exported from Thailand)/2009	MDR, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-23-like} carbapenem- R, <i>armA</i> , int. clone II, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-66}	195 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-96-3) 2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2-2)	Pubmlst, Pasteur MLST, paper II
32	Ab2941	Brazil/2007	$bla_{OXA-23-like}$ carbapenem-R, int. clone II, bla_{OXA-66}	131 ^B (1-15-60-10-28-56-32) 79 ^P (26-2-2-2-29-4-5)	Pubmlst, [130]
33	Ab3222	Brazil/2007	<i>bla</i> _{OXA-23-like} carbapenem-R, SG4, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-132}	133 ^B (12-17-72-1-29-67-39) 15 ^P (6-6-8-2-3-5-4)	Pubmlst, [130]
34	HGSA56	Portugal/2007-08	$bla_{OXA-23-like}$ carbapenem-R, int. clone II, bla_{OXA-66}	92 ^B (1-3-3-2-2-7-3) 2 ^P (2-2-2-2-2-2)	[134]
35	HGSAI40	Portugal/2008	<i>bla</i> _{OXA-58-like} carbapenem-R, SG4, <i>bla</i> _{OXA-132}	103 ^B (12-17-12-1-29-3-39) 15 ^P (6-6-8-2-3-5-4)	[134]

Table S3. Geographically and genotypically divergent 35 isolates selected for analyzing the global epidemiology of A. baumannii (cont.)

^aUAE, the United Arab Emirates. ^bRef., reference; Int., international; S, susceptible; R, resistant; MDR, multidrug resistant; SG, sequence group. ^cST^B, sequence type according to Bartual's scheme; ST^P, sequence type according to Pasteur Institute's scheme. ^dPubmlst, http://pubmlst.org/abaumannii/; Pasteur MLST, http://www.pasteur.fr/recherche/genopole/PF8/mlst/.

Paper I

Karah, N., B. Haldorsen, K. Hegstad, G. S. Simonsen, A. Sundsfjord, Ø. Samuelsen, and the Norwegian Study Group on *Acinetobacter*. 2011. Species identification and molecular characterization of *Acinetobacter* spp. blood culture isolates from Norway. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. **66**:738-744.

Paper II

Karah, N., B. Haldorsen, N. O. Hermansen, Y. Tveten, E. Ragnhildstveit, D. H. Skutlaberg, S. Tofteland, A. Sundsfjord, and Ø. Samuelsen. 2011. Emergence of OXA carbapenemase- and 16S rRNA methylase-producing international clones of *Acinetobacter baumannii* in Norway. J. Med. Microbiol. **60**:515-521.

Paper III

Karah, N., C. G. Giske, A. Sundsfjord, and Ø. Samuelsen. 2011. A diversity of OXAcarbapenemases and class 1 integrons among carbapenem-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii* clinical isolates from Sweden belonging to different international clonal lineages. Submitted to Microbial Drug Resistance.

Paper IV

Karah, N., R. Smyth, B. Haldorsen, G. S. Simonsen, A. Sundsfjord, and Ø. Samuelsen. 2011. Performance of VITEK 2, BD Phoenix, and MALDI-TOF MS systems for species identification of *Acinetobacter* blood culture isolates. Manuscript ready for submission.







ISBN 978-82-7589-318-3